
1 | P a g e 

    PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, December 5, 2022 
6:00 PM 

East Dundee Police Station, 2nd Floor Meeting Room 
115 E. 3rd Street, East Dundee, IL 60118 

1. Call to Order

2. Roll Call – Trustee Brittin

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Public Comment
Please keep comments to 5 minutes or less

5. Public Hearing
a. For a Variance request from Section 156.04(A)(3)(b) requiring the total size, 

including the base of a free-standing sign shall not exceed nine feet in height, seven 
feet in width, nor 16 inches in thickness at 250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 
PIN 03-25-126-008 in the M-1 Manufacturing District; and

b. For a Variance request from Section 156.04(A)(3)(d) requiring that the sign shall be 
located such that the nearest edge shall be set back a minimum of 15 feet from the 
frontage property line at 250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 PIN 
03-25-126-008 in the M-1 Manufacturing District

6. Consent Agenda
a. Motion to Approve the Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes Dated October 17, 

2022
b. Motion to Approve a Resolution Establishing the Regular Meeting Dates and 

Committee of the Whole Meeting Dates for the Board of Trustees and Establishing 
the Planning and Zoning and Historic Commission Meeting Dates for the Village of 
East Dundee for the Calendar Year 2023

7. Other Agenda Items
a. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting Variations from Section 156.04(A)(3)(b) 

and Section 156.04(A)(3)(d) for Height, Width, Thickness and a Setback Location at 
250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 (PIN 03-25-126-008) in the M-1



2 | P a g e 

Manufacturing District  
b. Indoor Mall Presentation and Discussion
c. Discussion of a proposal from Hitchcock Design Group for the Development of a

Riverfront Master Plan for the Entire Riverfront Corridor from the North Border to
the South Border within East Dundee

d. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting a Special Use Permit for Outside Vehicle
and Equipment Parking and Storage for the Property Located at 590 Healy Road, East
Dundee, IL, 60118, PIN 01-30-300-009-0000 in the M-1 Manufacturing District

e. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting Variations from Sections 157.147(B)(2),
157.149(B), and 157.149(D) Requiring Off-Street Parking Paving and Required
Lighting Illumination Located at 590 Healy Road, East Dundee, IL, 60118, PIN 01-
30-300-009-0000 in the M-1 Manufacturing District

f. Motion to Approve Ordinances Approving the Issuance of TIF Notes to Pal Land, 
LLC for Route 25 TIF District (TIF Note No. 10 – $1,624,932.23) and Christina 
Drive TIF District (TIF Note No. 8 – $86,859.87)

g. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Authorizing the Purchase of 7 Maiden Lane, East 
Dundee, IL 60118, in the Downtown Tax Increment Financing District

h. Police Pension Funding Presentation and Discussion

8. Financial Reports
a. Warrants List $945,131.46

b. Warrants List $516,095.65

9. Village President and Board Reports

10. Staff Reports

11. Executive Session
Closed to the public and media under the provisions of the Illinois Open Meetings Act,
5ILCS, 120/2, (c)(21) Discussion of Minutes, (c)(11) Pending Litigation, (c)(1) Personnel
and Legal Counsel, (c)(5) Acquisition of Property, (c)(6) Sale of Property, (c)(3)
Appointments and (c)(2) Collective Negotiating Matters.

12. Adjournment



Regular Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Kane County, Illinois 
   October 17, 2022 

1 
CALL TO ORDER 
President Lynam calls to order the Village of East Dundee Regular Village Board Meeting at 6:00 p.m.    
  
ROLL CALL: 
Trustees Kunze, Mahony, Treiber, Saviano, Sauder and President Lynam. Trustee Brittin was absent. 
 
Also in attendance: Village Administrator Erika Storlie, Director of Public Works Phil Cotter, Building 
Inspector Chris Ranieri, Management Analyst Franco Bottalico, Village Engineer Joe Heinz, Attorney Lance 
Malina and Clerk Katherine Diehl. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Recited 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  
Cameron Brunner – Chair of the Planning and Zoning & Historic Commission (PZHC) 
Brunner addressed the Board with an overview of how the PZHC meeting went regarding the items being 
heard on tonight’s agenda. Brunner also mentioned commissioner missed attendance concerns he has.    
 
CONSENT AGENDA:   
 

a. Motion to Approve the Special Village Board Meeting Minutes Dated August 22, 2022 
b. Motion to Approve Authorization to Release the Travelers Casualty and Surety Company 

of American Bond Number 107205028 in the Amount of $113,019.45 
 
Motion to approve the consent agenda by Mahony/Saviano. 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 
 
OTHER AGENDA ITEMS:  
 

a. Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting Variations for Required Loading Berths and 
Landscape Requirements for 1011 E. Main Street PIN 03-25-176-0046 in the M-1 
Manufacturing District Located in East Dundee 

 
Motion to Approve an Ordinance Granting Variations for Required Loading Berths and Landscape 
Requirements for 1011 E. Main Street PIN 03-25-176-0046 in the M-1 Manufacturing District Located in 
East Dundee by Kunze/Mahony. 
 
Discussion: 
Trustee Sauder questioned if the requirement for 2 loading berths should be reassessed and changed in the 
ordinance. He said that a hardship needs to be proven to grant a variance. Trustee Mahony added that another 
way to approach this is whether it is the type of building or class of business that is accepting freight 
shipments most of the time. Administrator Storlie agreed with Trustee Sauder’s suggestion to have staff work 
with the Planning and Zoning Commission to review various requirements and bring any recommendations 
back to the Village Board.   
 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 
 

b. Motion to Approve an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) between the Village of East 
Dundee and Dundee Township for a Loan to Install a Fence Surrounding the Township 
Cemetery on RT 25 & RT 72 



Regular Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Kane County, Illinois 
   October 17, 2022 

2 
Motion to Approve an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) between the Village of East Dundee and Dundee 
Township for a Loan to Install a Fence Surrounding the Township Cemetery on RT 25 & RT 72 by 
Mahony/Sauder. 
 
Discussion: 
Administrator Storlie explained that the Village has available funds that are not being utilized and this loan to 
the Township would save taxpayers money. She explained that if/when the township receives the State grant, 
any remaining payments to the Village would be paid in full upon receipt of the grant money. And if the 
grant is not received, the Township will pay the Village according to the agreed upon schedule.   
 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 
 

c. Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Village Administrator to Execute an 
Agreement with Donegal Services to Demolish the Village-Owned and Vacant Water 
Pumping Station Located on Three Parcels at 406 and 408 Barrington Avenue (PINs: 03-
23-312-005, 03-23-312-007, and 03-23-312-009) in the Amount Of $74,325  
 

Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Village Administrator to Execute an Agreement with 
Donegal Services to Demolish the Village-Owned and Vacant Water Pumping Station Located on Three 
Parcels at 406 and 408 Barrington Avenue (PINs: 03-23-312-005, 03-23-312-007, and 03-23-312-009) in the 
Amount Of $74,325 by Kunze/Treiber. 
 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 
 

d. Discuss Property Standards within the Village and Provide Feedback Regarding a 
Proposal from B&F Services to Provide Code Enforcement Services for the Village 

 
Administrator Storlie explained that staff has been discussing the possibility of enforcing some additional 
code issues. After the Village Board discussed various property standards it was decided to offer a survey to 
the residents to gather their thoughts on property standards within the Village and code enforcement for such. 
Trustee Saviano asked if a residential façade improvement program can be implemented again to help with 
repairs. Administrator Storlie responded that she sees no reason why it could not be.   
 

e. Discussion of a Proposed Ordinance Amending Chapter 116.04 (A) (6) of the Village of 
East Dundee Village Code to add a Requirement of Bi-annual Manager Training for all 
Liquor License Holders  
 

Trustee Kunze commented that he likes this proactive approach. Trustee Sauder stated that he likes that this 
builds a relationship and gets a dialogue going with the Police Department. Trustee Mahony stated that 
refreshers and reminders are a good thing and building a relationship is even better. There was consensus to 
move forward with the manager training requirement.  
 

f. Motion to Authorize the Village Administrator to Execute a Contract with Plote Homes in 
the Amount of $120,397.59 for the Replacement of all Windows in the Village Hall and 
Other Exterior Improvements 
 

Motion to Authorize the Village Administrator to Execute a Contract with Plote Homes in the Amount of 
$120,397.59 for the Replacement of all Windows in the Village Hall and Other Exterior Improvements by 
Mahony/Saviano. 



Regular Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Kane County, Illinois 
   October 17, 2022 

3 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 
 

g. Motion to Authorize a Future Purchase of a 2025 International HV607 Dump Truck, with 
a Dump Body and Accessory Equipment, from Rush Truck Center through the State of 
Illinois’ Joint Purchasing Program and a Sourcewell Contract in the Amount of 
$216,345.00 for Delivery in a Subsequent Fiscal Year 
 

Motion to Authorize a Future Purchase of a 2025 International HV607 Dump Truck, with a Dump Body and 
Accessory Equipment, from Rush Truck Center through the State of Illinois’ Joint Purchasing Program and a 
Sourcewell Contract in the Amount of $216,345.00 for Delivery in a Subsequent Fiscal Year by 
Kunze/Sauder. 
 
Discussion: 
Public Works Director Cotter advised that there are currently 3 heavy duty dump trucks in the fleet. It is 
being proposed to reduce the number of heavy-duty dump trucks in the fleet from three to two and downsize 
one heavy-duty dump truck to a medium-duty dump truck. He explained that it is also being proposed to 
order/purchase one new heavy-duty dump truck and purchase a medium-duty dump truck in a subsequent 
fiscal year. He explained that the truck manufacturer indicated that the manufacturing of a complete truck is 
about 2 years out.  
 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 

 
h. Motion to Approve the Purchase of a 2023 Caterpillar Skid Steer Loader (Model 262D3) 

with a Grapple Bucket Attachment from Altorfer CAT through a Sourcewell Contract in 
the Amount of $67,640 
 

Motion to Approve the Purchase of a 2023 Caterpillar Skid Steer Loader (Model 262D3) with a Grapple 
Bucket Attachment from Altorfer CAT through a Sourcewell Contract in the Amount of $67,640 by 
Kunze/Saviano. 
 
Discussion: 
Trustee Kunze stated that this equipment looks a lot bigger than what it is replacing. He asked if this will be 
too big to use on the bike path. Public Works Director Cotter advised that it would not be too big. He advised 
that this was included in the approved budget.  
 
Roll:  Ayes – 5 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber and Sauder. Nays – 0.  Absent – 1 – Trustee 
Brittin. Motion carries. 
 
FINANCIAL REPORTS:    
 

A. Warrants List #1 $772,512.81 
B. Warrants List #2 $472,902.02 

 
REPORTS: VILLAGE PRESIDENT and BOARD 
 
Lynam: President Lynam thanked staff for their efforts with the Oktoberfest event. He said it was well run.  
Brittin:  None 
Kunze:    None 



Regular Village Board Meeting 
Village of East Dundee 

Kane County, Illinois 
   October 17, 2022 

4 
Mahony:   Asked if the Village qualifies for the state program regarding the Gypsy Moth. She also asked if 
the Village would have funds set aside in the event it does not qualify for the state program. She asked if 
staff knows if the neighboring towns have put traps out as well. Public Works Director Cotter stated that he 
will have discussions with the contact at the state level on this. Next Trustee Mahony asked how Briana’s 
Pancake House is coming along. Building Inspector Ranieri advised that the health department was 
scheduled to be at the location today. Next, she requested that a future traffic study conversation be planned 
for Water Street and Bonnie Dundee Road. Lastly, she advised that the Village of East Dundee will be 
participating in the first annual holiday lights parade.  
Sauder:   Asked if clear instructions for the leaf pick up program can be announced to the residents. He also 
advised that Pedestrian Crossing signs are now up in the downtown area. He asked if it made sense to add 
another one in front of DC Cobbs or possibly even a 3-way stop sign. Engineer Heinze stated that there is a 
process and certain criteria that must be met to warrant a stop sign. Lastly, Sauder advised that there have 
been complaints on Michigan Street and Hill Street that when vehicles are parked on both sides of the road, it 
is near impossible to maneuver larger vehicles out of driveways. He stated that these streets appear to be 
narrower than most. He asked if NO PARKING could be implemented on one side of the street. He said this 
is especially difficult when snow builds up. 
Saviano:  None 
Treiber:  None 
 
REPORTS:  STAFF 
 
Village Administrator:  Administrator Storlie advised that the traffic signal at Christina Drive should be up 
and running on November 4.   
Village Attorney:   None  
Police Chief:   None  
Public Works Director:  None 
Building Inspector:  None 
Finance Director:  None 
Village Engineer:  Heinz reported that Arrow is in town working on the Bonnie Dundee Road project. He 
also advised that Schroeder will begin work on Monday on the 4th Street road project.  
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:  Yes 
 
Motion to adjourn the Regular Village Board meeting to Executive Session at 7:43 p.m. for (c)(5) 
Acquisition of Property by Kunze/Mahony. 
Roll:  Ayes – 6 – Trustees Mahony, Kunze, Saviano, Treiber, Sauder and President Lynam. Nays – 0.  
Absent – 1 – Trustee Brittin. Motion carries. Meeting adjourns. 
 
The Village Board will not be taking any action in Executive Session and will therefore, not be returning to 
the Regular Board Meeting. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Katherine Diehl 
      By:  __________________________________  
          Village President, Jeffrey Lynam 
Attest: __________________________________ 
 Village Clerk, Katherine Diehl 



Memorandum 

  
To:     Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:    Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 

Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk 
   
Subject:  2023 Meeting Dates  
 
Date:     December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 

 
Action Requested:    
Staff recommends Village Board approval of a resolution setting the 2023 meeting dates for the 

Village Board, Committee of the Whole and the Planning, Zoning and Historic Commission. 

 
Summary: 
The proposed Village Board meeting dates for 2023 are as follows: 

January 16, 2023 
February 6, 2023 
February 20, 2023 
March 6, 2023 
March 20, 2023 
April 3, 2023 
April 17, 2023 
May 1, 2023 
May 15, 2023 
June 5, 2023 
June 19, 2023 

July 3, 2023 
July 17, 2023 
August 7, 2023 
August 21, 2023 
September 18, 2023 
October 2, 2023 
October 16, 2023 
November 6, 2023 
November 20, 2023 
December 4, 2023 
December 18, 2023 

 

These dates follow the 1st & 3rd Monday of the month convention.  January 2nd has been removed 

as Village office are closed for the observed holiday for New Year’s Day, which falls on the Sunday 

prior.  September 4th has also been removed as it falls on Labor Day. 

 

Staff requests additional discussion of January 16, June 19 and July 3, 2023.  January 16th is Martin 

Luther King, Jr Day and June 19th  is  Juneteenth, both of which are  federal and state holidays.  

Additionally,  July 3rd  falls  the day before  the Village holiday of  July 4th, and many  staff have 

already requested the day off. 

 



Staff suggests in lieu of meting on January 16th that the meeting would instead be held on January 

23rd (the following Monday). 

 
Attachments: 
Resolution 



RESOLUTION NUMBER _____-22 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE REGULAR MEETING 
DATES AND COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING DATES 

FOR THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND ESTABLISHING THE 
PLANNING ZONING AND HISTORIC COMMISSION MEETING 

DATES FOR THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE  FOR THE 
CALENDAR YEAR 2023

WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee is a home rule unit of local government under and 

pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, has the authority to 

exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including but 

not limited to the power to regulate for the protection of the public health, safety, morals, and welfare; 

and 

WHEREAS, it is deemed necessary and desirable for the Village of East Dundee to adopt and 

approve a schedule of dates, times and places for regular meetings of the Village of East Dundee 

Board of Trustees and Committee of the Whole Meetings and for the Planning and Zoning and the 

Historic Commission in 2023 for the Village of East Dundee Board of Trustees.    

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK AND KANE COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section One.  All regular Village Board and Committee of the Whole Meetings of 

the President and Board of Trustees and all Planning Zoning and Historic Commission Meetings of 

the Planning and Zoning Commission will be held at the Police Department 2nd floor meeting 

room, 115 E. 3rd Street, East Dundee, Illinois. 

Section Two.  All regular meetings of the Village of East Dundee Board of Trustees, 

Committee of the Whole and Planning and Zoning and Historic Commission Meetings will be 

scheduled to start at 6:00 p.m. 

Section Three.  The dates for such regular meetings of the Village of East Dundee Board of 

Trustees shall be as follows: 

January 16, 2023 
February 6, 2023 
February 20, 2023 



March 6, 2023 
March 20, 2023 
April 3, 2023 
April 17, 2023 
May 1, 2023 
May 15, 2023 
June 5, 2023 
June 19, 2023 
July 3, 2023 
July 17, 2023 

August 7, 2023 
August 21, 2023 

September 18, 2023 
October 2, 2023 
October 16, 2023 
November 6, 2023 

November 20, 2023 
December 4, 2023 

December 18, 2023 

Section Four.   The dates for such Committee of the Whole meetings of the Village of East 

Dundee Board of Trustees shall be as follows: 

January 9, 2023 
February 13, 2023 
March 13, 2023 
April 10, 2023 
May 8, 2023 
June 12, 2023 
July 10, 2023 

August 14, 2023 
September 11, 2023 

October 9, 2023 
November 13, 2023 
December 11, 2023 

Section Five.  The dates for such Planning Zoning and Historic Commission meetings of 

the Village of East Dundee Planning and Zoning Commission shall be as follows: 

January 5, 2023 
February 2, 2023 
March 2, 2023 
April 6, 2023 
May 4, 2023 
June 1, 2023 
July 6, 2023 

August 3, 2023 



September 7, 2023 
October 5, 2023 

November 2, 2023 
December 7, 2023 

 

Section Six.  The Village Board of Trustees and the Planning and Zoning Commission may, 

from time to time, change by motion the date, time and place of any of its regular meetings in 2023 as 

established in this Resolution. 

 

Section Seven.  Severability.  If any section, paragraph or provision of this resolution shall be 

held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 

paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this resolution. 

 

Section Eight.  Repeal.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this Resolution shall 

for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such 

section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this 

Resolution. 

Section Nine.  Publication.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect forthwith upon its 

adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 

 

 

Adopted this _______ day of _____________, 2022, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 
 
AYES:___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
NAYES:_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT:________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Approved by me this _______ day of _____________, 2022. 
 

________________________________________ 
JEFFREY LYNAM, President 
 
 

Published in pamphlet form this _______ day of ___________, 2022, under the authority of the 
President and Board of Trustees. 
 
 



ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
KATHERINE DIEHL, Village Clerk 
 
Recorded in the Village Records on _________________, 2022. 



Memorandum 

  
To:     Village President and Board of Trustees  
 

From:    Franco Bottalico, Management Analyst 
   

Subject:  250 Patricia Lane Sign Variance Request and Public Hearing 
 

Date:     December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 

 
Action Requested:    
Staff  recommends  Village  Board  approval  of  an  ordinance  granting  variations  from  Section 

156.04(A)(3)(b) and Section 156.04(A)(3)(d) for height, width, thickness and a setback  location 

located  at  250  Patricia  Lane,  East  Dundee,  IL  60118  (PIN  03‐25‐126‐008)  in  the  M‐1 

Manufacturing District. 

 
Summary: 
Staff has  received a  sign variance  request  from Pal 250 LLC  (“Petitioner”)  for a development 
identification sign to be built in front of 250 Patricia Lane (“Property”). This is a similar style and 
size of development identification sign and variance request that the village board granted for 
the Petitioner at its 200 Christina Drive property at the March 18, 2019 village board meeting. 
Per Section 156, all sign variance  requests must hold a public hearing by  the village board of 
trustees, as such, this particular request did not pass through the Planning and Zoning & Historic 
Commission.  
 
Variation 1 
The Petitioner is seeking a variance from Section 156.04(A)(3)(b) which states the following: The 
total size,  including the base of a free‐standing sign shall not exceed nine feet  in height, seven 
feet in width, nor 16 inches in thickness.   
 
Petitioner is asking to build a sign that is 10.51 feet in height, 7 feet in width, and 12 inches in 
thickness at the Property.  There is a 1.51‐foot height variation to this request, or an 11% variance 
request. Per Section 156.05(B)(3)(b), “If the variance is within 15% of the numerical requirements 
of this chapter, an administrative variance may be requested. This variance hearing is held by the 
Building  Inspector  and  a  recommendation  will  be  forwarded  to  the  Village  Board  for  final 
approval.”  Staff is recommending village board approval of this variance request.  
 
Variation 2 
The Petitioner is seeking a variance from Section 156.04(A)(3)(d) which states the following: The 
sign shall be located such that the nearest edge shall be set back a minimum of 15 feet from the 
frontage property line.   
 



Petitioner is asking to build the sign up to the edge of the frontage property line on the Property 
instead of the minimum 15‐foot set back from the front property line. 
 
Staff is recommending village board approval of this variance request to remain consistent with 
200 Christina Drive. 
 
Attachment(s): 
Findings of Fact Variance 1 
Findings of Fact Variance 2 
Ordinance 
Published Public Notice 
Redacted Application 



 
Village Board of Trustees Meeting 

 
Findings of Fact – Variance 1 

Property Location:   250 Patricia Lane: PIN 03-25-126-008 
 
Hearing Date: December 5, 2022 

 
Variance 
Requested: A variance request from Section 156.04(A)(3)(b) requiring the total size, including the 

base of a free standing sign shall not exceed nine feet in height, seven feet in width, 
nor 16 inches in thickness at 250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 PIN 03-25-126-
008 in the M-1 Manufacturing District 

 
Staff has determined the below findings of fact for the village board’s consideration and review: 

 
1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zoning district; Circle one; Yes/No/Not Applicable 
(N.A.), Explain: 
Yes 
 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; Yes/No/N.A.  
No 
 

3. The variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality; Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 

 
4. The particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific 

property involved would bring a particular hardship upon the owner as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience if the regulations were strictly enforced; Yes/No/N.A. 
No 
 

5. The conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoning classification.  
No 
 

6. The purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property; Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 

 



7. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property; Yes/No/N.A. 
No 

 
8. The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; 
Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 
 

9. The proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent 
property or substantially increase the danger of fire or otherwise endanger the public 
safety or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood; 
Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 

 
Due to the usual nature of the operation of special uses that may give rise to unique problems with 
respect to their impact upon neighboring property or public facilities, the Village may stipulate 
conditions and restrictions upon the establishment, location, construction, maintenance, and 
operation of the use as deemed necessary for the protection of the public interest. In addition, the 
village board may require such conditions and restrictions by a variation(s) as may be necessary to 
comply with the standards set forth in the Village Code or reduce or minimize the injurious effect of 
the variation(s) upon the other property in the neighborhood. If the village board were to consider 
approval of this special use and variances, Village staff would recommend the following minimum 
condition: 
 
Based on the information contained in the application and the testimony and evidence presented at 
the public hearing, the village board of trustees voted on the approval of these findings of fact and 
the requested variance resulting in the following vote:  
 
____ ayes ____ nays ____ absent ____ abstain 
 
Date:              
           
 
Signature:           

Village President 
 



 

Village Board of Trustees Meeting 
 

Findings of Fact – Variance 2 

Property Location:    250 Patricia Lane:  PIN 03‐25‐126‐008 
 
Hearing Date:  December 5, 2022 
 

Variance  
Requested:  A variance request from Section 156.04(A)(3)(d) requiring that the sign shall be 

located such that the nearest edge shall be set back a minimum of 15 feet from the 
frontage property line at 250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 PIN 03‐25‐126‐008 
in the M‐1 Manufacturing District 

 
Staff has determined the below findings of fact for the village board’s consideration and review: 
 

1. The property  in question cannot yield a reasonable return  if permitted to be used only under the 
conditions  allowed  by  the  regulations  in  that  zoning  district;  Circle  one;  Yes/No/Not  Applicable 
(N.A.), Explain: 

Yes 
 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; Yes/No/N.A.  
No 
 

3. The variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality; Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 

 
4. The  particular  physical  surroundings,  shape  or  topographical  conditions  of  the  specific 

property involved would bring a particular hardship upon the owner as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience if the regulations were strictly enforced; Yes/No/N.A. 
No 
 

5. The  conditions  upon which  the  petition  for  variation  is  based would  not  be  applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoning classification.  
No 
 

6. The purpose of the variation  is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property; Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 

 



7. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property; Yes/No/N.A. 
No 

 
8. The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or  injurious to 

other  property  or  improvements  in  the  neighborhood  in which  the  property  is  located; 
Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 
 

9. The  proposed  variation will  not  impair  an  adequate  supply  of  light  and  air  to  adjacent 
property  or  substantially  increase  the  danger  of  fire  or  otherwise  endanger  the  public 
safety  or  substantially  diminish  or  impair  property  values  within  the  neighborhood; 
Yes/No/N.A. 
Yes 

 
Due to the usual nature of the operation of special uses that may give rise to unique problems with 
respect to their impact upon neighboring property or public facilities, the Village may stipulate 
conditions and restrictions upon the establishment, location, construction, maintenance, and 
operation of the use as deemed necessary for the protection of the public interest. In addition, the 
village board may require such conditions and restrictions by a variation(s) as may be necessary to 
comply with the standards set forth in the Village Code or reduce or minimize the injurious effect of 
the variation(s) upon the other property in the neighborhood. If the village board were to consider 
approval of this special use and variances, Village staff would recommend the following minimum 
condition: 
 
Based on the information contained in the application and the testimony and evidence presented at 
the public hearing, the village board of trustees voted on the approval of these findings of fact and 
the requested variance resulting in the following vote:  
 
____ ayes ____ nays ____ absent ____ abstain 
 
Date:                         
           
 
Signature:                    

Village President 
 



ORDINANCE NUMBER 22 - __ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK  
AND KANE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM SECTION 

156.04(A)(3)(b) AND SECTION 156.04(A)(3)(d) FOR HEIGHT, WIDTH, THICKNESS 
AND A SETBACK LOCATION LOCATED AT PATRICIA LANE, EAST DUNDEE, IL 

60118 (PIN 03-25-126-008) IN THE M-1 MANUFACTURING DISTRICT  
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local 
government pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 
and has the authority to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; and b d 

 
WHEREAS, PAL 250, LLC (“Applicant”) is the owner of the property with PIN 03-

25-126-008 located in East Dundee, Illinois, legally described in Section 2 below (“Subject 
Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Applicant filed an application with the Village seeking variations 

from the Signs Chapter of the East Dundee Village Code as described in the application; 
and 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 156.05 of the Sign Ordinance, and the Village’s 
home rule authority, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village (collectively the 
“Corporate Authorities”) may provide for and allow variances to the requirements of the 
Sign Ordinance when there are practical difficulties or a particular hardship with the strict 
compliance with the Sign Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village Board of trustees convened and held a public hearing on 

December 5, 2022 to consider the Application pursuant to the variances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees reviewed the standards set forth in 

Section 157.207(C) of the Zoning Ordinance for variations and recommended approval 
of the Application, and related findings of fact; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant filed an application with the Village seeking a variation 
from Sections 156.04(A)(3)(b) and 156.04(A)(3)(d); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities find it to be in the best interests of the health, 
safety and welfare of its residents to approve the requested variations; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Village President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of East Dundee, Cook and Kane Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 

 SECTION 1: Incorporation. That each Whereas paragraph above is incorporated 
by reference into this Section 1 and made a part hereof as material and operative 
provisions of this Ordinance. 



 

 SECTION 2: Variations. That the Corporate Authorities hereby grant the 
Application for the Subject Property, legally described as: 
 
PIN 03-25-126-008 
 
LOT 5 IN PATRICIA LANE RESUBDIVISION, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOT 4 IN 
LOT IN TERRA BUSINESS PARK RESUBDIVISION, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF 
PART OF SECTION 24 AND 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID PATRICIA LANE 
RESUBDIVISION, RECORDED JULY 28TH, 2021 AS DOCUMENT 2021K057700, IN 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
Variation 1 
A variation from Section 156.04(A)(3)(b), of the Signs Chapter of the East Dundee 
Village Code requiring the total size, including the base of a free standing sign shall 
not exceed nine feet in height, seven feet in width, nor 16 inches in thickness. The 
variation granted in this Ordinance is specific to the Project as proposed in the 
Application and shall not apply to any other development or sign of the Subject 
Property. The variation will allow development identification sign to be 10.51 feet 
in height. 

 
Variation 2 
A variation from Section 156.04(A)(3)(d), of the Signs Chapter of the East Dundee 
Village Code requiring the sign shall be located such that the nearest edge shall 
be set back a minimum of 15 feet from the frontage property line. The variation 
granted in this Ordinance is specific to the Project as proposed in the Application 
and shall not apply to any other development or sign of the Subject Property.  The 
variation will allow the development identification sign to be located up to the edge 
of the frontage property line at the Subject Property. 

 
SECTION 3: Severability. That if any Section, paragraph or provision of this 

Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4:  Repeal. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof in 
conflict herewith shall be and the same are hereby repealed. 

 SECTION 5: Effect. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith 
upon its adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  

 

PASSED this 5th day of December 2022 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  

 



AYES:________________________________________________________________  

NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  

ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 

 

 APPROVED by me this 5th day of December 2022. 

 

     ________________________________________  

     Jeffrey Lynam, Village President  

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________  

Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  

 

Published in pamphlet form this 5th day of December 2022, under the authority of the 
Village President and Board of Trustees.  

Recorded in the Village records on December ___, 2022. 

The Applicant acknowledges hereby the reasonableness of the above and foregoing 
terms and conditions in the Ordinance, and hereby accepts the same. 

By: _________________________   

                      Applicant 

 

Date: December __, 2022 

 
 

 



State of Illinois   ) 
Counties of Kane and Cook  ) SS 
Village of East Dundee  ) 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Village Board of the Village of East Dundee will hold a public 
hearing on December 5, 2022 at 6:00 P.M. at the East Dundee Police Station 2nd Floor Meeting 
Room, 115 E. 3rd Street, East Dundee, Illinois, to consider the following requests due to the 
November 21, 2022 cancelled meeting: 
 

1. A variance request from Section 156.04(A)(3)(b) requiring the total size, including the 
base of a free standing sign shall not exceed nine feet in height, seven feet in width, nor 
16 inches in thickness at 250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 PIN 03-25-126-008 in 
the M-1 Manufacturing District; and 
 

2. A variance request from Section 156.04(A)(3)(d) requiring that the sign shall be located 
such that the nearest edge shall be set back a minimum of 15 feet from the frontage 
property line at 250 Patricia Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118 PIN 03-25-126-008 in the M-1 
Manufacturing District 

 
Property Legal Description: 
LOT 5 IN PATRICIA LANE RESUBDIVISION, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOT 4 IN 
LOT IN TERRA BUSINESS PARK RESUBDIVISION, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF 
PART OF SECTION 24 AND 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID PATRICIA LANE 
RESUBDIVISION, RECORDED JULY 28TH, 2021 AS DOCUMENT 2021K057700, IN KANE 
COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
All interested persons will be given an opportunity to be heard. Any questions regarding this public 
hearing process may be directed to Franco Bottalico, Management Analyst, 120 Barrington 
Avenue, East Dundee, Illinois, 60118 via email at FBottalico@eastdundee.net, or by phone at 847-
426-2822 extension 7102. 





















Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject: Indoor Mall Concept Discussion  
 
Date:   December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends village board discussion of an indoor mall concept proposed to be located at 
the River Valley Square Shopping Center at 541 Dundee Ave, East Dundee, IL 60118 (the former 
Dominick’s grocery store). 
 
Summary: 
Rosa & Ezequiel Leal and their business partner Jose Versteguie have operated a similar indoor 
mall called Elgin Mall Corp. located at 308 S. McLean Blvd in Elgin, IL for the past 20 years. They 
are interested in operating a similar indoor mall in East Dundee.  The existing Elgin location is 
being redeveloped and the vendors are seeking a new location to move to.  
 
The location proposed has been vacant for many years.  This use would require a special use 
permit, however prior to investing more capital into the process, the operators would first like 
an opportunity to present to the board to gain feedback about the potential for a successful 
application. 
 
Attachments: 
Indoor Mall Concept Presentation  
River Valley Shopping Center Marketing Brochure 
 



Elgin Mall Corp.

308 S. McLean Blvd. Elgin, IL



Company Contacts

Rosa Leal
Co-Owner 
Lealbest@yahoo.com
(847) 638-9594

Ezequiel Leal
Co-Owner 
Leal_ezequiel@yahoo.com
(847) 927-9594

Jose Manuel 
Verastegui
Co-Owner 
Jose.m.verastegui@gmail.com
(847) 915-9690

Ike Kim 
Manager 
Elginmallcorp@gmail.com
(224) 227-6912

mailto:Jose.m.verastegui@gmail.com
mailto:Jose.m.verastegui@gmail.com


Who We Are
We are a diversified and multicultural indoor 

shopping center.  A one stop shop approach 

offering a wide array of national and 

international products and services.

❖ Currently 87 Established Businesses 

➢ State and city registered

➢ Independently owned 

➢ Established for 20 yrs+

➢ Loyal clientele 



Business varieties

Dining

Photography



What We Offer
Unique Experience of Shopping, Dining and 
Enjoyment.

❖ Friendly and welcoming atmosphere   
❖ Attract people: City, State, and Nationwide
❖ Unique decor styles specific to store type 
❖ Well maintained

Reputable corporation with a good client and 
tenant base

❖ COMBINED ANNUAL SALES est. 
$12,500,000 

❖ High foot traffic (est. 1,000 daily)



Our Vision What we are looking to do:

❖ Create a successful business 

❖ Attract more businesses and jobs

❖ Generate revenue

❖ Offer a different shopping experience

❖ Provide good service and quality products 



Plaza Fiesta-Georgia 



Plaza Fiesta-Georgia 



Mission Form an establishment where we can: 

❖ Grow

❖ Operate

❖ Empower

❖ Improve

❖ Succeed



CONCLUSION Elgin Mall Corp commitment:

❖ Promote 

❖ Follow guidelines 

❖ Community involvement

   

  



Proposed East Dundee floor plan 











Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
   

From:  Phil Cotter, Director of Public Works 
   

Subject: Discussion of a Proposal for the Development of a Riverfront Master Plan 
 

Date:   December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff requests Village Board discussion of a proposal from Hitchcock Design Group for the 
development of a Riverfront Master Plan for the entire riverfront corridor from the north 
border to the south border within East Dundee.      
 
Funding Source: 
The FY 2023 Budget appropriates $50,000 in the Capital Projects Fund (Account No. 32-31-
6090) for Fox River beautification. However, formal action on this proposal is not being 
requested at this time.  The item will return at an upcoming board meeting if there is consensus 
to proceed, and any feedback from the discussion will be incorporated.  
 
Summary: 
Staff has recently met with several firms and organizations to discuss the enhancement and 
improvement of East Dundee’s riverfront corridor. Such enhancements and improvements to 
the corridor would preserve and protect the natural river ecosystem, provide recreational 
opportunities, create an aesthetically appealing and walkable path along the river, and 
integrate the riverfront with East Dundee’s downtown area, the Fox River Trail, and other 
future developments.  One of the firms that staff met with is the Hitchcock Design Group 
(“HDG”). HDG has completed riverfront/riverwalk master planning projects for several 
communities along the Fox River which include Batavia, Geneva, St. Charles, Elgin, and West 
Dundee. Some of their completed projects are planning only and others are planning and 
design through construction observation.          

A representative from the Hitchcock Design Group will attend Monday night’s meeting to 
review the five phases of the proposed project. If after the discussion Monday night, the Village 
Board concurs with staff’s recommendation to move forward with the development of a 
Riverfront Master Plan, staff will make any recommended adjustments to Hitchcock Design 
Group’s proposal and present for formal consideration an upcoming Village Board meeting.     
 



   
 

Attachments:  
Proposal from Hitchcock Design Group  



 

 
 
 
 

November 7, 2022 
 
 
 
Erika Storlie 
Village Administrator 
Village of East Dundee 
120 Barrington Avenue 
East Dundee, IL 60118 
 
RE: East Dundee Riverfront Master Plan 
 
 
Dear Erika, 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide you with a proposal to assist the Village with planning for 
the East Dundee Fox River Corridor! Each community along the river is unique, and that could not be 
truer of East Dundee. We understand the importance of the riverfront to your community, the value it 
brings today, and the potential that can still be unlocked. Hitchcock Design Group has a dedicated 
group of experienced planners and designers that focus solely on municipal and recreational 
planning including in-depth expertise on riverfront planning and design.  Our goal is to help you 
develop an attainable vision for the riverfront that builds upon activities of today, promotes ongoing 
stewardship, is exciting and engaging. 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
Based on our discussions, we understand this is a priority initiative and the timing is right to proceed 
with planning for the East Dundee Riverfront Master Plan. The goal of the project is to develop a plan 
that builds upon the natural beauty of the Fox River while enhancing recreation, public access, and 
connections to downtown. 
 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 
The project will be conducted in five primary phases including Analyze, Connect, Envision, Prioritize, 
and Implement. We will begin with a kick-off meeting and a site visit for us to conduct a photographic 
inventory of the project site. The Analyze Phase will identify the issues and opportunities to meet the 
Village’s goals and objectives based on in-depth analysis and data gathering of the corridor’s natural, 
physical, and cultural characteristics. The Connect Phase will build on Staff input and Analyze 
outcomes, we will solicit the interests of individual stakeholders, community at large, and organized 
group input on the river corridor planning project. Using the information and input learned from the 
previous phases, the Envision Phase will develop draft approaches to the riverfront framework plan to 
address connectivity, circulation, access, recreation, branding, environmental and water quality 
improvements, and acquisition. Using the alternative framework plans and input gathered to date, 
the Prioritize Phase will further refine and finalize the Framework Plan, then develop implementation 
recommendations to identify costs and guide sequencing in the final Implement Phase. 
 
Please see the Scope of Services for our step-by-step approach. 
 
PROFESSIONAL FEES 
Based on the Scope of Services, the fees to complete the work as outlined are as follows: 
 

Riverfront Master Plan: 
Analyze Phase Fixed Fee  $13,400 
Connect Phase Fixed Fee  $9,400 
Envision Phase Fixed Fee  $16,400 
Prioritize Phase Fixed Fee  $14,000 



 
November 7, 2022 
Village of East Dundee – Riverfront Master Plan 
Page 2 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Implement Phase Fixed Fee  $9,200 
 Total:    $62,400 
 

 Other Services: 
Additional Community/Board Meeting Per Meeting  $1,000 

 
Reimbursable expenses (printing, mileage, and courier) will be invoiced in addition to the 
professional service fees. We recommend setting aside $1,500 for these expenses.  
 
PROJECT TEAM 
I will be the Project Manager and lead designer, a 15-year Senior Associate with an environmental 
specialty from HDG. I will be your day-to-day contact for the project with the full support of our 
Recreation Studio members to advance the work according to schedule.  
 
Wills Burke Kelsey Associates will join our team to add their riverfront engineering and environmental 
expertise. They will lend their expertise to floodplain/floodway regulation, traffic circulation, calming, 
and routing considerations, and environmental/water quality improvements, shoreline treatment, 
and native restoration.  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to work with you and the Village of East Dundee. If you have any 
questions or wish to discuss this proposal further, please do not hesitate to call. To authorize this 
work, please sign and return this Agreement to Hitchcock Design Group. A countersigned agreement 
will be returned to you. Thank you for your business! 
 
Sincerely, 
Hitchcock Design Group 
 

 
Lacey Lawrence, RLA, LEED-AP 
Senior Associate  
 
Please note our mailing address: PO Bo 5126, Naperville, Illinois 60567-5126 
 
 
Accepted:   
 Erika Storlie, Village Administrator, Village of East Dundee  Date:  
 

Accepted:        
Steve Konters – Senior Principal, Hitchcock Design Group  Date: 

 
 
Attached: Scope of Services and Hitchcock Design Group Standard Terms and Conditions, which are 

made part of this agreement 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Scope of Services  
Riverfront Master Plan  
Village of East Dundee 
 
A. ANALYZE:  Inventory and Analysis Phase 
Process:  Identify the issues and opportunities to meet the Village’s objectives based on inventory and 
analysis of the characteristics of the corridor’s natural, physical, and cultural characteristics, and the 
interests of a variety of related stakeholders. 

 
The Hitchcock Design Group team will: 
1. [MEETING #1: Staff] Meet with Staff and conduct an administrative Kick-off Meeting and 

Staff Input Workshop: 
a. Administrative Kick-off Meeting: 

i. Project synopsis (purpose, team members, scope) 
ii. Project area (including review of preliminary base map) 
iii. The goals and probable usage of the final deliverables 
iv. Public and stakeholder input strategy 
v. Available existing data  
vi. Preliminary schedule 

b. Staff Input Workshop: 
i. Participants:  Department heads and key staff 
ii. Method:  Focus group, identify primary success measurements 

 
2. Visit the Corridor Study Area with Staff to observe, photograph and gather firsthand 

opinions about readily apparent conditions and patterns of use. 
 

3. Collect other available Study Area Data such as:  
a. Village of East Dundee, Village of West Dundee, Dundee Township Park District, and Kane 

County Forest Preserve District comprehensive planning documents 
b. GIS data for public property ownership, sizes, uses and condition 
c. Flood studies and storm water management concerns and data 
d. Historically significant sites and structures 
e. Motorist, pedestrian and bicycle circulation routes, facilities, usage, and condition 
f. Truck routes and volumes 
g. Capital improvement plans and budgets 
h. TIF, SSA, and other financial tools in place or available 

 
4. Collect Jurisdictional Data such as: 

a. Zoning, land use and development ordinances 
b. Storm water management regulations 

 
5. Investigate and assess existing available River and Riverfront Data, including: 

a. Topography 
b. Floodplain and Floodway limits 
c. Natural areas delineations 
d. Environmental considerations 

 
6. Research Trends in River Corridor Activity that align with project program, including: 

a.  Sports and Fitness Industry Association – Topline Participation Report 
b.  National Sporting Goods Association – Sports Participation Report 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

7. Prepare Inventory and Analysis Summary and mapping, including: 
a. Inventory and Analysis summary 
b. Site analysis mapping 

 
8. [MEETING #2: Staff / Virtual] Meeting with Staff to review ANALYZE:  Inventory and Analysis 

Phase findings and deliverables and discuss approach for CONNECT: Needs Assessment and 
Community Engagement Phase approach and deliverables 
 

B. CONNECT:  Needs Assessment and Community Engagement Phase 
Process:  Building on Staff input and Inventory and Analysis activities, solicit individual and 
organized group input on the river corridor planning project. 
 
The Hitchcock Design Group Team will: 
1. Develop Community Engagement Tools, including: 

a. Logo and tagline 
b. Web platform 
c. Survey tool 

 
2. [COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT EVENT #1] Conduct an Online Survey: 

a. Preparation: 
i. Establish web platform  
ii. Upload and engage written survey tool 

b. Participants: 
i. Community-at-large 

c. Method: 
i. Online web-platform, linked to each agency’s website 
ii. Survey Monkey instrument (multiple choice) 
iii. Survey promoted by agency 
iv. Four-week post period 
v. Tabulated response summary deliverable 

 
3. [COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT EVENT #2] Conduct Stakeholder Meetings during a ½ day 

stakeholder interview session to mine constituent interests. 
a. Identify Stakeholders: 

i. Local business organization leaders 
ii. Service organizations 
iii. Specialized associations 
iv. Friends Group(s) 

b. Method: 
i. Interview with standardized questions 
ii. Written summary deliverable 

 
4. Prepare written Needs Assessment Summary, including: 

a. Process summary 
b. Response data 
c. Preliminary response prioritization 

 
5. [MEETING #3: Staff / Virtual] Meeting with Staff to review the CONNECT:  Needs Assessment 

and Community Engagement Phase findings and deliverables, and discuss priorities, 
thoughts, and preferences. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. ENVISION:  Alternative Strategies Phase 
Process:  Using the information and input learned from the previous phases, develop draft 
approaches to the riverfront framework plan. 
 
The Hitchcock Design Group Team will: 
1. Prepare and submit a draft Strategy Statement that identifies an integrated approach to 

achieving project goals and objectives including: 
a. A logical time horizon 
b. Goals and objectives 
c. Supported commercial, institutional, and public magnets/attractions (primary 

destinations) 
d. Supported complementary amenities and uses  
e. Multi-modal mobility requirements to activate and connect uses 
f. Other promising opportunities to strengthen visitor and resident hospitality 
 

2. Prepare Key Sites Mapping identifying favorable locations to implement the Strategy 
Statement.  Characteristics to potentially include: 
a. Proximity to users  
b. Proximity to services and overnight accommodations 
c. Topography and natural amenities 
d. Physical limitations and constraints 
e. Relationships to surrounding uses 
 

3. Prepare Alternative Framework Plans, or concepts that illustrate location, scale, and 
interrelationship of existing and proposed land-uses, features, program areas, amenities, and 
river improvements, including: 
a. Active and passive recreation facilities including multi-use trail 
b. Vehicular, pedestrian, bicycle, and transit connections, circulation, safe crossings, and 

traffic calming measures 
c. Truck routing alternatives  
d. Brand identity with recurring materials, signage, lighting, public art 
d. Environmental and water quality improvements, shoreline improvements, and native 

plant palate for restoration along the river 
e. Potential acquisition parcels for expansion of public open space along the river 

 
2. [MEETING #4: Staff / In-Person] Meet with Staff to review the ENVISION:  Alternative 

Strategies Phase recommendations and deliverables.  
 

3. Refine the preferred Alternative Framework Plan, including Image Boards to facilitate 
passive sticker voting.  
 

4. [VILLAGE BOARD MEETING #1] Conduct a workshop to review the ENVISION: Alternative 
Strategies Phase findings and deliverables, and discuss priorities, thoughts, and preferences. 
 

5. [COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT EVENT #3] Conduct a Community Open House event to 
gather passive community input on the Alternative Framework Plan. 
a. Participants: Community-at-large 
b. Method: 

i. Open House 
ii. Sticker voting, written comments 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

iii. Support tools (sign-in, notecards, stickers, pens) for meeting operation 
iv. Written summary with input ranks by popularity 

 
D. PRIORITIZE:  Preferred Strategies Phase 

Process:  Using the alternative framework plans and input gathered to date, further refine, and 
finalize the Framework Plan, then develop implementation recommendations to identify costs and 
guide sequencing. 

 
The Hitchcock Design Group Team will: 
1. Refine and finalize the preferred Framework Plan, including: 

a. Plan view drawings 
b. Comparable project images 
 

2. Prepare written Strategy Summary, identifying: 
a. Improvement descriptions 
b. Implementation factors: 

i. Public policy considerations 
ii. Operational considerations 

iii. Preliminary Capital improvement budgets 
 

3. Finalize a group of closely correlated, short term (3-5 year) capital and operational 
implementation projects (plus mid and long-term outlook projects) in an Action Plan 
considering: 
a. Identified priorities 
b. Potential community and economic impacts 
c. Potential costs 
d. Primary financial resources 
e. Ability to leverage other resources and partners 
f. Initiation and management responsibility 
g. Complexity and duration of the approval, permitting, and implementation process 
 

4. [MEETING #5: Staff / In-Person] Meet with Staff to review the PRIORITIZE:  Preferred 
Strategies Phase recommendations and deliverables. Deliver one hard copy and digital copy 
of deliverables. 

 
E. IMPLEMENT:  Final River Corridor Master Plan Phase 

Process:  The Hitchcock Design Group Team will: 
1. Develop the draft Riverwalk Master Plan deliverable by assembling all information from the 

planning process in a booklet format, following the following general format: 
a. Executive Summary:  process, primary goals, and objectives 
b. Introduction   document description, credits 
c. Chapter One: ENVISION:  Alternative Strategies 
d. Chapter Two: PRIORITIZE: Action Plan 
e. Chapter Three: ANALYZE: Inventory & Analysis 
f. Chapter Four: CONNECT: Community Engagement 
g. Chapter Five: Appendix  Supporting Information 

 
2. [MEETING #6: Staff / Virtual] Meet with Staff to review the IMPLEMENT:  Final 

Comprehensive Master Plan Phase recommendations and deliverables. Deliver one hard copy 
and digital copy of deliverables. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3. [VILLAGE BOARD MEETING #2] Prepare for and conduct final presentation of the 
IMPLEMENT:  Final Comprehensive Master Plan Phase recommendations and deliverables. 

 
4. Receive comments from Staff and Board; make one round of Final Revisions to the Master 

Plan deliverable. 
 

5. Print and deliver Hard Copies of the Final Master Plan deliverable (as a reimbursable expense) 
and deliver to Staff. 
 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
We may provide additional services, at your approval that are not included in the Basic Services, such as: 

1. Revisions to previously completed and approved phases of the Basic Services 
2. The services of additional consultants not specified in the proposal documents 
3. Meetings with you or presentations to other parties not specified in the Basic Services 
4. Detailed quantity estimates and construction cost opinions using data or formats other than 

our own 
5. Detailed written summaries of our work or our recommendations 
6. Services rendered after the time limitations set forth in this contract 
7. Services required due to the discovery of concealed conditions, actions of others, or other 

circumstances beyond our control 
8. Services required to restart the project if you suspend our work at your convenience for more 

than 90 days during the performance of our services 
 

AUTHORIZATION 
Services or meetings not specified in this scope of services will be considered additional services. If 
circumstances arise during our performance of the outlined services that we believe require additional 
services, we will promptly notify you about the nature, extent, and probable additional cost of the 
additional services, and perform only such additional services following your written authorization. 



Payment Remittance Address: Hitchcock Design Group, PO Box 5126 Naperville, Illinois 60567-5126 

 
HITCHCOCK DESIGN GROUP STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. CONTRACT – These Standard Terms and Conditions, and the 
accompanying Proposal Letter and Scope of Services constitute the 
full and complete Agreement (Agreement) between the Client 
(Client) and Hitchcock Design, Inc., dba Hitchcock Design Group 
(HDG), and may be amended, added to, superseded, or waived 
only if both parties agree in writing.  The Project title is identified in 
the Proposal Letter. 

2. DOCUMENTS – All reports, notes, drawings, specifications, data, 
calculations, and other documents prepared by HDG (“Documents”) 
are instruments of HDG’S services that shall remain HDG’S 
property.  The Client agrees not to use the Documents for future 
additions or alterations to this Project or for other projects without 
HDG’S express written consent.  Any unauthorized use of the 
Documents will be at the Client’s sole risk and without liability to 
HDG’S or its subconsultants.  Accordingly, Client shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold harmless HDG from and against any and all 
losses, claims, demands, liabilities, suits, actions, and damages 
whatsoever arising out of or resulting from such unauthorized use. 

3. CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES – When construction-phase 
services are included in HDG’s scope, HDG will visit the site 
periodically to determine in general whether construction is 
proceeding in a manner consistent with the intent of the Documents. 
HDG is not responsible for the contractor’s construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequencing, or procedures, or for safety or 
programs in connection with the Project.   

In the event that HDG’S scope of services does not include 
construction phase services and our work is used for construction 
by the Client, HDG shall not be responsible for the interpretation, 
accuracy, or completeness of the Documents.  Client agrees to 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless HDG from and against 
losses, claims, demands, liabilities, suits, actions, and damages 
arising out of or resulting from the design Documents. 

4. STANDARD OF CARE – HDG and its subconsultants (if applicable) 
will exercise that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by 
other landscape architects and planners on similar projects at the 
time and locations such services are rendered.  Client agrees that 
services provided will be rendered without warranty, express or 
implied.   

5. OPINION OF PROBABLE COSTS – When required as part of 
HDG’s services, HDG will furnish opinions of probable cost, but 
does not guarantee, warrant or represent the accuracy of such 
estimates.  Opinions of probable cost prepared by HDG hereunder 
will be made based on HDG’s experience and qualifications and will 
represent HDG’s judgment as an experienced and qualified design 
professional.  Client agrees that HDG does not have control over 
the cost of labor, materials, equipment, or services furnished by 
others, or over market conditions, or contractors' methods of 
determining prices, or performing the work. 

6. SUSPENSION/TERMINATION OF WORK – The Client may, upon 
seven (7) days written notice, suspend or terminate the Agreement 
with HDG.  The Client shall remain liable for and shall promptly pay 
HDG for all services performed to the date of suspension or 
termination. HDG may suspend or terminate the Agreement with 
Client upon seven (7) days written notice if the Client fails to perform 
in accordance with this Agreement.   

7. LIABILITY – HDG will furnish general and professional liability 
insurance certificates upon request.  The Client agrees that HDG’S 
total aggregate liability to the Client for injuries, claims, losses, 
expenses, or damages, including attorney's fees, arising out the 

Project or this Agreement, including, but not limited to, HDG’s 
negligence, errors, omissions, strict liability, breach of contract, or 
breach of warranty shall be limited to the compensation actually paid 
to HDG under this Agreement. 

8.  BILLING AND PAYMENT – Client shall pay HDG in accordance 
with the professional service fees identified in the Proposal Letter, 
plus expenses at 115% of actual cost.  HDG will submit to Client, on 
a monthly basis, an invoice for services performed and expenses 
incurred during the previous period.  Payment will be due within 
thirty (30) days of the invoice date. In the event Client fails to pay 
HDG within thirty (30) days of the due date, Client agrees that HDG 
shall have the right to consider that event a breach of this 
Agreement, and upon seven (7) days written notice, HDG’s services 
and responsibilities may be either suspended or terminated. Client 
agrees to compensate HDG for services performed regardless of 
Client’s ability to secure loans, mortgages, additional equity, grants, 
payment from Client’s client, or other supplementary financing for 
the project. Client agrees to pay HDG with ACH digital check.  
Instructions will be sent with the invoice(s).  If Client requires HDG 
to receive payment by mailed-check, Client agrees to mail check 
payments to the PO Box Payment Remittance Address below. 

9. Permits - Unless specifically described in this Agreement, Client 
agrees to obtain and pay for all necessary permits from authorities 
with jurisdiction over the Project. 

10. CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES – HDG and the Client waive 
consequential damages, including but not limited to damages for 
loss of profits, loss of revenues and loss of business of business 
opportunities, for claims, disputes or other matters in question 
arising out of this Agreement.   

11. MISCELLANEOUS 
Governing Law: The substantive laws of Illinois shall govern any 
disputes between HDG and the Client arising out of the 
interpretation and performance of this Agreement. 
Mediation:  HDG and the Client agree that any disputes arising 
under this Agreement and the performance thereof shall be subject 
to nonbinding mediation as a prerequisite to further legal 
proceedings. 
HDG Reliance: Unless otherwise specifically indicated in writing, 
HDG shall be entitled to rely, without liability, on the accuracy and 
completeness of information provided by Client, Client’s consultants 
and contractors, and information from public records, without the 
need for independent verification. 
Certifications: HDG will not sign documents requiring HDG to 
certify, guaranty, or warrant existence of conditions that would 
require knowledge, services or responsibilities beyond this 
Agreement. 
Third Parties: Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a 
contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor of, a third 
party against either the Client or HDG.  HDG’s services hereunder 
are being performed solely for the benefit of the Client, and no other 
entity shall have any claim against HDG because of this Agreement 
or HDG’s performance of services hereunder. 
Waiver of Subrogation - Both parties to this Agreement waive all 
rights of subrogation and for damages during construction except to 
the extent covered by property insurance or other insurance 
applicable to the work or the project. 
Authorization - If HDG is authorized to provide these services, 
either orally or in writing, prior to the execution of this Agreement, 
such authorization will be deemed an acceptance of this Agreement 
and agrees to compensate HDG for such services in accordance 
with the payment terms outlined herein. 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 

From:  Franco Bottalico, Management Analyst 
   

Subject: 590 Healy, LLC Special Use and Variances Request 
 

Date:   December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
The Planning, Zoning and Historic Preservation Commission (“PZHC”) and staff recommend 
Village Board approval of an ordinance granting a special use permit for outside vehicle and 
equipment parking and storage for the property located at 590 Healy Road, East Dundee, IL, 
60118 (PIN 01-30-300-009-0000) in the M-1 Manufacturing District. 
 
Staff also recommends, but the PZHC does not recommend, village board approval of an 
ordinance granting variations from Sections 157.147(B)(2), 157.149(B), and 157.149(D) of the 
Village Code requiring off-street parking paving and required lighting illumination for the 
property located at 590 Healy Road, East Dundee, IL, 60118 (PIN 01-30-300-009-0000) in the M-
1 Manufacturing District 
 
Summary: 
Staff has received an application from Tracy Lampignano, manager of 590 Healy, LLC along with 
their engineering firm, Mackie Consultants, LLC (“Petitioner”) regarding the property located at 
590 Healy Road (“Property”). Petitioner is requesting two special use permits and two variance 
requests which are outlined below. The PZHC held a public hearing on November 3, 2022 to 
review these requests. Below are the recommendations by the PZHC as well as staff 
recommendations: 
 

Petitioner 
Requests Type PZHC 

Recommendation Votes Staff  
Recommendation 

#1 Special Use Grant (5 Ayes, 0 Nays) Grant with a condition 
#2 Special Use Table to January 

Meeting 
(5 Ayes, 0 Nays) No recommendation 

yet, waiting for 
additional information 

from petitioner  
#3 Variance Deny (5 Ayes, 0 Nays) Grant 
#4 Variance Deny (5 Ayes, 0 Nays) Grant 

 
  



Special Use #1 - Request for Special Use for Outside Vehicle and Equipment Parking & Storage  
In May of 2022, the Village Board approved a special use for outside vehicle and equipment 
parking storage for the property located at 507 Rock Road Dr. with a condition of a 10-year sunset 
only pertaining to a portion of the parcel where the parking is located. Because of this, staff 
recommended PZHC approval and recommends Village Board approval. 
 
Heinz Road is currently planned to be extended from Commonwealth Drive (which is to the west 
of the Property) to Healy Road (which is on the east side of the property).  Heinz Road will bisect 
the property, dividing the Property in two portions, approximately at the middle. Around the 
same time, Petitioner anticipates building two industrial buildings on the south portion of the 
Property abutting Rt. 72.   
 
Because of these upcoming developments, the road project, and to be consistent with the 
Board’s approval of 507 Rock Road, staff recommends approval of the special use permit with 
the following conditions: 1) a ten-year sunset for the north portion of the future Heinz Road 
extension; and 2) a one-year sunset for the south portion of the future Heinz Road extension. As 
an attachment to the draft ordinance for this special use is the map representing these 
conditions. 

 
 



Special Use 2- Special Use for Salvage and Reprocessing Activity 
Petitioner is requesting a special use for the salvage and reprocessing activity on site known as 
clean construction or demolition debris, commonly referred to as CCDD.  
 
At staff’s recommendation this item has been tabled by the PZHC and shall continue its public 
hearing on this item at the January PZHC meeting, should staff receive the additional information 
requested from the Petitioner regarding. 
 
Variation 1 – Required Paving of Parking Areas 
The Petitioner is seeking a variance from Sections 157.147(B)(2) and 157.149(B) requiring off-
street parking areas shall be paved with asphaltic concrete or comparable hard-surfaced, all-
weather, dustless material. 
 
Staff recommends Village Board approval of this variance request to remain consistent with 507 
Rock Road with an expiration date of 10 years.  The PZHC recommended denial of this variance 
request. 
 
Variation – Required Lighting of Off-Street Parking Area 
The Petitioner is seeking a variance from Section 157.149(D) requiring lighting illumination of an 
off-street parking area shall be arranged so as not to reflect rays of light into adjacent residential 
districts and street. All lighting shall be extinguished not later than 30 minutes after the close of 
business of the use being served. 
 
Staff recommends Village Board approval of this variance request to remain consistent with 507 
Rock Road with an expiration date of 10 years.  The PZHC recommended denial of this variance 
request. 
 
Attachments: 
Draft Ordinances – Special Use & Variations 
Future Concept Plan Map 
Published Public Notice 
Redacted Application 
Signed Findings of Facts 



 471470_1     1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 22-_____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK AND KANE 
COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR OUTSIDE 

VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT PARKING AND STORAGE FOR THE PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 590 HEALY ROAD, EAST DUNDEE, IL, 60118 PIN 01-30-300-009-

0000 located in the M-1 MANUFACTURING DISTRICT  
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local 
government pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 
and has the authority to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 157.065 of the Village of East Dundee Zoning 

Ordinance (“Zoning Ordinance”) and the Village’s home rule authority, the Village 
President and Board of Trustees of the Village (“Corporate Authorities”) may provide for 
and allow the classification of special uses in its zoning ordinances; and 
 
 WHEREAS, under the authority of the Zoning Ordinance, 590 Healy LLC property 
with PIN 01-30-300-009-0000 located in East Dundee, Illinois (“Property”), as legally 
described in Section 2 below, in the M-1 Manufacturing District, in which outside vehicle 
and equipment parking and storage is allowed if the Corporate Authorities first grant a 
special use permit; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance, any person owning or having an 
interest in property may file an application to use such property for one or more of the 
special uses provided for in the zoning district in which the land is situated; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have received a request for a special use 
permit for outside vehicle and equipment parking and storage at the Property 
(“Application”) from the owner of the Property, 590 Healy LLC (“Applicant”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, notice of a public hearing on the Application before the Village’s 
Planning and Zoning Commission was duly given and a public hearing was held on the 
Application on November 3, 2022; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed the standards set 
forth in Section 157.065 of the Zoning Ordinance for a special use permit and 
recommended approval of the Application, and related findings of fact; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have reviewed the Planning and Zoning 

Commission’s findings of fact and recommendations on the Application, and hereby 
approve the proposed special use for outside vehicle and equipment parking and storage 
on the Property subject to the conditions set forth below; 

 



 471470_1     2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1: Incorporation. That each Whereas paragraph above is incorporated 
by reference into this Section 1 and made a part hereof as material and operative 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2: Approval of Special Use Permit. The Corporate Authorities hereby 

approve the Application and grant a special use permit for the Property (as depicted in 
Exhibit A) legally described as: 

 
PIN 01-30-300-009-0000  
LOT 2 IN FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF VCNA PRAIRIE SUBDIVISION, BEING A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, 
RANGE 9 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED FEBRUARY 13, 2014 AS 
DOCUMENT 1404429095. 
 
Commonly known as 590 Healy, East Dundee, IL 60118 for outside vehicle and 
equipment parking and storage. 
 

SECTION 3:  Conditions of Approval. That the special use permit granted herein 
shall be constructed, operated and maintained in accordance with any plans and 
diagrams submitted as part of the Application, and shall be subject to the following terms 
and conditions: 

 
1. The Special Use will automatically expire after 10 years for the north portion of the 

future Heinz Road extension.  The petitioner can then reapply at that time. 
2. The Special Use will automatically expire after 1 year for the south portion of the 

future Heinz Road extension.  The petitioner can then reapply at that time. 
 

SECTION 4: Severability. That if any Section, paragraph or provision of this 
Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 5:  Repeal. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof in 

conflict herewith shall be and the same are hereby repealed. 
 
 SECTION 6: Effect. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith 
upon its adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  
  
PASSED this 5th day of December 2022 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  
 
AYES:________________________________________________________________  



 471470_1     3 

 
NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  
 
ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 5th day of December 2022. 
 
 
     ________________________________________  
     Jeffrey Lynam, Village President  
ATTEST:  
 
___________________________  
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  
 
Published in pamphlet form this 5th day of December 2022, under the authority of the 
Village President and Board of Trustees.  
 
Recorded in the Village records on December ___, 2022. 
 
The Applicant acknowledges hereby the reasonableness of the above and foregoing 
terms and conditions in the Ordinance, and hereby accepts the same. 

By: _________________________   
                      Applicant 
 
Date: December __, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit A



ORDINANCE NUMBER 22 - __ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK  
AND KANE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM SECTIONS 

157.147(B)(2), 157.149(B), AND 157.140(D) REQUIRING OFF-STREET PARKING 
PAVING AND REQUIRED LIGHTING ILLUMINATION LOCATED AT 590 HEALY 

ROAD, EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 (PIN 01-30-300-009-0000) LOCATED IN THE M-1 
MANUFACTURING DISTRICT 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local 
government pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 
and has the authority to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; and  

 
WHEREAS, 590 Healy, LLC (“Applicant”) is the owner of the property with PIN 01-

30-300-009-0000 located in East Dundee, Illinois, legally described in Section 2 below 
(“Subject Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Applicant filed an application with the Village seeking variations 

from the Zoning Chapter of the East Dundee Village Code as described in the application; 
and 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 157.207 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the 
Village’s home rule authority, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 
(collectively the “Corporate Authorities”) may provide for and allow variances to the 
requirements of the Zoning Ordinance when there are practical difficulties or a particular 
hardship with the strict compliance with the Zoning Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Applicant filed an application with the Village seeking a variation 

from Sections 157.147(B)(2) and 157.149(B) requiring off-street parking areas shall be 
paved with asphaltic concrete or comparable hard-surfaced, all-weather, dustless 
material as described in the application; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Applicant filed an application with the Village seeking a variation 

from Section 157.149(D) requiring lighting illumination of an off-street parking area shall 
be arranged so as not to reflect rays of light into adjacent residential districts and street; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the Village convened and 
held a public hearing on November 3, 2022 to consider the Application pursuant to the 
variances; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed the standards set 

forth in Section 157.207 of the Zoning Ordinance for variations and recommended denial 
of the Application, and related findings of fact; and 

 
 



WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have received and considered the 
recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and find it to be in the best 
interests of the health, safety and welfare of its residents to approve the requested 
variations subject to the conditions contained within Section 3 of this Ordinance; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Village President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of East Dundee, Cook and Kane Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1: Incorporation. That each Whereas paragraph above is incorporated 
by reference into this Section 1 and made a part hereof as material and operative 
provisions of this Ordinance. 
 
 SECTION 2: Variations. That the Corporate Authorities hereby grant the 
Application for the Subject Property, legally described as: 
 
PIN 01-30-300-009-0000  

LOT 2 IN FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF VCNA PRAIRIE SUBDIVISION, BEING A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, 
RANGE 9 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED FEBRUARY 13, 2014 AS DOCUMENT 
1404429095 

 
Variation 1 
A variation from Section 157.147(B)(2) AND 157.149(B) of the Zoning Chapter of 
the East Dundee Village Code requiring off-street parking areas shall be paved 
with asphaltic concrete or comparable hard-surfaced, all-weather, dustless 
material, as described in the Application. The variation granted in this Ordinance 
is specific to the Project as proposed in the Application and shall not apply to any 
other development of the Subject Property.   
 
The variation will allow use of crushed stone base or asphalt shavings. 

 
Variation 2 
A variation from Section 157.149(D) of the Zoning Chapter of the East Dundee 
Village Code requiring lighting illumination of an off-street parking area shall be 
arranged so as not to reflect rays of light into adjacent residential districts and 
street, as described in the Application. The variation granted in this Ordinance is 
specific to the Project as proposed in the Application and shall not apply to any 
other development of the Subject Property.   
 
The variation will allow existing lighting on site to be sufficient or at the discretion 
of the Building Inspector and Village Administrator.   

 
SECTION 3:  Conditions of Approval. That the variances granted herein shall be 

constructed, operated and maintained in accordance with any plans and diagrams 



submitted as part of the Application, and shall be subject to the following terms and 
conditions: 

1. The Variances cannot be transferred and shall expire at such time 590 Healy, LLC 
ceases outside storage at PIN 01-30-300-009-0000. 
 

2. The variances will automatically expire after 10 years. The petitioner can then 
reapply at that time.   
 

SECTION 4: Severability. That if any Section, paragraph or provision of this 
Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 5:  Repeal. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof in 
conflict herewith shall be and the same are hereby repealed. 

 SECTION 6: Effect. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith 
upon its adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  

 

PASSED this 5th day of December 2022 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  

AYES:________________________________________________________________  

NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  

ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 

 

 APPROVED by me this 5th day of December 2022. 

 

     ________________________________________  

     Jeffrey Lynam, Village President  

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________  

Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  

 

Published in pamphlet form this 5th day of December 2022, under the authority of the 



Village President and Board of Trustees.  

Recorded in the Village records on December ___, 2022. 

The Applicant acknowledges hereby the reasonableness of the above and foregoing 
terms and conditions in the Ordinance, and hereby accepts the same. 

By: _________________________   

                      Applicant 

 

Date: December __, 2022 

 
 



H
E

A
L

Y
 

R
O

A
D

C
O

M
M

O
N

W
E

A
L

T
H
 

D
R
I
V

E

SRK

1" = 100'

0

SCALE  1" = 100'

200100

MRM

MRM

5 @ 15'

18 @ 15'

1
2
'
 
x
 
7
5
'

7 STALLS

61 STALLS

29 STALLS

41 STALLS

14 STALLS

27 STALLS

29 STALLS

STOCKPILE

MATERIAL 

FINISHED 

PARKING

EQUIPMENT 

43,333 SF

45,000 SF

HEINZ ROAD

PLANT

SCALE

BINS

BINS

BINS

BINS

74 STALLS

54 STALLS

6
8
 

S
T

A
L

L
S

CONCEPT SITE PLAN

STORAGE

8.92 AC-FT

DETENTION BASIN

2
0
 

S
T

A
L

L
S

A
P

R
O

N

D
R
I

V
E

W
A

Y
 

1

STORAGE
28.02 AC-FT 

BASIN
DETENTION 

3
8
 

S
T

A
L

L
S

3
2
 

S
T

A
L

L
S

09/30/2022

35' LANDSCAPE BUFFER

LANDSCAPE

STORAGE

EQUIPMENT 

SMALL 

STORAGE

EQUIPMENT 

SMALL 

ROUTE 72

G
C
T

E

G

N
:\

3
6
9
2
\

E
n
g
in

e
e
r
in

g
\

P
lo
t
s
\

C
o
n
c
e
p
t
 
E
x
h
ib
it
s
\

2
2

0
9
3

0
-

C
o
n
c
e
p
t
 
P
la

n
.p
lt
.d

g
n

9
/
3

0
/
2

0
2

2
4
:2

7
:4

1
 
P

M

MACKIE CONSULTANTS LLC, 2022

ILLINOIS FIRM LICENSE 184-002694

3692

DESIGNED

DRAWN

APPROVED

DATE

SCALEDATE DESCRIPTION OF REVISION BY

SHEET

PROJECT NUMBER:

C

OF

(847)696-1400

www.mackieconsult.com

Mackie Consultants, LLC
9575 W. Higgins Road, Suite 500

Rosemont, IL 60018

MACKIE CONSULTANTS

1

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS

590 HEALY ROAD

   

   

   

3+00 4+00 5+00 6+00

7+00

8+00

9+00

11+00

10+00

8
5
0
.
4
28

5
0
.
4
2

860

868

860

868

7
5
'

7
5
'

4
0
'

7
5
'

7
5
'

7
5
'

7
5
'

12'

55'

1
0
'

10'

28'

37'

30' 40'

4
0
'



State of Illinois      ) 
Counties of Kane and Cook    )  SS 
Village of East Dundee    ) 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Planning and Zoning Commission of the Village of East Dundee 
will hold a public hearing on November 3, 2022, at 6:00 P.M. at the East Dundee Police Station 
2nd  Floor Meeting  Room,  115  E.  3rd  Street,  East  Dundee,  Illinois,  to  consider  the  following 
requests: 
 

1. A request for a Special Use for outside vehicle and equipment parking and storage for the 
property with 590 Healy Road, East Dundee IL, 60118 PIN 01‐30‐300‐009‐0000 in the M‐
1 Manufacturing District.   
 

2. A request for a Special Use for CCDD Salvage and Reprocessing of concrete and asphalt 
for the property 590 Healy Road, East Dundee IL, 60118 PIN 01‐30‐300‐009‐0000 in the 
M‐1 Manufacturing District.  

 
3. A variance request from Section 157.147(B)(2) and 157.149(B) requiring off‐street parking 

areas shall be paved with asphaltic concrete or comparable hard‐surfaced, all‐weather, 
dustless material at 590 Healy Road, East Dundee IL, 60118 PIN 01‐30‐300‐009‐0000  in 
the M‐1 Manufacturing District.   

 
4. A variance from Section 157.149(D) requiring lighting Illumination of an off‐street parking 

area shall be arranged so as not to reflect rays of light into adjacent residential districts 
and street.  All lighting shall be extinguished not later than 30 minutes after the close of 
business of the use being served, except as may be otherwise authorized by the Village 
Board of Trustees. 590 Healy Road, East Dundee IL, 60118 PIN 01‐30‐300‐009‐0000 in the 
M‐1 Manufacturing District.   

 
Property Legal Description: 
LOT 2 IN FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF VCNA PRAIRIE SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF 
PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 9 EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL  MERIDIAN,  IN  COOK  COUNTY,  ILLINOIS,  ACCORDING  TO  THE  PLAT  THEREOF 
RECORDED FEBRUARY 13, 2014 AS DOCUMENT 1404429095. 
 
All  interested persons will be given an opportunity  to be heard. Any questions  regarding  this 
public hearing process may be directed to Franco Bottalico, Management Analyst, 120 Barrington 
Avenue, East Dundee, Illinois, 60118 via email at FBottalico@eastdundee.net, or by phone at 847‐
426‐2822 extension 6102. 

























Application for Development Approval April 7, 2017 Page 3 

Special Use Review and Approval 

IF YOU ARE APPLYING FOR A VARIANCE COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING: 

1. From which specific standard of the Village Code is a Variance requested (include Code section number)?

2. For this site, what does the Code require?

3. What is proposed?

4. What unique circumstances have caused the need for a variance?

5. What specific mitigation measures will be used to ensure that the essential character of the area will not be altered? (Suitability

of Present Area)

Paving Section 157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B), and Lighting Section 157.147 (D) for Vehicle/Truck Parking.

The code requires access (section 157.147) for off-street parking facilities.  It is anticipated to use the same ingress

and egress points so no new traffic patterns appear necessary or are proposed to accommodate the uses that

would be established by the requested variance.  The code also requires Design and Maintenance (157.149)  for

Surfacing, landscaping, and lighting, Paving Section 157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B), and  lighting section 157.147 (D)

Please see the attached

Please see the attached

Please see the attached



 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Mackie Consultants, LLC  /   9575 W. Higgins Road, Suite 500  /  Rosemont, IL 60018  /    847-696-1400 
                                          140 S. Dearborn St., Suite 1520    /  Chicago, IL 60603      /    312-644-8556 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. What is proposed? 
 
Paving Requirements (157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B)): Variation is requested to permit recycled 
asphalt grindings as a drive aisle and parking pavement surface within Truck Parking and 
CCDD Recycling Special Use areas.  This variation does not apply to the permanent Accessory 
Use Truck Parking area. 
 
Lighting Section (157.149 (D)): Variation to release the applicant from requirements to install 
permanent lighting in the CCDD Recycling and Principal Use Truck Parking use areas.  
 
 
4. What unique circumstances have caused the need for a variance? 
 
Paving Requirements (157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B)):  Prior to reclamation, the site was a sand 
and gravel quarry.  Such sites have been traditionally not readily developable after reclamation 
via CCDD materials because the cost of evenly conducting compaction of the fill soils across 
the entire site results in land costs in excess of its retail value.  The requirement of rigid 
pavements such as concrete or conventional asphalt would result in the site being economically 
non-productive after the completion of mine reclamation.  When flexible pavement such as 
recycled asphalt are an allowed pavement, soil compaction can be focused on critical building 
envelopes, public roadways and utility corridors at limited cost and no adverse impact on 
resident or consumer use of the area. 
 
Lighting Section (157.149 (D)):  CCDD recycling operations typically occur during daylight hours 
to avoid noise impacts during night hours.  Because the truck parking areas are not accessible 
to the general public, there is not a need to provide security lighting and its omission is a benefit 
to the preserved open spaces of the forest preserve property East of Healy Road. 
 
5. What specific mitigation measures will be used to ensure that the essential character of the 
area will not be altered? (Suitability of Present Area) 
 
Paving Requirements (157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B)):  The applicant’s operations at the CCDD 
recycling site include loaders and other heavy equipment readily suited for the maintenance of 
smooth, clean and attractive surfaces in the recycled asphalt pavement (RAP) areas, thus 
addressing the maintenance difficulties typically cited in the reasons such materials are not 
ordinarily permitted as the pavement surface.  In fact, the RAP is a pervious surface when 
compared to conventional asphalt pavement which produces less storm water runoff. 
 
Lighting Section (157.149 (D)):  Since the operational needs of the Special Use users do not 
benefit from the provision of permanent fixed lighting, the omission has no negative impacts, but 
the positive impacts include less spillover effects on the adjacent Forest Preserve natural 
habitat areas to the East. 
 



 

 

6. Specifically, how do the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of 
the property result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations are carried out? 
 
Paving Requirements (157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B)):  As noted above, the prior use of the site 
as a sand and gravel mine poses a high hazard of settling and pavement breakup to 
conventional pavements.  RAP surfaces are more flexible and adapt better to the soil conditions 
on sites such as this one. 
 
Lighting Section (157.149 (D)):  Surroundings pose no extra hardship for the owner of 
compliance, but normal compliance would pose more negative effects on the adjacen forest 
preserve natural habitats. 
 
7. Specifically, what conditions are present on the property what would not be applicable 
generally to other property within the same zoning classification? (Suitability of Zoning) 
 
Paving Requirements (157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B)):  As noted above the prior mining history 
of the site and CCDD fill pose extraordinary challenges for the provision of conventional 
pavements and their maintenance. 
 
Lighting Section (157.149 (D)):  None.  The variation is based on the fact that no benefit is 
provided to the property use and the omission of fixed permanent lighting enhance the function 
of the adjacent Forest Preserve property. 
 
8. Other than financial return, what other purposes is the variance request based on? 
 
Paving Requirements (157.147 (B) (2) & 157.149 (B)):  As noted above the RAP surface is 
expected to provide a superior performance, appearance and reliability outcome than 
conventional pavement given the fill soils placed in this former mine site. 
 
Lighting Section (157.149 (D)):  Aside from the reduced cost of omitting fixed lighting, its 
omission will provide a net benefit to the adjacent Forest Preserve site compared to a standard 
installation. 
 















Memorandum 

  
To:     Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:    Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject:  Approval of TIF Notes for PAL Land, LLC  
 
Date:     December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 

 
Action Requested:    
Staff recommends Village Board approval of two ordinances authorizing TIF Notes in the 

amount of $1,624,932.23 from the Route 25 TIF and $86,564.87 from the Christina Dr TIF to be 

assigned to PAL Land, LLC (201 Christina Dr, East Dundee, IL 60118) for TIF eligible expenses 

associated with the construction of industrial buildings, roadways, and other infrastructure in 

the Terra Business Park. 

 
Funding Source: 
Dundee Crossing (Route 25) TIF #2 ‐ Fund #38 

Christina Dr TIF #4 ‐ Fund #36 

 

Summary: 
PAL Land, LLC has completed the construction of and has submitted TIF‐eligible expenses to the 

Village.  The Village Attorneys have reviewed the expenses and drafted the attached 

ordinances.  These are Notes #10 & #8, respectively, and follow the requirements under the 

recently approved First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Development Agreement 

approved on May 2, 2022.  As such, these two notes do not accrue any interest and will only be 

reimbursed when there is available TIF increment generated from the respective properties.  

Additionally, they are subject to the $10M cap on TIF‐eligible expense reimbursements 

contained in the 2012 agreement because the expenses were incurred prior to the approval of 

the First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Development Agreement in May 2022. 

 

These notes are not liabilities of the Village and will not be paid from any other sources in the 

event that there is not sufficient TIF increment generated from the buildings that PAL Land, LLC 

has constructed available to satisfy the note.   

 
Attachments: 



Ordinance – Route 25 Note #10 

Request for Note with Accompanying TIF‐Eligible Expenses – Route 25 

Ordinance  ‐ Christina Dr Note #8 

Request for Note with Accompanying TIF‐Eligible Expenses – Christina Dr 



 

 541224_1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 22 - __ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK  
AND KANE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, APPROVING THE ISSUANCE  

OF A TIF NOTE TO PAL LAND, LLC 
(ROUTE 25 TIF DISTRICT – TIF NOTE NO. 10 – $1,624,932.23) 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local 

government pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 
and has the authority to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; and  

 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the requirements of the Illinois Tax Increment 

Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq. (“TIF Act”), the Village 
President and Board of Trustees, pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 06-40, 06-41, and 06-42, 
adopted on September 18, 2006, designated the “Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area” 
as a redevelopment project area, as defined in the TIF Act, approved a Redevelopment 
Plan and Project for the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area and adopted tax 
increment allocation financing in the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area, pursuant to 
the TIF Act, respectively; and  

 
WHEREAS, on November 14, 2012, the Village entered into an “Amended and 

Restated Redevelopment Agreement” (“Redevelopment Agreement”) with Pal Land, LLC 
(“Developer”), regarding property owned by the Developer located within the Route 25 
Redevelopment Project Area; and  

 
WHEREAS, on May 2, 2022, the Village entered into the “First Amendment to the 

Amended and Restated Redevelopment Agreement” (“Redevelopment Agreement”) with 
Pal Land, LLC (“Developer”), regarding property owned by the Developer located within 
the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area; and  

 
WHEREAS, the 2012 agreement establishes a $10 million dollar cap on the 

reimbursement of TIF-eligible expenses incurred by the Developer; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Village has determined to issue a TIF note in the principal amount 

of One Million Six Hundred Twenty Four Thousand Nine Hundred Thirty Two Dollars and 
23 Cents ($1,624,932.23) (“TIF Note”) and to loan the proceeds thereof to the Developer 
to finance the eligible expenses allocated to or incurred with respect to the property 
subject to the Redevelopment Agreement, on the terms and conditions in the 
Redevelopment Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the approval of this note and the adjoining Note #8 from the Christina 

Dr. TIF, also on the agenda for approval on this date, will meet the $10 Million Dollar cap; 
and  

 



 

 541224_1 

WHEREAS, the 2022 Agreement establishes that any Notes approved by the 
Village Board after May 2, 2022 shall accrue no interest; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is 

advisable, necessary, and in the best interests of the Village to approve the issuance of 
the TIF Note to the Developer;  
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK AND KANE 
COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 SECTION 1: Incorporation. That each Whereas paragraph above is incorporated 
by reference into this Section 1 and made a part hereof as material and operative 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2: Authorization. That it is advisable, necessary, and in the best 

interests of the Village that the Village issue the TIF Note to the Developer. 
 
SECTION 3: Form of TIF Note. That the TIF Note shall be in substantially the form 

attached hereto as EXHIBIT A, with such changes thereto as to make the TIF Note 
consistent with the terms of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 4:  Authorization to Issue TIF Note. That the Village hereby authorizes 

the issuance of its TIF Note in the principal amount of One Million Six Hundred Twenty 
Four Thousand Nine Hundred Thirty Two Dollars and 23 Cents ($1,624,932.23), bearing 
no interest, and substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A. The Village is 
hereby authorized to execute and deliver to the Developer its TIF Note, which shall be 
dated from the date of its issuance and delivery. 

 
SECTION 5: Severability. That if any Section, paragraph or provision of this 

Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 6:  Repeal. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof in 

conflict with this Ordinance shall be and the same are hereby repealed. 
 
 SECTION 7: Effect. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its 
adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  

 
 ADOPTED this 5th day of December, 2022 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  
 
AYES:________________________________________________________________  
 
NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  
 



 

 541224_1 

ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 
 
 APPROVED by me this 5th day of December, 2022. 
 
 
     ________________________________________  
     Jeff Lynam, Village President  
 
ATTEST:  
 
___________________________  
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  
 
Published in pamphlet form this 5th day of December, 2022, under the authority of the 
Village President and Board of Trustees.  
 
Recorded in the Village records on December __, 2022.  



 

 541224_1 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF TIF NOTE 

 
(attached) 

 





estorlie
Pencil

estorlie
Text Box
$1,624,932,23*

estorlie
Text Box
*Amount exceeds $10M cap; adjusted down to meet cap



estorlie
Pencil

estorlie
Text Box
Amount exceeds $10M cap; adjusted down to meet cap

























































































































































































































































































12/2/22, 3:08 PM Mail - Erika Storlie - Outlook

https://outlook.office365.com/mail/inbox/id/AAQkAGY1MWQwMzA5LTY4NGMtNGEwZS04NzBhLWYzZTJjYjRhNjk4MQAQAEtB3my2Sk%2BSiLkg2p… 1/6

Re: TIF Submission Christina Note 8 and Route 25 Note 10

paljoe joe <paljoe@msn.com>
Fri 12/2/2022 8:53 AM
To: Erika Storlie <estorlie@eastdundee.net>;Rena Zurawski <RenaZ@PalProperties.com>
Cc: Austin Schmidt <AustinS@PalProperties.com>;Jim Dudek <jimd@PalProperties.com>;Jeff Newing
<JeffN@PalProperties.com>;'Peter Bazos' <pbazos@bazosfreeman.com>;Brandiss Martin <bmartin@eastdundee.net>

THANKS ERICA, YOUR NUMBERS ARE CORRECT.

From: Erika Storlie <estorlie@eastdundee.net>
Sent: Thursday, December 1, 2022 4:07 PM
To: Rena Zurawski <RenaZ@PalProper�es.com>
Cc: PALJOE Palumbo <paljoe@msn.com>; Aus�n Schmidt <Aus�nS@PalProper�es.com>; Jim Dudek
<jimd@PalProper�es.com>; Jeff Newing <JeffN@PalProper�es.com>; 'Peter Bazos'
<pbazos@bazosfreeman.com>; Brandiss Mar�n <bmar�n@eastdundee.net>
Subject: Re: TIF Submission Chris�na Note 8 and Route 25 Note 10
 
Hello
Per the conversa�on I had earlier today with Joe - - so far, the Village has approved the following dollar
amount in notes:

Dundee Crossings: $6,835,994.78
Chris�na: $1,452,508.12
Total: $8,288,502.90

Leaving $1,711,497.10 in eligible reimbursements for expenses incurred prior to May 2, 2022 (subject to
$10M cap).

The two notes provided to us are on the board's agenda for approval Monday.  Chris�na is at its full
requested amount of $86,859.87
Rt 25 has been reduced to $1,624,932.23 (instead of your requested $1,759,400.18) to come to an even
$10,000,000.

Going forward, eligible expenses incurred a�er May 2, 2022 are not subject to a cap.

Please let me know if you have any ques�ons.  The full set of documents is in the boards agenda, which
is online here
h�ps://eastdundee.net/government/mee�ng_agendas___minutes.php

Thank you,
Erika

Erika Storlie
Village Administrator
 

(224) 293-7120
estorlie@eastdundee.net
 
Village of East Dundee

https://na01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Feastdundee.net%2Fgovernment%2Fmeeting_agendas___minutes.php&data=05%7C01%7C%7C111cf2b655f14b87d5f908dad3e87ed4%7C84df9e7fe9f640afb435aaaaaaaaaaaa%7C1%7C0%7C638055292779990142%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=FXC%2BYanigOT1d6i5uoRt1PqWxumgI4VUgNCvVw4HZJM%3D&reserved=0
mailto:estorlie@eastdundee.net
estorlie
Highlight



 

 541228_1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 22 - __ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK  
AND KANE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, APPROVING THE ISSUANCE  

OF A TIF NOTE TO PAL LAND, LLC 
(CHRISTINA DRIVE TIF DISTRICT – TIF NOTE NO. 8 – $86,859.87) 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) is a home rule unit of local 

government pursuant to Section 6 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 
and has the authority to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; and  

 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the requirements of the Illinois Tax Increment 

Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq. (“TIF Act”), the Village 
President and Board of Trustees, pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 10-25, 10-26, and 10-27, 
adopted on May 16, 2010, designated the “Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area” 
as a redevelopment project area, as defined in the TIF Act, approved a Redevelopment 
Plan and Project for the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area and adopted tax 
increment allocation financing in the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area, 
pursuant to the TIF Act, respectively; and  

 
WHEREAS, on November 14, 2012, the Village entered into an “Amended and 

Restated Redevelopment Agreement” (“Redevelopment Agreement”) with Pal Land, LLC 
(“Developer”), regarding property owned by the Developer located within the Christina 
Drive Redevelopment Project Area; and  

 
WHEREAS, on May 2, 2022, the Village entered into the “First Amendment to the 

Amended and Restated Redevelopment Agreement” (“Redevelopment Agreement”) with 
Pal Land, LLC (“Developer”), regarding property owned by the Developer located within 
the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area; and  

 
WHEREAS, the 2012 agreement establishes a $10 million dollar cap on the 

reimbursement of TIF-eligible expenses incurred by the Developer; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Village has determined to issue a TIF note in the principal amount 

of Eighty Six Thousand Five Hundred Sixty Four Dollars and 87 Cents ($86,564.87) (“TIF 
Note”) and to loan the proceeds thereof to the Developer to finance the eligible expenses 
allocated to or incurred with respect to the property subject to the Redevelopment 
Agreement, on the terms and conditions in the Redevelopment Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the approval of this note and the adjoining Note #10 from the Dundee 

Crossing (Route 25) TIF, also on the agenda for approval on this date, will meet the $10 
Million Dollar cap; and  

 
WHEREAS, because the 2022 Agreement establishes that any Notes approved 

after May 2, 2022 shall accrue no interest; and  



 

 541228_1 

 
WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is 

advisable, necessary, and in the best interests of the Village to approve the issuance of 
the TIF Note to the Developer;  
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, COOK AND KANE 
COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 SECTION 1: Incorporation. That each Whereas paragraph above is incorporated 
by reference into this Section 1 and made a part hereof as material and operative 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2: Authorization. That it is advisable, necessary, and in the best 

interests of the Village that the Village issue the TIF Note to the Developer. 
 
SECTION 3: Form of TIF Note. That the TIF Note shall be in substantially the form 

attached hereto as EXHIBIT A, with such changes thereto as to make the TIF Note 
consistent with the terms of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 4:  Authorization to Issue TIF Note. That the Village hereby authorizes 

the issuance of its TIF Note in the principal amount of Eighty-Six Thousand Five Hundred 
Sixty Four Dollars and 87 Cents ($86,564.87), bearing no interest, and substantially in 
the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A. The Village is hereby authorized to execute and 
deliver to the Developer its TIF Note, which shall be dated from the date of its issuance 
and delivery. 

 
SECTION 5: Severability. That if any Section, paragraph or provision of this 

Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
SECTION 6:  Repeal. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof in 

conflict with this Ordinance shall be and the same are hereby repealed. 
 
 SECTION 7: Effect. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its 
adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  

 
 ADOPTED this 5th day of December, 2022 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:  
 
AYES:________________________________________________________________  
 
NAYES:_______________________________________________________________  
 
ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 
 



 

 541228_1 

 APPROVED by me this 5th day of December, 2022. 
 
 
     ________________________________________  
     Jeff Lynam, Village President  
 
ATTEST:  
 
___________________________  
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  
 
Published in pamphlet form this 5th day of December, 2022, under the authority of the 
Village President and Board of Trustees.  
 
Recorded in the Village records on December __, 2022.  



 

 541228_1 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF TIF NOTE 

 
(attached) 

 



















































































12/2/22, 3:08 PM Mail - Erika Storlie - Outlook

https://outlook.office365.com/mail/inbox/id/AAQkAGY1MWQwMzA5LTY4NGMtNGEwZS04NzBhLWYzZTJjYjRhNjk4MQAQAEtB3my2Sk%2BSiLkg2p… 1/6

Re: TIF Submission Christina Note 8 and Route 25 Note 10

paljoe joe <paljoe@msn.com>
Fri 12/2/2022 8:53 AM
To: Erika Storlie <estorlie@eastdundee.net>;Rena Zurawski <RenaZ@PalProperties.com>
Cc: Austin Schmidt <AustinS@PalProperties.com>;Jim Dudek <jimd@PalProperties.com>;Jeff Newing
<JeffN@PalProperties.com>;'Peter Bazos' <pbazos@bazosfreeman.com>;Brandiss Martin <bmartin@eastdundee.net>

THANKS ERICA, YOUR NUMBERS ARE CORRECT.

From: Erika Storlie <estorlie@eastdundee.net>
Sent: Thursday, December 1, 2022 4:07 PM
To: Rena Zurawski <RenaZ@PalProper�es.com>
Cc: PALJOE Palumbo <paljoe@msn.com>; Aus�n Schmidt <Aus�nS@PalProper�es.com>; Jim Dudek
<jimd@PalProper�es.com>; Jeff Newing <JeffN@PalProper�es.com>; 'Peter Bazos'
<pbazos@bazosfreeman.com>; Brandiss Mar�n <bmar�n@eastdundee.net>
Subject: Re: TIF Submission Chris�na Note 8 and Route 25 Note 10
 
Hello
Per the conversa�on I had earlier today with Joe - - so far, the Village has approved the following dollar
amount in notes:

Dundee Crossings: $6,835,994.78
Chris�na: $1,452,508.12
Total: $8,288,502.90

Leaving $1,711,497.10 in eligible reimbursements for expenses incurred prior to May 2, 2022 (subject to
$10M cap).

The two notes provided to us are on the board's agenda for approval Monday.  Chris�na is at its full
requested amount of $86,859.87
Rt 25 has been reduced to $1,624,932.23 (instead of your requested $1,759,400.18) to come to an even
$10,000,000.

Going forward, eligible expenses incurred a�er May 2, 2022 are not subject to a cap.

Please let me know if you have any ques�ons.  The full set of documents is in the boards agenda, which
is online here
h�ps://eastdundee.net/government/mee�ng_agendas___minutes.php

Thank you,
Erika

Erika Storlie
Village Administrator
 

(224) 293-7120
estorlie@eastdundee.net
 
Village of East Dundee

https://na01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Feastdundee.net%2Fgovernment%2Fmeeting_agendas___minutes.php&data=05%7C01%7C%7C111cf2b655f14b87d5f908dad3e87ed4%7C84df9e7fe9f640afb435aaaaaaaaaaaa%7C1%7C0%7C638055292779990142%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=FXC%2BYanigOT1d6i5uoRt1PqWxumgI4VUgNCvVw4HZJM%3D&reserved=0
mailto:estorlie@eastdundee.net
estorlie
Highlight



flt 

Ordinance No. � 

ORDINANCE APPROVING THE 
AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOMENT AGREEMENT 

(PAL LAND, LLC) 

WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, Illinois (the 

"Village"), is a home-rule municipality authorized by Article VII, Section 6(a) of the 

Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the Tax . 

\ 

Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1 et seq. (the "TIF Act"), the 

Corporate Authorities, pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 06-40, 06-41 and 06-42, adopted on 

September 18, 2006, designated a Redevelopment Project Area and approved a Redevelopment 

Plan for the redevelopment of the Redevelopment Project . Area known as the Route 25 

Redevelopment Project Area and adopted the TIF Act as applicable to the Redevelopment 

Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the TIF 

Act, the Corporate Authorities, pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 10-25, 10-26 and 10-27, adopted on 

May 17, 2010, designated a Redevelopment Project Area and approved a Redevelopment Plan 

for the redevelopment of the Redevelopment Project Area known as the Christina Drive 

Redevelopment Project Area and adopted the TIF Act as applicable to the Redevelopment 

Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village (the "Corporate 

Authorities") have determined that the blighting factors in the Route 25 Redevelopment Project 

Area and the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area impair growth and development but 

1 



jr. 

for the use of tax increment allocation financing to pay Redevelopment Project Costs as defined 

in the TIP Act which necessarily must be incurred to implement the Village's programs of 

redevelopment; and, 

WHEREAS, Pal Land, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Developer") 

owns and proposes to proceed with the development of approximately a 156 acre business and 

industrial park in the Village · and entered into a Development Agreement (the "Original 

Agreemenf') with the Village in April of 2008, wherein the Developer agreed to develop 

portions of its property in phases pursuant to a phasing plan as described in the Original 

Agreement; and, 

WHEREAS, with respect to further development of the Developer's property, the 

Village and the Developer have concluded that all prior agreements to develop said property in 

phases are no longer applicable and have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village 

and the health, safety and welfare of its citizens to come to new understandings regarding the 

development; and, 

WHEREAS, the Developer's has presented the Village with a proposal to continue with 

the development of its property and the Village has reviewed the Developer's proposal and is 

prepared to proceed with the terms and conditions as stated in the Amended and Restated 

Development Agreement attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, Illinois, that the Amended and Restated 

Development Agreement attached to this Ordinance is hereby approved and the Village President 

2 



tu 

and Village Clerk are hereby authorized to execute same and the Village Administrator is . 

authorized to undertake any and all action as may be required to implement its terms. 

This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage by the 

Corporate Authorities and approval as provided by law. 

PASSED this l!/_ day of !VovttVrWr' , 2012, pursuant to a roll call vote as 
I 

follows: 

NAYS: d 

·
Att

U

L±L 
Vtllage Clerk 

3 



L 

,✓ ,! AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN 

... -I THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS AND PAL LAND, LLC 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ("Amended 

Agreement") is dated as of this 14th day of November, 2012, by and between the Village of East 

Dundee, Illinois, an Illinois municipal corporation (the "Village"), and Pal Land, LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company (the "Developer"). 

PREAMBLES 

WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee, Kane' and Cook Counties, Illinois, is a home

rule municipality authorized by Article VII, Section 6(a) of the Constitution of the State of 

Illinois of 1970 to exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act of the State 

of Illinois, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1 et seq., as from time to time amended (the "TIF Act"), the 

President and Board of Trustees of the Village (collectively, the "Corporate Authorities") are 

empowered to undertake the development or redevelopment of a designated area within its 

municipal limits in which existing conditions permit such area to be classified · as a "blighted 

area" as defined in Section 1 l.74.4-3(a) of the TIF Act; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the TIF 

Act on September 18, 2006, the Corporate Authorities adopted Ordinance Nos. 06-40, 06-41 and 

06-42, approving a redevelopment plan and project (the "Route 25 Redevelopment Plan")

designating "Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area" a "redevelopment project area" as defined 

by the TIF Act (the "Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area"); and approving tax increment 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\ Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 



' /�-,) , I • 
allocation financing for the purpose of implementing the Route 25 Redevelopment Plan for the 

Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have determined that the blighting factors 

described in the Route 25 Redevelopment Plan are detrimental to the public and impair 

development and growth in the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area and will continue to 

impair growth and development but for the use of tax increment allocation financing to pay 

Redevelopment Project Costs (as hereinafter defined in Section 6 of this Agreement) which 

necessarily must be incurred to implement the aforesaid program of redevelopment; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the TIP 

Act, on May 17, 2010, the Corporate Authorities adopted Ordinance Nos. 10-25, 10-26 and 10-

27 approving a redevelopment plan and project (the "Christina Drive Redevelopment Plan"),

) designating the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area" a "redevelopment project area" as 

defined by the TIP Act (the "Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area"); and approving tax 

increment allocation financing for the . purpose of implementing the Christina Drive 

Redevelopment Plan for the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have determined that the blighting factors 

described in the Christina Drive Redevelopment Plan are detrimental to the public and impair 

development and growth in the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area and will continue to 

impair growth and development but for the use of tax increment allocation financing to pay 

Redevelopment Project Costs (as hereinafter defined in Section 6 of this Agreement) which 

necessarily must be incurred to implement the aforesaid program of redevelopment; and, 

WHEREAS, the Developer owns and proposes to proceed with the development of 
r•--\ 

\ __ ; approximately a 15 6 acre business and industrial park in the Village, comprised of Parcels A, B 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 2 



and C as depicted on the Parcel Map attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Subject Property"); and 
-i
! legally described on Exhibit B, attached hereto; and,

WHEREAS, Parcel A is located within the boundaries of Route 25 Redevelopment 

Project Area and Parcels B and C are located within the boundaries of the Christina Drive 

Redevelopment Area; and, 

WHEREAS, the Developer entered into a Development Agreement (the "Original 

Agreement") with the Village in April of 2008, wherein the Developer agreed to develop Parcels 

A and B in phases pursuant to a phasing plan as described on Exhibit E to the Original 

Agreement, the first phase ("Phase I") of which included the construction of a 50,000 square 

foot commercial building and all public improvements as itemized on Exhibit C to said Original 

Agreement; and, 

WHEREAS, in order to proceed with Phase I, the Developer had submitted a Final Plat 

and a planned unit development for Parcels A and B, which plat (the "2007 Plat") was the 

subject of a public hearing and which was previously approved by the Corporate Authorities 

pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 08-51 and 08-74 and recorded with Kane County on December 26, 

2007, as Document No. 2007K124883; and, WHEREAS, all items included in the prior Phase I 

and portions of Phase II of the development have been completed by the Developer other than 

those items as listed in Section 2(a) hereof; and, 

WHEREAS, with respect to further development of Parcels A and B and the future 

development of Parcel C, the Village and the Developer have concluded that all prior agreements 

to develop the Subject Property in phases as set forth in the Original Agreement are no longer 

applicable to the development of the Subject Property so long as timely development of the 

Subject Property (based on market demand) continues; and, 

C:\Users\HMAIER-1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19.docx 3 



WHEREAS, the Developer's proposal requires that all development of the Subject 

Property be in ac_cordance with all applicab\e Village ordinances that are not otherwise modified 

pursuant to this Agreement, with all final engineering plans approved by the Village in 

connection with the 2007 Plat, and with any engineering plans hereafter approved in connection 

with any future Development Projects, regarding Parcels A, Band C (as applicable), and also in 

accordance with the approved Planned Unit Development Plan for Parcels A, B and C (the 

"PUD"), (collectively the "Legal Requirements"); and, 

WHEREAS, the Village has determined that the Developer has the necessary 

qualifications, expertise and background necessary to undertake the development of the Subject 

Property; and, 

WHEREAS, the Village is authorized under the TIF Act to incur Redevelopment Project 
(/ ----..._\ 

\, __ ) Costs and to make and enter into all contracts necessary or incidental to the implementation of its 

Redevelopment Plans; and, 

WHEREAS, the Village is further authorized under the TIF Act to issue obligations as 

evidence of indebtedness and to satisfy said obligations from funds in the "Special Tax 

Allocation Fund" as established by the Village upon adoption of the TIF Act for each designated 

redevelopment project area; and, 

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Developer to continue to develop or cause the 

development of the Subject Property, the Corporate Authorities have determined that it is in the 

best interests of the Village and the health, safety, morals and welfare of the residents of the 

Village for the Village to reimburse the Developer for certain eligible Redevelopment Project 

Costs, as hereinafter defined, and to evidence the obligation of the Village to reimburse the 

(_�) Developer for eligible Redevelopment Project Costs by the execution and delivery to the 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-vi 9.docx 4 



/�-\ 
1 ! Developer of one or more non-recourse, special tax increment revenues notes (referred to

-1
: I individually as a "Note" and collectively as "Notes") in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C

and pursuant to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and,

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have determined that the provision by the Village 

to the Developer of the benefits described in the immediately preceding recital and the 

development by the Developer of the Subject Property pursuant to the Legal Requirements and 

this Amended Agreement are in the best interests of the Village and its residents and taxpayers, 

and will be in furtherance of the Route 25 Redevelopment Plan and the Christina Drive 

Redevelopment Plan, thereby providing for economic development; increasing job opportunities 

for the inhabitants of the Village; enhancing the tax base of the Village and other taxing districts; 

and, adding to the welfare and prosperity of the Village and its inhabitants. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties, for good and valuable consideration; the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, agree as follows: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals. 

The Parties agree that the recitals contained in the Preambles to this Amended Agreement 

are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into this Amended Agreement as though fully 

set forth in this Section 1. 

Section 2. Development Plan. 

(a) The 2007 Plat had been submitted by the Developer and was approved by the

Village for Parcel A and Bin 2007 as stated in the Original Agreement and which obligated the 

Developer to complete all infrastructure required for Phase I and to construct one spec 

commercial building on or before December 31, 2009. As of the date hereof, the Developer has 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ 1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19. docx 5 



.f�1 completed the commercial building and all other required public infrastructure for Phase I other 

than the following items (the "Incomplete Phase I Infrastructure"): 
-I

' i

(i) bike path;

(ii) final hot-mix asphalt surface course for Christina Drive; and,

(iii) parkway restoration and landscaping.

(b) The Developer hereby covenants and agrees that the Developer shall deliver to the

Village, upon the execution of this Amended Agreement, a letter of credit payable to the Village 

in the amount of $100,000.00 to guarantee completion of the Incomplete Phase I Infrastructure. 

(c) For purposes of this Amended Agreement, each portion of Parcels A, Band C that

(i) have not already been improved with public infrastructure and (ii) which the Developer and

the Village Engineer agree may be incrementally developed to meet market demand in a manner 

""· 

I consistent with the Village's codes and ordinances and with sound land development practices 

shall hereinafter be called a "Development Project". As permits are applied for by the Developer 

and issued by the Village as to each such Development Project, the Village shall require the 

Developer to post a bond with respect to all public infrastructure required by the Village to be 

installed with respect to such Development Project. 

( d) Prior to the date hereof, the Developer has completed all public infrastructure

with respect to the Development Project previously known as Phase I and Phase II ( other than 

the Incomplete Phase I Infrastructure described in Section 2(a) above. Simultaneously with the, 

execution of this Amended Agreement, the Village shall accept all such public infrastructure 

(other than the Incomplete Phase I Infrastructure) and shall issue to the Developer a Note, as 

defined in Section 7 hereof, in the amount of $639,861 based on the Developer's previously 

' 
\ I submitted documented Redevelopment Project Costs of $889,861 in connection therewith, less 
,_,J 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19.docx 6 



f�1 
1 the payment of $250,000 to be made by the Village to the Developer simultaneously with the 

issuance of said Note pursuant to Section 6( c) below), with such note to be dated as of February 

24, 2011 (being 30 days following the Developer's Payment Request and after the date of 

Completion and Conditional Acceptance (as defined in Section 6(d) below) of such public 

infrastructure and the Developer's submission to the Village of a Request for Reimbursement in 

connection therewith). 

Section 3. Phasing Eliminated: Original Agreement Hereby Restated and Amended. 

(a) It is hereby agreed that all "phasing" requirements and timelines for completion as

set forth in the Original' Agreement are hereby repealed. 

(b) It is the agreement of the parties that this Amended Agreement shall amend, and

restate in its entirety as so amended, the Original Agreement and shall supersede such Original 

Agreement. 

Section 4. Compliance with Legal Requirements. 

The Developer covenants and agrees that all public improvements to be constructed by 

the Developer on the Subject Property shall be in compliance with the Legal Requirements. 

Section 5. Mutual Agreements. 

(a) So long as this Amended Agreement is in full force and effect and no default on

the part of the Developer is continuing beyond the expiration of any cure period applicable 

thereto as provided in Section 21 hereof, the, Village agrees that it shall not impose any more 

restrictive zoning and/or development requirements upon the Subject Property than those 

requirements adopted pursuant to this Amended Agreement and the applicable laws and 

regulations in effect as of the date of this Amended Agreement. The provisions of this 

(��) subsection S(a) shall include, but not be limited to, a prohibition against amending the zoning 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\ Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19. doc>.: 7 



I 
- -1

classification applicable to the Subject Property to a more restrictive zoning classification other 

. ! than the rezoning as provided in subsection ( c) of this Section 5; a prohibition against amending 

the zoning classification of the Subject Property in a manner which causes the Developer to 

operate a non-conforming use on the Subject Property; and, a prohibition against amending any 

standard pertaining to improvements constructed on the Subject Property in a manner which 

causes those improvements to be non-conforming. 

(b) So long as this Amended Agreement is in full force and effect and no default on

the part of the Developer is continuing beyond the expiration of any cure period applicable 

thereto as provided in Section 21 hereof, until December 31, 2016, the Village agrees that it shall 

not impose on the Developer any new or increased municipal impact, recapture or permit fees, 

sewer and water connection fees or other utility fees from those existing as of the date of this 

Amended Agreement (collectively "Village Impact Fees"). The Village further agrees during 

said period not to impose upon the Developer any fees for the review of building plans, other 

than the usual and customary building fees of general applicability in the Village. Any and all 

other fees imposed by the Village shall be only those which are applicable to similar projects that 

may be commenced elsewhere and throughout the Village. 

( c) The parties agree that the Developer has previously filed with the Village a

petition to rezone the Parcel C consistent with Parcels A and B. The Village did proceed to give, 

undertake and / or hold any and all notices and public hearings actions as may be required under 

the Legal Requirements in connection with such petition. Simultaneously with the execution of 

this Amended Agreement, or within 30 days thereafter, the Village shall enact with respect to 

said Parcel C that planned development ordinance in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ 1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 8 



" 

(d) The parties also agree that, within 30 days following the execution of this

Amended Agreement, (i) the Village shall, at no charge to the Developer, vacate that section of 

Rock Road that currently lies between Lots 4 and 6 of the project, as depicted on Exhibit E 

attached hereto and labeled "to be vacated" and (ii) the Developer shall dedicate to the Village 

that half right-of-way ( 40 feet in width) along the easterly boundary of Lot 6, as shown on said 

Exhibit F. The Village intends to acquire a similar width of right-of-way from the adjacent land 

owner so as to provide the Village with an 80 foot wide right-of-way for this extension of Rock 

Road (the "Rock Road Extension Section"). The Village shall pay all costs to construct the Rock 

Road Extension Section at such time as the Village elects to do so. Alternatively, should the 

Developer, with the consent to the Village, agree to construct said Rock Road Extension, then 

the costs of doing so (as approved by the Village) shall be an eligible Redevelopment Project 

//-,\ 1
'-,. ,, ,' Costs reimbursable to the Developer in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

() 

(e) The parties also agree that, within 30 days following the execution of this

Amended Agreement, and provided that the Village has previously or does simultaneously 

perform its obligations due to the Developer by said date as herein provided, the Developer shall 

grant an easement to the Village for the purpose of constructing a water main as depicted and 

legally described on Exhibit F attached hereto and made a part hereof (the "Water Main 

Easement"). 

(f) The parties also agree that, within 30 days following the execution of this

Amended Agreement, and provided that the Village has previously or does simultaneously 

perform its obligations due to the Developer by said date as herein provided, the Developer will 

shall grant an easement to the Village for the purpose of the Village Constructing a Village-

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\ Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19. docx 9 



-l

owned sign, with such easement to be as configured and described as set forth in Exhibit H 

attached hereto and made a part hereof (the "Sign Easement"). 

Section 6. Developer Payments 

(a) So long as this Amended Agreement is in full force and effect and no default on

the part of the Developer is continuing beyond the expiration of any cure period applicable 

thereto as provided in Section 21 hereof, in consideration for the development by the Developer 

of the Subject Property in accordance with the terms of this Amended Agreement, the Village 

shall reimburse the Developer for the Redevelopment Project Costs, as hereinafter defined, 

incurred by the Developer subject to the limitations of the TIF Act and this Amended 

Agreement. 

(b) For purposes of this Amended Agreement, "Redevelopment Project Costs" shall

') mean and include all costs defined as "redevelopment project costs" in Section 11-74.4-3(q) of 

the TIF Act which are eligible for reimbursement under the TIF Act, as from time to time 

amended. It is anticipated that the majority of the reimbursements to be paid by the Village to 

the Developer hereunder will be for reimbursement of costs related to public infrastructure. The 

Village agrees to reimburse the Developer for any and all Redevelopment Project Costs incurred 

in connection with the redevelopment of the Subject Property in an amount not to exceed the 

total of(i) $10,000,000 of principal plus interest (as herein provided), less such amounts, if any, 

previously paid to the Developer pursuant to the Original Agreement plus (ii) I 00% of the 

Incremental Kane County Fees (as hereafter defined) payable with respect to the portion of the 

project previously referred to under the Original Agreement as "Phase I" and 50% oflncremental 

Kane County Fees for those areas previously referred to as "Phase II" and "Phase III" (with the 

(-\ 
1__ __ ) total of the amounts payable under the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) being collectively called the 

C:\Users\HMAIER-1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 10 



-\ 

,. 

I ·-
1 

' ---1 

"Reimbursement Cap"). "Base Kane County Fees" are defined as the level of Kane County

Department of Transportation impact fees that were payable with respect to buildings for which

building permits were issued on December 31, 2007. "Incremental Kane County Fees" are the

excess of any Kane County Department of Transportation impact fees that become payable with

respect to any building for which a building permit is issued after December 31, 2007 over and

above what the Base Kane County Fee would have been for such building had the permit been

issued on or before December 31, 2007.

( c) The parties hereto agree that as a part of the Reimbursement Cap to be reimbursed

by the Village, the Village shall, within 30 days of the execution of this Amended Agreement,

and simultaneously with receipt by the Village of the aforesaid Water Main Easement, pay to the

Developer a partial reimbursement of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000), to be

credited against the eligible Redevelopment Project Costs incurred by the Developer and

approved by the Village and for which a second Note is to be issued by the Village to the

Developer under Section 2( d) above.

( d) The parties hereto further agree that the Developer shall be eligible to receive

reimbursement for 100% of its Redevelopment Project Costs from Incremental Taxes derived

from the Subject Property only upon "Completion and Conditional Acceptance" by the Village

of the work for which such reimbursement is requested within any Development Project. As

used herein, the term "Completion and Conditional Acceptance" shall mean the situation in

which the work in question has been compl�ted in accordance with the requirements of the

Village Code (as determined in good faith by the Village Engineer) even though the Village

might then not be prepared to formally accept ownership of such work and improvements. It is

\ ___ ) agreed and understood that until formal acceptance of such work by the Village, the Developer's

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 11 



bond covering such work shall remain in place, notwithstanding any Completion and Conditional 

Acceptance thereof by the Village. 

( e) In connection with the establishment and ongoing administration of the Route 25

Redevelopment Project Area, the Village has established a Route 25 Special Tax Allocation 

Fund pursuant to the requirements of the TIF Act (the "Route 25 STAF') into which the Village 

shall deposit all Incremental Taxes generated by the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area. 

Similarly, in connection with the establishment and ongoing administration of the 

Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area, the Village has established a Christina Drive 

Special Tax Allocation Fund pursuant to the requirements of the TIF Act (the "Christina Drive

STAF') into which the Village shall deposit all Incremental Taxes generated by the Christina 

Drive Redevelopment Project Area. The Village shall further establish, upon execution of this 

Amended Agreement, a segregated special sub-account of the Christina Drive STAF and a 

segregated special sub-account of the Route 25 ST AF to be combined into an account designated 

the "Pal Land Sub-Account" into which the Village shall deposit ninety percent (90%) of the 

Incremental Taxes derived from the Subject Property. All funds held (or required to be 

deposited into) the Pal Land Sub-Account under the Original Agreement shall be transferred by 

the Village to the Pal Land Sub-Account created under this Amended Agreement. 

(±) The Village shall reimburse the Developer for all Redevelopment Project Costs 

pursuant to this Amended Agreement only from Incremental Taxes on deposit from time to time 

in the Pal Land Sub-Account in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 7 hereof, 

applying, for such purpose, all such funds in the said Pal Land Sub-Account to the extent 

re.quired to fulfill the payment obligations of the Village to the Developer as provided herein and 

(�) in the Notes issued to the Developer. 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19.docx 12 



:f 
(g) All Incremental Taxes on deposit in the Pal Land Sub-Account and required to be

paid by the Village to the Developer as herein provided shall be paid twice per year, on or about
July 1 st and October 1 st of each year, or within 30 days of the date the Village receive
distributions from the County of Kane of such Incremental Taxes (in either case, each a "ST AF
Allocation Date"). Any amounts on deposit in the Pal Land Sub- Account in excess of the
amount required to currently reimburse the Developer for Redevelopment Project Costs pursuant
to which the Developer has, as of such ST AF Allocation Date, submitted one or more Requests
for Reimbursement with the required documentation, shall remain in the Pal Land Sub-Account
and be applied to future Requests for Reimbursement until such time as the Developer has .
received full reimbursement for eligible Redevelopment Project Costs. To the extent amounts on
deposit in the Pal Land Sub-Account are · insufficient to reimburse the Developer for
Redevelopment Project Costs, the Village shall evidence its obligation to reimburse the
Developer by the execution and delivery of one or more Notes as provided in Section 7(e)
hereof, and funds subsequently deposited to the Pal Land Sub-Account shall then be used to
retire the said Notes.. Payments of Redevelopment Project Costs shall continue until full
reimbursement shall have occurred being hereinafter called the "Final Payment Date". For
purposes of this Agreement, the Final Payment date shall be the earlier of: (i) October 1, 2030,
for all Incremental Taxes generated from the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area; October 1,
2034, of the Incremental Taxes generated by the Christina Redevelopment Project Area; or (ii)
receipt by the Developer the total Reimbursement Cap (as defined in Section 6(b) above). After
the Final Payment Date, all amounts remaining in the Pal Land Sub-Account shal! be transferred
to the STAF and be available to be utilized by the Village as it may determine in accordance with

(�) the TIF Act.
C:\Users\HMAIER~ 1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 13 



: I 

(J 

(h) After the Final Payment Date as stated above for each of the Redevelopment

Project Areas, the Village shall be entitled to retain 100% of the funds in the Pal Land Sub

Account, which funds shall be available to be utilized by the Village as it may determine in 

accordance with the TIF Act. 

(i) THE VILLAGE'S OBLIGATIONS TO REIMBURSE THE DEVELOPER

UNDER THIS AMENDED AGREEMENT IS A LIMITED OBLIGATION PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM INCREMENTAL TAXES DEPOSITED OR REQUIRED TO BE 

DEPOSITED IN THE PAL LAND SUB-ACCOUNT FROM TIME TO TIME AND SHALL 

NOT BE SECURED BY THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE VILLAGE NOTES. 

G) As used in this Amended Agreement, "Incremental Taxes" shall mean the amount

equal to the total of all valorem taxes, if any, paid to the Village in respect of the Route 25 and 

Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Areas and any improvements thereon which is 

attributable to the increase in the equalized assessed value of the Redevelopment Project Areas 

over the initial equalized assessed value of the said Redevelopment Project Areas. The initial 

equalized assessed valuation of the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area is shown in the 2005 

real estate tax bill(s) payable in 2006. Similarly, the initial equalized assessed valuation of the 

Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area is shown in the 2009 real estate tax bill(s) payable 

in 2010. 

Until the Final Payment Date, the Village agrees to continue to deposit into the Pal Land 

Sub-Account ninety percent (90%) of the Incremental Taxes generated from the Subject Property 

including the Incremental Taxes received from the 23 rd year following the designation of either 

of the Redevelopment Project Areas. 

Section 7. Procedures for and Application of Reimbursement to the Developer. 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ 1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19.docx 14 



(a) The Developer shall: (i) advance all funds and all costs necessary to construct and

complete the improvements for each Development Project designated by the Developer and 

approved by the Village pursuant to any Village permit and / or in accordance with any 

approved final plat and (ii) undertake other matters eligible for reimbursement pursuant to this 

Amended Agreement in connection with the foregoing subject to the rights of the Developer to 

recoup Redevelopment Project Costs set forth herein. 

(b) To establish a right of reimbursement for Redevelopment Project Costs under this

Amended Agreement, Developer shall have completed the public improvements for a specific 

Development Project to the point where same qualifies for Completion. and Conditional 

Acceptance (as defined in Section 6(b) above) and submit to the Village or its designee a written 

statement in the form attached to this Amended Agreement as Exhibit G (a "Request for

"'1 
1 Reimbursement") setting forth the aggregate amount of reimbursement requested and the specific 

Redevelopment Project Costs incurred in connection with the construction and completion of the 

public improvements for a specific Development Project. Each Request for Reimbursement 

shall also be accompanied by such bills, contracts, invoices, lien waivers or other evidence as the 

Village President or his or her designee shall reasonably require to evidence the right of the 

Developer to reimbursement under this Amended Agreement. 

(c) The Village President or his or her designee shall have thirty (30) days after

receipt of any Request for Reimbursement from the Developer to recommend approval or 

disapproval of such Request for Reimbursement and, if disapproved, to pro1'ide the Developer in 

writing and in detail with an explanation as to why the Village is not prepared to recommend 

such reimbursement. The only reasons for disapproval of any Request for Reimbursement shall 

CJ be that such expenditure is not an eligible Redevelopment Project Cost under the TIF Act, or that 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 15 



r- .. ; 

.. '-

) the construction of the infrastructure for the Development Project was not completed by the 

... - ! Developer to the point of Completion and Conditional Acceptance ( as defined in Section 6( d) 

hereof) and in accordance with the Legal Requirements and the provisions of this Amended 

Agreement. The parties acknowledge that the determination of Redevelopment Project Costs 

and qualification for reimbursement under this Amended Agreement are subject to the TIF Act, 

all amendments to the TIF Act both before and after the date of this Amended Agreement, and 

administrative rules and judicial interpretations rendered during the term of this Amended 

Agreement. The Village has no obligation to the Developer to attempt to modify said rules or 

decisions but will cooperate with the Developer in obtaining approval of Redevelopment Project 

Costs. 

(d) Upon approval by the Village of a Request for Reimbursement, the Village shall
(-\ 

," ) pay to the Developer the amount requested to the extent there are any monies in the Pal Land 

Sub-Account, it being understood that all amounts deposited into the Pal Land Sub-Account shall 

first be used to pay interest, then principal on any outstanding Notes as defined in Section 7(e) 

below. 

(e) To the extent no funds are available in the Pal Land Sub-Account for payment of

Redevelopment Project Cost of the approval of a Request for Reimbursement, the Village shall 

promptly issue to the Developer a promissory note (a "Note") in the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit C for a term not to exceed twenty (20) years. The date of issuance of the Note shall be 

retroactive to the date of approval by the Village of the Request for Reimbursement and shall 

mature no later than twenty (20) years from its date of issue. All Notes issued as of the date of 

this Amended Agreement shall bear interest at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum from the 

(_) date of issuance of such Note until paid. Additionally, each such Note referenced above shall be 

C:\Users\HMAIER~l\AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v19.docx 16 



deemed solely on an obligation issued by the Village pursuant to the TIF Act. HOWEVER, THE 

NOTES REFERENCED ABOVE SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS 

OF THE VILLAGE, NOR SHALL THEY BE SECURED BY THE FULL FAITH AND 

CREDIT OF THE VILLAGE. ALL NOTES SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM TAX 

INCREMENT DEPOSITED FROM TIME TO TIME IN THE PAL LAND SUB-ACCOUNT. 

(f) Payment by the Village to the Developer of each Request for Reimbursement and

all outstanding Notes shall be made on each STAF Allocation Date; provided that payment shall 

only be made to the extent money is available therefore in the Pal Land Sub-Account. The 

principal balance of each Note shall bear interest, from its date of issue at the rate of six percent 

(6%) per annum on the unpaid principal balance. Each Note shall mature on or before twenty 

(20) years from the date of the issuance of each Note. Monies available to pay principal and

interest obligations on outstanding Notes shall be applied first to the earliest dated of the 

outstanding Notes and thereafter to all subsequently dated outstanding Notes with the most 

recently dated Notes being paid last. 

(f) All Notes shall be secured by a lien on and pledge of those monies deposited from

time to time in the Pal Land Sub-Account to be paid to the Developer as provided in this 

Amended Agreement. 

Section 8. Term. 

The tenn of this Amended Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced on the date of 

its execution and shall end on the earlier of (i) the Final Payment Date (as defined in Section 

7(:f)) with payments to the Developer of all monies deposited into the Pal Land Sub-Account 

from Incremental Taxes Attributable to the 23rd year after designation of either of the Route 25 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19.docx 17 



Redevelopment Project Area or the Christina Drive Redevelopment Project Area; or (ii) receipt 

by the Developer of the entire Reimbursement Cap (as defined in Section 6(b) above). 

Section 9. TIF Revenue Bonds. 

Any time during the term of this Amended Agreement, and so long as no default on the 

part of the Developer is continuing beyond the expiration of any cure period applicable thereto as 

provided in Section 21 hereof, the Village agrees to issue Tax Increment Allocation 

Redevelopment Revenue Bonds ("TIF Revenue Bonds") in an amount sufficient to (i) redeem 

any outstanding Notes (including accrued interest), (ii) pay all approved Redevelopment Project 

Costs not yet incorporated into a Note, and (iii) all costs of issuance on the following conditions: 

(A) that the annual Incremental Real Estate Taxes derived from the Subject

Property on an annual basis and deposited into the Pal Land Sub-Account are sufficient to meet 

() the annual debt service coverage required to market and sell the TIF Revenue Bonds;
-i-

(B) that neither the Developer nor the Village is required to place any credit

enhancement to guaranty debt service payments on the TIF Revenue Bonds; and 

(C) that the terms of the TIF Revenue Bonds comply with all requirements of

the TIF Act and all other applicable federal and state laws and regulations, it being understood 

that the taxable or tax-exempt status of any bonds to be issued shall be determined by bond 

counsel. 

Section 10. Special Payment Provisions. 

In the event the Village elects (in its sole discretion) to use any Incremental Taxes that are 

generated from the Village's Downtown Redevelopment Project Area or from any other 

contiguous Redevelopment Project Area whether designated prior to the execution of this 
1-,..----

� 

:, ) Amended Agreement or any time prior to the Termination Date hereof, or from real estate other 
:'--._/ 

C:\Users\HMAIER-1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 18 



than the Subject Property (in either case hereinafter called "Adjacent District Increment") to 

make payment to the Developer of all or any portion of the indebtedness due by the Village 

under any Note, the Village shall be given a credit of $1.10 for every $1.00 of such "Adjacent 

District Increment" so used in making such payment. 

Section 11. No Liability of Village to Others for Developer's Expenses. 

The Vi_llage shall have no obligation to pay and cost relating to the development of the 

Subject Property or to make any l?ayment to any person other than the Developer, nor shall the 

Village be obligated to pay any contractor, subcontractor, mechanic, or materialman providing 

services or materials to the Developer for the development of the Subject Property. 

Section 12. Time; Force Majeure. 

Time is of the essence of this Amended Agreement; provided, however, a party shall not 

C) be deemed in material breach of this Amended Agreement with respect to any obligations of this

Amended Agreement on such party's part to be performed if such party fails to timely perform

the same and such failure is due in whole or in part to any strike, lock-out, labor trouble (whether

legal or illegal), civil disorder, inability to procure materials, wet soil conditions, failure or

interruptions of power, restrictive governmental laws and regulations, condemnations, riots,

insurrections, war, fuel shortages, accidents casualties, floods, earthquakes, fires, acts of God,

epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight embargoes, acts caused directly or indirectly by the

other party (or the other party's agents, employees or invitees) or similar causes beyond the

reasonable control of such party ("Force Majeure"). If one of the foregoing events shall occur or

either party shall claim that such an event shall have occurred, the party to whom such claim is

made shall investigate same and consult with the party making such claim regarding the same

and the party to whom such claim is made shall grant any extension for the performance of the

C:\Users\HMAIER-1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 19 



() unsatisfied obligation equal to the period of the delay, which period shall commence to run from 

the time of the commencement of the Force Majeure; provided that the failure of performance 

was reasonably caused by such Force Majeure. 

Section 13. Assignment. 

This Amended Agreement may not be assigned by the Developer without the pnor 

written consent of the Village, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 

delayed. 

Section 14. Developer Indemnification. 

The Developer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Village, its agents, officers and 

employees against all injuries, deaths, losses, damages, claims, suits, liabilities, judgments, costs 

and expenses (including any liabilities, judgments, costs and expenses and reasonable attorney's 

(J fees) asserted against or incurred by the Village and which may arise, directly or indirectly from: 
-i

! 

(a) the failure of the Developer or any contractor, subcontractor or agent or employee

thereof ( so long as such contractor, subcontractor or agent or employee thereof is hired by the 

Developer) to timely pay any contractor, subcontractor, laborer or materialman; 

(b) from costs incurred by the Village in completing any infrastructure as required

pursuant to this Agreement or by any permits subsequently issued in connection with any 

Development Project; or, 

(c) from any claim for bodily injury, death or property damage attributable to the

negligence ror misconduct of the Developer or any contractor, subcontractor, agent, officer or 

employee of the Developer on the Subject Property 

The Developer shall, in the performance of its indemnification covenant, at its own cost and 
/-, 

\_,_) expense, appear, defend and pay all charges of attorneys, costs and other expenses ansmg 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-vi 9.docx 20 



therefrom or incurred in connection therewith. Notwithstanding the forgoing, the 

indemnification covenant of the Developer shall be limited and shall not apply to the extent the 

alleged damages are attributable to the negligence or reckless or willful misconduct on the part 

of the Village or any of its officers, agents, employees or contractors. 

Section 15. Waiver. 

Any party to this Amended Agreement may elect to waive any remedy it may enjoy 

hereunder, provided that no such waiver shall be deemed to exist unless the party waiving such 

right or remedy does so in writing. No such waiver shall obligate such party to waive any right 

or remedy hereunder, or shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of other rights and remedies 

provided said party pursuant to this Amended Agreement. 

Section 16. Severability. 

If any section, subsection, term or provision of this Amended Agreement or the 

application thereof to any party or circumstance shall, to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, 

the remainder of said section, subsection, term or provision of this Amended Agreement or the 

application of same to parties or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid or 

unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby. 

Section 17. Notices. 

All notices, demands, requests, consents, approvals or other instruments required or 

permitted by this Amended Agreement shall be in writing and shall be executed by the party or 

an officer, agent or attorney of the party, and shall be deemed to have been effective as of the 

date of actual delivery, if delivered personally, or as of the third (3rd
) day from and including the 

date of posting, if mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, with postage 

I \ 

"----) prepaid, addressed as follows:

C:\Users\HMAIER-1 \AppData\Local\ Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 21 



To the Developer: 
Pal Land, LLC 
Attention: Joe Palumbo 
935 West Chestnut Street 
Suite 425 
Chicago, Illinois 60622 

With a copy to: 
Peter C. Bazos, Esq. 
Bazos, Freeman, Kramer, Schuster, Vanek & Kolb, LLC 
1250 Larkin Avenue 
Suite 100 
Elgin, Illinois 60123 

To the Village: 
Village of East Dundee 
c/o Frank Koehler, Village Administrator 
120 Barrington Avenue 
East Dundee, Illinois 60118 

With a copy to: 
Kathleen Field Orr, Esq. 
Kathleen Field Orr & Associates 
53 West Jackson 
Suite 935 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 

Section 18. Successors in Interest. 

This Amended Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to 

this Amended Agreement and their respective successors and assigns. 

Section 19. No Joint Venture, Agency or Partnership Created. 

Neither anything in this Amended Agreement nor any acts of the parties to this Amended 

Agreement shall be construed by the parties or any third person to create the relationship of a 

partnership, agency, or joint venture between or among such parties. 

Section 20. No Discrimination - Construction. 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ 1 \AppData\Local\ Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 22 



The Developer for itself and its successors and assigns agrees that in the construction of 

the improvements on the Combined Subject Property provided for in this Amended Agreement 

the Developer shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because 

of race, color, religion, sex or national origin. The Developer shall take affirmative action to 

require that applicants are employed and that employees are treated during employment, without 

regard to their race, creed, color, religion, sex or national origin. Such action shall include, but 

not be limited to, the following: employment upgrading, demotion or transfer; recruitment or 

recruitment advertising and solicitations or advertisements for employees; layoff or termination; 

rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

The Developer agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for 

employment, notices, which may be provided by the Village, setting forth the provisions of this 

nondiscrimination clause. The Developer shall comply with all applicable laws regarding rate of 

pay or other forms of compensation. 

Section 21. Remedies - Liability. 

(a) If, in the Village's judgment, the Developer is in material default of this Amended

Agreement, the Village shall provide the Developer with a written statement indicating any 

failure on the Developer's part to fulfill its obligations under this Amended Agreement. Except 

as required to protect against further damages, the Village may not exercise any remedies against 

the Developer in connection with such failure until thirty (30) days after giving such notice. If 

such default cannot reasonably be cured within-such thirty (30) day period, such thirty (30) days 

period shall be extended for such time as is reasonably necessary for the curing of the same, so 

long as the Developer diligently proceeds with such cure; if such default is cured within such 

extended period, the default shall not be deemed to constitute a breach of this Amended · 

C:\Users\HMAIER-1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 23 



Agreement. A default not cured as provided above shall constitute a breach of this Amended 

Agreement as provided in the written notice. Any failure or delay by the Village in asserting any 

of its rights or remedies as to any default or alleged default or breach shall not operate as a 

waiver of any such default or breach of any rights or remedies it may have as a result of such 

default or breach. 

(b) If the Developer materially fails to fulfill its obligations under this Amended

Agreement and such failure continues after notice is given by the Village pertaining to the 

Project and beyond the expiration of any applicable cure periods described in Section 21(a) 

above (hereinafter called a "Developer Default"), then, for the period during which such 

Developer Default shall be continuing and remain uncured, the Village may, as its sole and 

exclusive remedy under this Redevelopment Agreement, (i) suspend its evaluation and approval 

of any new or additional Requests for Reimbursement and the issuance of new Notes in 

connection therewith, (ii) decline to take any action towards issuing any TIF Revenue Bonds and 

I or (iii) seek to specifically enforce the terms and conditions of this Redevelopment Agreement. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in no event may the Village suspend or 

withhold payments as to Notes issued prior to the occurrence of such Developer Default. 

(c) If, in the Developer's judgment, the Village is in material default of this Amended

Agreement, the Developer shall provide the Village with a written notice ("Village Default 

Notice") of such default, including a statement indicating in adequate detail the nature of the 

Village's alleged default. The Village have 30 days from the date of such Village Default Notice 

within which to cure such default; provided, however, that if, by reason of the nature of such 

default it cannot be cured within such thirty (30) day period, such thirty (30) day period shall be 

extended for such time as is reasonably necessary for the curing of the same, so long as the 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19.docx 24 



------------------------·--------------� ---- ---····----------·--·-· 

(� Village diligently proceeds with such cure; if such default is cured within such extended period, 
�-�·
:___ __ ) the default shall not be deemed to constitute a breach of this Amended Agreement. Upon the 

failure by the Village to cure any such default after receipt of the Village Default Notice arid the 

expiration of the applicable cure period (hereinafter called an "Event of Default by the Village"),

the Developer shall have the right to institute legal action against the Village to cure, correct or 

remedy the Event of Default by the Village, or to obtain any other remedy consistent with the 

purpose of this Amended Agreement, either at law or in equity, including, but not limited to the 

equitable remedy of an action for specific performance as against the Village without the 

requirement of the posting of any bond. Any failure or delay by the Developer in asserting any 

of its rights or remedies as to any actual or alleged breach or Event of Default by the Village 

shall not operate as a waiver by the Developer of any such default or breach or Event of Default 

· /-� by the Village of any rights or remedies it may have as a result of such default or preach or
,, j 

Event of Default by the Village. 

(d) In addition to any other rights or remedies, but subject to the limitation of

remedies as set forth herein, a party may institute legal action against the other party to cure, 

correct or remedy any default, or to obtain any other remedy consistent with the purpose of this 

Amended Agreement, either at law or in equity, including, but not limited to the equitable 

remedy of an action for specific performance; provided, however, no recourse under or upon any 

obligation contained herein or for any claim based thereon shall be had against the Village, its 

officers, agents, attorneys, representatives or employees in any amount or in excess of any 

specific sum agreed to be paid by the Village hereunder, and no liability, right or claim at law or 

in equity shall be attached to or incurred by the Village, its officers, agents, attorneys, 

representatives or employees in any amount in excess of any specific sums agreed by the Village 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ 1 \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-vi 9.docx 25 



to be paid hereunder and any such claim is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition 

of and as consideration for the execution of this Amended Agreement by the Village. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event either party shall institute legal action against the 

other party because of a breach of any agreement or obligation contained in this Amended 

Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all costs and expenses, including 

reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred in connection with such action. 

( e) Except as otherwise limited or set forth herein, the rights and remedies of the

parties are cumulative and the exercise by a party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall 

not preclude the exercise by it, at the same time or different times, of any other rights or 

remedies for the same default or for any other default by the other party. 

Section 22. Amendment. 

This Amended Agreement, and any exhibits attached to this Amended Agreement, may 

be amended only in a writing signed by all parties with the adoption of any ordinance or 

resolution of the Village approving said amendment, as provided by law, and by execution of 

said amendment by the parties or their successors in interest. Except as otherwise expressly 

provided herein, this Amended Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations and 

discussions relative to the subject matter hereof. 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 26 



Section 23. Counterparts. 

This Amended Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of_which 

shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

[signature pages follow] 

C:\Users\HMAIER~ I \AppData\Local\Temp\notesFCBCEE\Amended Development Agreement-v 19 .docx 27 



----l 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 

executed by their duly authorized officers on the above date at East Dundee, Illinois. 

Attest: Jvw& __ _ 
¥!/kk 

Village of East 
corporation 

By: 

municipal 

Pal Land, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company 

U:\Boards & Commissions\2012\Special Board Meetings\! I 14 12\Amended Development Agreement-vl 'f .docx 28 



EXHIBIT A 

Parcel Map 

) 



PALUMBO CCDD FILL SITE 

TERRA BUSINESS PARK 
EXISTING TIF AREA 
95.9 ACRES 

Parcel A 

PARCEL A=95,9 AC, 
PARCEL B=23,7 AC, 
PARCEL C=25.8 AC. 
TOTAL RDA AREA=145,4 AC, 

'Cl 
0 

r;:i rr--• ('.' __ !J...J 
! hrr 



ExhibitB 

Legal Description of the Subject Property 

LEGAL D~SCRIPTION OF PARCELS A; B & C 

PARCELS A AND B: . 

PARCEL ONE: 

THAT PART OF SECTION 24 AND SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST·OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF
SAID SECTION 25; THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 
SECONDS EAST, ALONG TH_E NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A DISTANCE OF 1, 119,24 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS 
EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, A DISTANCE OF 234,00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 
DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1,200.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 

.. __ ..... DEGREES 52-MINUTES 13 ·SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 500.00 FEET; THENCE-NORTH 19 
DEGREES 52 MINUTES 13 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 400.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 . 
DEGREES 52 MINUTES 13 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 500,00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 43 
DEGREES 08 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 995.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 24 
DEGREas 53 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 3,010.00 FEET, TO THE NORTHERLY LINE 
OF PUBLIC HIGHWAY DEDICATED SEPTEMBER 16, 1939 AS DOCUMENT NO. 442170; THENCE NORTH 
61 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 02 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PUBLIC 

') ·HIGHWAY DEDICATED MARCH 31, 1922 As DOCUMENT 206554, A DISTANCE OF 704.61 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 28 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 58 S~CONDS EAST, 400.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 
DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 647.85 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45 · 
DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 WEST, A DiSTANCE OF 487.79 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 07 
MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 200.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING (EXCEPT 
THAT PART TAKEN BY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION OF STATE OF ILLINOIS THROUGH 
CASE92ED15 ON MARCH 28, 1995), IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, IN KANE"COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

ALSO EXCEPTING FROM PARCEL ON$ THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED Pf!-OPERTY: 

THAT PART OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF.THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, LYING NORTH OF A LINE 375,00 FEET NORTH OF (AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO 
AND PARALLEL WITH) THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF DUNDEE, IN 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

PARCEL TWO: 

THAT PART OF SECTION 24 AND SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING_ AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
SAID SECTJON 25; THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 00 
SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A DISTANCE OF 3,795.82 FEET TO A 
POINT 1,514.7 FEET WESTERLY OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 25, FOR THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST ON THE 
NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A DISTANCE OF 525.40 FEET TO A POINT 989.3 FEET 
WESTERLY OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 25; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 19 
MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 1,696.06 FEET, TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL 

(/-,I PHASE II RECORDED JULY 31, 1989 AS DOCUMENT NO. 1987463; THENCE NORTH 80 DEGREES 59 
\.__ __ ./ 



)------4 • 

SOUTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 54 SECONDS, WEST, 1498,76 FEET TO A LINE THAT IS 50.00 FEET 
EASTERLY OF (AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO) AND PARALLEL WITH THE NOR.THEASTERL Y 

· EXTENSION OF THE WESTERLY LINE OF LOT 10 IN ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL PHASE II AFORESAID; 
THENCE SOUTH 23 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 47 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE, 
816.17 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING,~ THE TOWNSHIP OF DUNDEE, IN KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 

ALSO EXCEPTING FROM PARCEL TWO THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY: 

THAT PART O_F SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
Iy1ER1DIAN, LYING NORTH OF A LINE 375.00 FEET NORTH OF-(AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO 
AND PARALLEL WITH) THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF DUNDEE, IN 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. . 

PARCEL FOUR: 

THAT PART OF THE WEST ONE HALF ·op SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; 
THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1,053.23 FEET TO THE · 
SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER OF DUNDEE TOWNSHIP CEMETERY RECORDED PER DOCUMENT NO. 
366360 FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS 
WEST, ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF _SAID DUNDEE TOWNSHIP CEMETERY RECORDED .PER 
DOCUMENT NO. 366360 AND DOCUMENT-NO. 802497 AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF BONNIE . 
DUNDEE TERRACEUNIT3 RECORDED JULY 12, '1977 AS DOCUMENT NO. 1414348 AND THE 
EASTERLY LINE OF THE FOURTH ADDITION TO BONNIE DUNDEE TERRACE UNIT 2 RECORDED 
JANUARY 22, 1960 AS DOCUMENT NO. 911247.AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF BONNIE ACRES 
RECORDED JULY26, 1956 AS DOCUMENT NO, 813020, A DISTANCE OF 3,219.16FEETTO THE. 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF ILLINOIS STATE ROUTE 68, DUNDEE ROAD (SBI ROUTE 63) ACCORDING TO 
THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED APRIL 12, 1929 AS DOCUMENT NO. 321472; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHER.LY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 68, BEING A CURVE TO THE 
RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 10,061.06 FEET, A DISTANCE OF 66.47 FEET TO A POINT 66 FEET 
EASTERLY OF AND NORMALLY DISTANT FROM THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID BONNIE ACRES; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, 66 FEET EASTERLY OF AND 
PARALLEL WITH THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID BONNIE ACRES, A DISTANCE OF 489'.10 FEET; 

. TijENCE SOUTH 72 DEGREES 02 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 246.17 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH-DO DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2,659.59 FEET, TO THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS 
WEST, ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 300.01 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNJNG, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

ALSO EXCEPTING FROM PARCEL FOUR THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY: 

THAT PART OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, LYlNG NORTB OF A LINE 375.00 FEET NORTH OF (AS MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO 
AND PARALLEL WITH) THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF :PUNDEE, IN 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. -

PARCEL FIVE: 

THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST ONE Q].JARTER OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE C) NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 25; THENCE ON AN ASSUMED BEARING OF SOUTH 89 



:, ... 

DEGREES 30 MINUTES OQ SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A 
DISTANCE Of 768.50 FEET FOR POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 89 DEGREES 30 
MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A DISTANCE OF 
350.74 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, A DlSTANCE OF 200.00 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH.45 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 487.79 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 07-MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 647.85 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 28 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 58 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 400.00 FEET, TO THE NORTH 
LINE OF PUBLIC HIGHWAY DEDICATED MARCH 31, 1922 PER DOCUMENT NO. 206554; THENCE 
NORTH 61 DEGREES S-6 MINUTES 02SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID 
PUBLIC HIGHWAY, A DISTANCE OF 410.00 FEET TO THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE PROPERTY 

· CONVEYED TO THE VtLLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE REC_ORDED FEBRUARY 22, 1971 AS DOCUMENT 
NO. 1183769; THENCE NORTH 28 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 58 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE EASTERLY 
LINE OF SAID PROPERTY CONVEYED TO THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, A DISTANCE OF 267.75 
FEET TO THE NORTHEASTERLY CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 61 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 02 
SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERL.Y ,LINE OF SAID PROPERTY CONVEYED TO THE VILLAGE 
OF EAST DUNDEE, A DISTANCE; OF 385.43 FEET, TO A LINET:iRA WN SOUTHERLY FROM TUE POINT 
_OF BEGINNING, SA1D LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 94 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 22 SECONDS (94 
DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS RECORD) MEASURED CLOCKWISE WITH THE NORTH LINE OF 
SAID SECTION; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID LINE, NORTH 04 DEGREES 02 MINUTES 22 
SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 933.WFEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING IN THE VILLAGE OF 
EAST DUNDEE, IN"KANRCOUNTY~ ILLINOIS:· · . ... .. . ' . 

P_ARCEL NINE: 

THAT PART OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 

. SAID SECTION 25; THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A DISTANCE OF 
768,50 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWEST.ERL Y ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 94 DEGREES, 30 
MINUTES MEASURED CLOCKWISE FROM THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 25, A DISTANCE OF 
933 .99 FEET TO THE TRUE"POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG 
THE EXTENSION OF THE LAST MENTIONED COURSE A DISTANCE OF 325.71 FEET TO THE 
ORIGINAL CENTER.LINE OF STATE ROUTE 72; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY 252.70 FEET ALONG SAID 
CENTERLINE; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY AT RIGHT ANGLES TO SAID CENTERLINE A DISTANCE 
OF297.75 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ON ALINE PARALLEL WITH SAID CENTERLINE A 
DISTANCE OF 384.71 FEET TO THE TRUE P01NT OF BEGINNING, BEING SITUATED IN DUNDEE 
TOWNSHIP, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

PARCELC: . 
THAT PART OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE 'I_'HIRD.PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, BOUNDED BY A LINE DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 17 SECONDS EAST 
(HAVING A DEED BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST), ALONG THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1,053.23 FEET TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY 
CORNER OF THE DUNDEE TOWNSHIP CEMETERY ACCORDING TO THE DEED RECORDED AUGUST 
17, 1933 AS DOCUMENT NO. 366360, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE A BEND POINT IN THE WEST I,,INE 
OF TERRA BUSINESS PARK SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED 
DECEMBER 26, 2007 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2007K124883: THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 02 MINUTES 30 
SECONDS EAST (HAVING A DEED BEARING OF NORTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 47 SECONDS 
WEST) ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED DUNDEE TO\¥NSHIP CEMETERY, 
SAID LINE ALSO BEING A WESTERLY LINE OF SAID TERRA BUSINESS PARK SUBDIVISION, 375.01 
FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID TERRA BUSIN:ESS PARl<. SUBDIVISION AND THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE PARCEL TO BE DESCRIBED; THENCE CONTINUlNG NORTH 00 
DEGREES 02 MINUTES 30 SECONDS. EAST (HAVING A DEED BEARING OF NORTH 00 DEGREES 07 
MINUTES 4 7 SECONDS WEST) AL(?NG THE EASTERLY LINE .OF DUNDEE TOWNSHIP CEMETERY, AS 



0 

MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHER.LY LINE OF SAID ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL . 
PHASE II, A DISTANCE OF 1,905, 15 FEET TO THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER THEREOF; THENCE 
SOUTH 23 DEGREES 35 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID ROCK 
ROAD INDUSTRIAL PHASE 11, A DISTANCE OF 715.85 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF PUBLIC 
HIGHWAY DEDICATED SEPTEMBER 16, 1939 AS DOCUMENT NO. 442170; THENCE NORTH 59 
DEGREES 44 MrNUTES 40 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PUBLIC 
HIGHWAY, A DISTANCE OF 227.40 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT; THENCE NORTH 61 DEGREES 56 
MINUTES 02 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PUBLIC HIGHWAY, A 
DISTANCE OF°74.37 FEET; THENCE NORTH 24 DEGREES 53 MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST, 3,010:00 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 71 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 41 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 700,00 FEET TO 
A LINE DRAWN NORTH 02 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST (NORTH 02 DEGREES 06 
MINUTES EAST RECORD) FROM A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE 
OF 1,514.7 FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER. OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 02 
DEGREES 00 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, 1,050.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING (EXCEPT 
THATPARTTAKENBYDEPARTMENTOF.TRANSPO~.TATIONOFSTATEOFILLINOISTHROUGH 
CASE 92ED15 ON MARCH 28, 1995) (ALSO EXCEPT PART IN ROCK ROAD DRIVE PER PLAT OF 
SUBDIVISION DOCUMENT 1999K018491), IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, IN KANE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 

EXCEPTING FROM PAR_~EL TWO THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPlJ.f?.TY:. 

THAT PART OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP42 NORTH, RANGE 8,.EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 10 IN 
ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL PHASE II, BEING A SUBDIVISION QF PART OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF . 
SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 

. ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JULY 31, 1989 AS DOCUMENT 1987463; THENCE 
SOUTH 80 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 39 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 10, 
51.67 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 80 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 
39 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 10, AND ALONG THE NORTHERLY 
LINE OF ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL PHASE II RESUBDIVISION I, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 5 

. THRU 9 BOTH INCLUSIVE, IN ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL PHASE II AFORESAID, ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT OF SAID ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL PHASE II RESUBDIVISION I RECORDED OCTOBER 26, 1999 
AS DOCUMENT 1999KI02206, AND ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL 
PHASE II RESUBDlVISlON II, BEING A RESUBDIVISiON OF LOTS 2, 3,_AND 4 IN ROCK ROAD 
INDUSTRIAL PHASE II AFORESAID, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL 
PHASE II RESUBDIVISION II RECORDED OCTOBER 26, 1999 AS DOCUMENT 1999Kl02207, AND 
ALONG TBE NORTHERLY LINE OF ROCK ROAD INDUSTRJAL SUBDIVISION - UNIT NO. 1, BEING A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF SECTION 25 AFORESAID, ACCOROING TO THE PLAT 
OF SAID ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL SUBDIVISION UNIT NO. 1 RECORDED APRIL 1, 1974 AS . . 
DOCUMENT 1293775, A DISTANCE OF 1774.60 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE, 
HERETOFORE DEDICATED BY ROCKY ROAD POWER SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF 
PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 25 AFORESAID,.ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID 
ROCKY ROAD POWER SUBDIVISION RECORDED FEBRUARY 19, 1999 BY DOCUMENT 1999K018491, 
SAID WEST LINE BEING A NON TANGENT CURVED LINE, CONCAVE TO THE WEST, HAVING A 
RADIUS OF 260.00 FEET; THENCE })'ORTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE, AN ARC DISTANCE 
OF 127.87 FEET (THE CHORD OF SAID ARC BEARS NORTH 13 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 20 SECONDS 
EAST, 126.58 FEET), THENCE CONTINUING AL,ONG SAID WEST LINE OF ROCK ROAD DRIVE NORTH 
00 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, 429.86 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 51 MINUTES 01 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF 
SAID ROCK ROAD DRIVE; 47.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, 
530.59 FEET(THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE, IF EXTENDED NORTHERLY, WOULD INTER~ECT THE 
SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE 
·THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, AT A POINT 988.94 FEE;T (DEED= 989.3 FEET) WEST OF THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE); THENCE 

' • I 



r-1 
I 

, •.. -.J 

[. 

AFOREMENTIONED AND THE EASTERLY LINE OF DUNDEE TOWNSHIP CEMETERY, ACCORDING TO 
THE DEED RECORDED MARCH 6, 1956 AS DOCUMENT NO. 802497, A DISTANCE OF 500.00 FEET; 

. THENCE SOUTH 86 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 13 SECONDS EAST, 2,773.28 FEET TO A POINT OF 
INTERSECTION WITH A LINE DRAWN PARALLEL WITH AND 689.99 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 24 AND A LINE DRAWN ON A BEARING OF NORTH 02 DEOReE.S 10 MINUTES 
33 SECONDS EAST (HAVING A DEED BEARING OF NORTH 02 DEGREES 06 MINUTES EAST)FROM A 
POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1,514.34 FEET (1,514.7 FEET DEED) 
WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 10 
MINUTES. 33 SECONDS WEST·(HAVING A DEED BEARING OF SOUTH 02 DEGREES 06 MINUTES · 
WEST), 315.29 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF TERRA BUSINESS PARK SUBDIVISION, AS 
AFOREMENTIONED, ; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 17 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE 
NORTHERLY LINE-OF SAID TERRA BUSINESS PARK.SUBDIVISION, 2,756.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS .. 



Exhibit C 

NOTE 

VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

SPECIAL TAX INCREMENT REVENUE NOTE 
(Note No. ) 

Tax Increment Redevelopment Project Area No. __ 

$ _____ _ 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the TIF 
Act, the Corporate Authorities, pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 06-40, 06-41 and 06-42, adopted on 
September 18, 2006, designated a Redevelopment Project Area and approved a Redevelopment 
Plan for the redevelopment of the Redevelopment Project Area known as the Dundee Route 25 
Redevelopment Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the TIF 

,r-·1 
Act, the Corporate Authorities, pursuant to Ordinance Nos. 10-25, 10-26 and 10-27, adopted on 

·• ... / May 17, 2010, designated a Redevelopment Project Area and approved a Redevelopment Plan 
for the redevelopment of the Redevelopment Project Area known as the Christina Drive 
Redevelopment Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the requirements of the TIF 
Act, the Corporate Authorities, pursuant to Ordinances. 06-40, 06-41 abd 06-42, adopted 
September 18, 2006, approved tax increment allocation financing for the purpose of 
implementing the Redevelopment Plan for the Dundee Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area 
and pursuant to Ordinances 10-25, 10-26 and 10-27, adopted May 17, 2010, approved tax 
increment allocation financing for the purpose of implementing the Christina Drive 
Redevelopment Project Area; and, 

WHEREAS, on November 14, 2012, the Village and Pal Land, LLC (the "Developer") 
entered into a certain Amended and Restated Development Agreement (the "Amended 
Agreement"), the terms and provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference. 
Capitalized terms used by not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings as set forth in the 
Amended Agreement; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Amended Agreement, the Village has agreed to reimburse 
the Developer for Redevelopment Project Costs incurred by the Developer in connection with or 
as a result of the development of certain portions of the Route 25 Redevelopment Project Area 
and the Christine Drive Redevelopment Project Area. 



(
,,,-

� . 
/ 

I 

--� NOW, THEREFORE, the Village, by and through the Corporate Authorities, covenants 
-i and agrees as follows: 

1. Incorporation of recitals and definitions of terms. The foregoing recitals are
incorporated into this Note as if they were fully set forth in this Section 1. 

2. Promise to pay. Subject to the terms, conditions and limitations contained in the
Amended Agreement, and until the Termination Date of the Amended Agreement, the Village 
promises to pay to the order of the Developer, when and as provided in the Amended Agreement, 
the principal sum of $ ____ ., together with interest on the balance of such principal sum 
outstanding from time to time at the rate of six percent ( 6%) per annum. 

3. Pledge of and lien on, Incremental Taxes deposited in the STAF THIS NOTE
SHALL BE PAYABLE FROM AND SECURED BY A PLEDGE OF, AND LIEN ON, 
INCREMENTAL TAXES DEPOSITED FROM TIME TO TIME IN THE PAL LAND SUB
ACCOUNT. SUCH PAYMENT, PLEDGE AND LIEN SHALL BE SUBJECT AND 
SUBORDINATE ONLY TO THE PRIOR PAYMENTS, PLEDGES AND LIENS PROVIDED 
FOR IN THE AMENDED AGREEMENT. 

4. Payments. So long as the Amended Agreement is in full force and effect,
payments on account of the indebtedness evidenced by this Note shall be made as set forth in the 
Amended Agreement .. 

Payments on this Note made from monies deposited in the Pal Land Sub-Account 
shall be applied to reduce the outstanding principal balance first and thereafter the interest 
obligations accrued hereunder. Payments made under this Note shall be in the amount of all 
monies in the Pal Land Sub-Account to the extent that said monies are available, as provided for 
in the Amended Agreement, to reimburse the Developer for the sums due hereunder. 

To the extent the Village executes and delivers other Notes pursuant to the terms 
of the Amended Agreement, payments of principal and interest obligations coming due on such 
other notes shall be made prior to the payments of principal and interest obligations coming due 
on this Note if such other Notes are dated as of a date which is earlier than the date of this Note, 
and such obligations shall continue to be of force and effect, with respect to each of such earlier 
dated Notes, until all principal and interest obligations coming due on such Notes have been 
satisfied in full by the Village. 

5. Place of payment. Payments made under this Note by the Village shall be made
by check payable to the order of the Developer and mailed to the Developer at such address as 
the Developer may designate in writing from time to time. 

6. Limited obligation of the Village. THIS NOTE IS NOT SECURED BY THE
r·-\ FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE VILLAGE AND IS NOT PAYABLE OUT OF THE 
\_,,; VILLAGE'S GENERAL REVENUE FUND. THIS NOTE CONSTITUTES A LIMITED 

I 



OBLIGATION OF THE VILLAGE, AND ALL PAYMENTS DUE UNDER THIS NOTE 
SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM INCREMENTAL TAXES THAT ARE AVAILABLE 
FOR SUCH PURPOSE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE AMENDED AGREEMENT. 
FAILURE OF THE VILLAGE TO REIMBURSE DEVELOPER FOR REDEVELOPMENT 
PROJECT COSTS DUE TO INSUFFICIENT FUNDS GENERATED WITHIN THE PAL 
LAND SUB-ACCOUNT SHALL NOT BE DEEMED A DEFAULT OF THIS NOTE ON THE 
PART OF THE Village. 

7. Default. If Incremental Taxes are available to make any payment required by this
Note, and the Amended Agreement is in full force and effect, and if the Village thereafter fails to 
make such payment, the Village shall be deemed to be in default under this Note. After any 
default, the Developer may bring an action in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce 

· payment of this Note, provided that the Developer shall have first given the Village notice of its
intent to bring such action and thirty (30) days to cure any such default. Failure of the Developer

. to exercise its right to bring an action to remedy a default hereunder shall not constitute a waiver 
of its right to bring an action to remedy any subsequent default. 

8. Miscellaneous.

(a) In any provision of this Note is found by a court of competent jurisdiction
to be in violation of any applicable law, and if such court should declare such provision to be 
unlawful, void or unenforceable as written, then it is the intent of the Village and the Developer 
that such provisions shall be given full force and effect to the fullest possible extent that is legal, 
valid and enforceable, that the remainder of this Note shall be construed as if such unlawful, void 
or unenforceable provision was not contained herein, and that the rights, obligations and interests 
of the Village and the Developer shall continue in full force and effect. 

(b) Upon endorsement, assignment or other transfer of this Note by the
Developer or by operation of law, the term "the Developer" as used herein shall mean such 
endorsee, assignee, or other transferee or successor of the Developer then becoming holder of 
this Note. This Note shall inure to the benefit of the Developer, its successors and assigns and 
successor holders of this Note, and shall be binding upon the Village and its successors and 
assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Note shall be fully assignable by the Developer to 
any lender who financed the development of the Subdivision. With the exception of any such 
lenders, this Note may only be assigned by the Developer to others with the prior written consent 
of the Village. 

( c) Any notice, request, demand, instruction or other document to be given or
served hereunder shall be addressed, delivered and · deemed effective as provided in the 
Development Agreement. 

(d) The provisions of this Note shall not be deemed to amend the provisions
of the Development Agreement in any respect. To the extent of any conflict or inconsistency 

( 
between the provisions of the Redevelopment Agreement and the provisions of this Note, the 

°'-:-- Development Agreement shall in all instances supersede and control. 



This Note is executed as of the date first written above . 

By: 

Attest: 

pyf;� 
Village Clerk 

. Village of East D 
corporation 

an Illinois municipal 



Exhibit D 
Zoning Ordinance for Parcel C 



519166_1 1 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING A FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND 
RESTATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF 

EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS AND PAL LAND LLC 

WHEREAS, the Village of East Dundee (“Village”) and PAL Land LLC 
(“Developer”) entered into an “Amended and Restated Development Agreement By And 
Between The Village Of East Dundee, Illinois And PAL Land LLC” on November 14, 
2012 (“Agreement”), regarding the development of the “Subject Property” as defined in 
the Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Developer desires to further develop portions of the Subject 
Property and the Village desires that the Developer do so; and 

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Developer to further develop portions of the 
Subject Property, the Village and the Developer agree to the amendments to the 
Agreement set forth in the “First Amendment To The Amended And Restated 
Development Agreement By And Between The Village Of East Dundee, Illinois And PAL 
Land LLC,” attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made part hereof (“Amendment”); and 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees find that the public’s health, 
safety and welfare are best served by the Village entering into the Amendment; 

BE IT ORDAINED, by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of East 
Dundee, Cook and Kane Counties, Illinois, as follows: 

SECTION 1: Incorporation. That each Whereas paragraph above is 
incorporated by reference into this Section 1 and made a part hereof as material and 
operative provisions of this Ordinance.  

SECTION 2: Approval. The Amendment is hereby approved, and the President 
and Clerk of the Village are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver such 
other instruments, including the Amendment, as may be necessary or convenient to 
consummate said property transaction, and as may be necessary or convenient to carry 
out the terms of the Amendment. 

SECTION 3: Severability. That if any Section, paragraph or provision of this 
Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such Section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 4:  Repeal. That all ordinances, resolutions, motions or parts thereof 
in conflict herewith shall be and the same are hereby repealed. 

22-20



519166_1 2 

SECTION 5: Effect. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect forthwith 
upon its adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.  

PASSED this __ day of ________, 2022 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES:________________________________________________________________ 

NAYES:_______________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT:______________________________________________________________ 

APPROVED by me this __ day of ________, 2022. 

________________________________________ 
Jeff Lynam, Village President  

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 
Katherine Diehl, Village Clerk  

Published in pamphlet form this __ day of ________, 2022, under the authority of the 
Village President and Board of Trustees.  

Recorded in the Village records on __________ __, 2022. 

2nd May

 2nd May

3rd May

May 3

Kunze

Sauder

Mahony, Brittin, Saviano and Treiber



519166_1 3 

EXHIBIT A 

First Amendment To The Amended And Restated Development Agreement By 
And Between The Village Of East Dundee, Illinois And PAL Land LLC 

(attached) 



















 516365_3 9 

  



 516365_3 10 

EXHIBIT J 
 

ROCK ROAD INDUSTRIAL PROJECT SITE PLAN 
 

(attached) 
 

  



 516365_3 11 

 
  



 516365_3 12 

 
EXHIBIT K 

 
LOT 2 RETAIL / COMMERCIAL BUILDING SITE PLAN 

 
(attached) 

 
  



 516365_3 13 

 
  



 516365_3 14 

 
EXHIBIT L 

 
ROCK ROAD EXTENSION LOCATION 

 
(attached) 

  



 516365_3 15 

 
 

  



 516365_3 16 

 
EXHIBIT M 

 
NORTHERN PROPERTY LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
(attached) 

  



 516365_3 17 

PROPOSED LOT 1 
 
THAT PART OF THE EAST HALF OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 42 NORTH, RANGE 
8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 24; THENCE 
NORTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF PENNY ROAD, 
3140.95 FEET AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 81 DEGREES 33 
MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, 362.87 FEET 
TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY 291.32 FEET ALONG 
THE ARC OF SAID CURVE TO THE RIGHT, AND SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, 
WHOSE RADIUS IS 1505.32 FEET AND WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 76 
DEGREES 00 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST, 290.87 FEET; THENCE NORTH 70 
DEGREES 28 MINUTES 12 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY 52.39 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST, 92.86 
FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY 42.91 FEET 
ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE TO THE LEFT, WHOSE RADIUS IS 550.00 FEET 
AND WHOSE CHORD BEARS NORTH 02 DEGREES 23 MINUTES 49 SECONDS 
WEST, 42.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 24 SECONDS 
EAST, 651.59 FEET TO THE AFORESAID EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION; THENCE 
SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST, ALONG SAID EAST LINE 
279.94 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, 
KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 
CONTAINING 3.50 ACRES OF LAND 

 
  



 516365_3 18 

 
EXHIBIT N 

 
NORTHERN PROPERTY DEPICTION 

 
(attached) 

  



 516365_3 19 

 
The Northern Property is Lot 1 on the survey below.  



 516365_3 20 

 

 
EXHIBIT O 

 
REAL ESTATE SALE CONTRACT 

 
(attached) 















































Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
   
Subject: Purchase of Real Property in Downtown TIF #4 (7 Maiden Lane, East Dundee)  
 
Date:   December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends Village Board approval of an ordinance authorizing the purchase of real 
property located at 7 Maiden Lane, East Dundee, IL 60118, (PINs 03-23-362-001, 03-26-107-001, 
03-23-360-008, 03-26-106-001 and 03-26-106-002) in the Downtown Tax Increment Financing 
District for the amount of $600,000. 
 
Funding Source: 
Downtown TIF #4 – Fund 39 
 
Summary: 
The Village has been working to purchase the former Haeger Potter factory (7 Maiden Lane, East 
Dundee, IL 60118) for the past year.  The seller and the Village have come to an agreement that 
satisfies all parties and anticipate a closing date of December 22, 2022. 
 
The purchase and sales agreement contains section 20 which details the resolution to the issue 
between the seller and the East Dundee Fire Protection District.  At closing, Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($50,000.00) will be paid out of escrow to resolve the memorandum of judgment in case #2017 
OV 1901 entered on July 27, 2022.  Additionally, proceeds from the sale of the property will be 
put towards redemption of the sold property taxes for tax year 2021. 
 
Last week staff from the public works, police and building departments met on-site with staff 
from the Fire Protection District to evaluate site safety and security.  A few measures will be 
implemented once the Village takes ownership, included fencing around portions of the building. 
 
Staff is actively working on drafting a Request for Proposals for the redevelopment of the 
property which will be on an upcoming Village Board meeting agenda for approval.   
 
 



Attachments: 
Ordinance 
Map Depicting PINs to be Purchased 
Purchase and Sales Contract 
 



 

 541213_1 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A REAL ESTATE SALE 
AGREEMENT AND SALE OF REAL PROPERTY 

(7 MAIDEN LANE, EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS) 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the President and Board of Trustees 
of the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, Illinois, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1:  The President and Board of Trustees of the Village find as follows: 
 

A. The Village of East Dundee (the “Village”) is a home rule municipality 
pursuant to Section 7 of Article VII of the Constitution of the State of Illinois. 

 
B. The State of Illinois has adopted tax increment financing pursuant to the 

Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq., 
as amended from time to time (the “TIF Act”).   

 
C. Pursuant to its powers and in accordance with the TIF Act, and pursuant to 

Ordinance Nos. 08-34, 08-35 and 08-36, adopted June 16, 2008, and as 
amended by Ordinance Number 18-28 on September 10, 2018, the 
Downtown Tax Increment Financing District (the “TIF District”) was formed 
as a TIF district, for a twenty-three (23) year period. Ordinance Nos. 08-34, 
08-35, 08-36 and 18-28 are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
D. Pursuant to and in accordance with the TIF Act and the Ordinances 

establishing the TIF District, the Corporate Authorities of the Village are 
empowered under Sections 4(c) and 3(q)(2) of the TIF Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-
74.4-4(c) and 3(q)(2), to purchase real property within the TIF district, using 
TIF District funds, in furtherance of the Redevelopment Plan and Project for 
the TIF District, including for the acquisition of the “Subject Property,” as 
defined in Section I.E. below. 

 
E. Maiden Industrial LLC (the “Seller”), is the owner of the real estate and 

appurtenances attached thereto for the property located at 7 Maiden Lane, 
East Dundee, Illinois (the “Subject Property”); identified by PINs 03-23-362-
001, 03-26-107-001, 03-23-360-008, 03-26-106-001 and 03-26-106-002 
and  
 

F.  The Village desires to acquire the Subject Property in furtherance of the 
Redevelopment Plan and Project for the TIF District. 
 

G.  It is the desire of the Seller to convey the Subject Property to the Village on 
the terms set forth in the “Real Sale Agreement,” and accompanying Riders, 
attached hereto as GROUP EXHIBIT A and made a part hereof 
(collectively, the “Agreement”). 



 

 541213_1 

 
H.  It is in the best interest of the Village to acquire the Subject Property, to 

ensure that redevelopment within the TIF District continues. 
 

SECTION 2: Based upon the foregoing, the Village President, Village Clerk and 
Village Manager be and are hereby authorized and directed to purchase the Subject 
Property pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, and they are 
further authorized and directed to execute and deliver such other instruments, including 
the Agreement, as may be necessary or convenient to consummate such purchase. 

 
SECTION 3:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.   
 

 
 ADOPTED this ___ day of December, 2022, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 
 
  AYES:___________________________________________ 
  
  NAYS:___________________________________________ 
 
  ABSENT:_________________________________________ 
 
 
 APPROVED this ___ day of December, 2022, by the Village President of the 
Village of East Dundee, and attested by the Village Clerk, on the same day. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
  Village President 

 
 APPROVED and FILED in my office this ___ day of _________, 2022 and 
published in pamphlet form in the Village of East Dundee, Kane and Cook Counties, 
Illinois. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
  Village Clerk  



 

 541213_1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

AGREEMENT 
(REAL ESTATE SALES CONTRACT AND ACCOMPANYING RIDERS) 

 
(attached) 

 
 



100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN

FLOODWAY

F

 

O

 

X

 

 

 

 

 

R

 

I

 

V

 

E

 

R

M

 
A

 
I
 
D

 
E

 
N

 
 
 
 
 
L

 
A

 
N

 
E

R

 
I
 
V

 
E

 
R

 
 
 
 
 
S

 
T

 
R

 
E

 
E

 
T

V

 
A

 
N

 
 
 
 
B

 
U

 
R

 
E

 
N

 
 
 
 
S

 
T

 
R

 
E

 
E

 
T

W
 I
 L

 L
 I
 A

 M
 S

  
  
  
 P

 L
 A

 C
 E

4.4  acres

1.5  acres

0.4  acres

J

 
O

 
H

 
N

 
S

 
O

 
N

 
 
 
 
 
 
S

 
T

 
R

 
E

 
E

 
T

3

3

0

'

1

3

2

'

1

3

2

'

1

2

0

'

1

2

0

'

1

8

5

'

33'

4

1

2

'

3
0
8
'

4

0

0

'

2

4

0

'

3'

Note:  Property Areas and Dimensions

shown are approximate only.

2

1

0

'

6

0

'

6

0

'

2

1

0

'

6

0

'

Scale:

NORTH
0

1" = 

25 50

50'

P:\2016\16991\Prom
otion\H

aeger Pottery, East D
undee\16991-H

aeger Pottery Base M
ap.dw

g

RevisionDateNo.

File N
am

e:  Apr 27, 2016 - 4:36pm
m

ike-a
Plot D

ate:
Plotted By:

Project M
anager:

Engineer:

Sheet

D
ate:

C
 2016 H

aeger Engineering, LLC

Project N
o.

consulting engineers
HAEGER ENGINEERING

land surveyors

BASE SITE
PLAN EXHIBIT

HAEGER
POTTERY
EAST DUNDEE, IL

M
 L A

4.23.2016

16-991

1
1



Page 1 of 4 
Buyer Initials: _________          Buyer Initials: _________                                        Revised 02/2020                                        Seller Initials: _________          Seller Initials: _________ 

© 2020 – Chicago Association of REALTORS® - All Rights Reserved 

CHICAGO ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® 
Multi-Family & Investment Purchase and Sale Contract 

 (For use with 2-4 unit or apartment/investment properties) 
This Contract is Intended to be a Binding Real Estate Contract 

 

1. Contract.  This Residential Real Estate Purchase and Sale Contract ("Contract") is made by and between 1 

___________________________________________________________("Buyer"), and ___________________________________________________________ ("Seller") 2 

(Buyer and Seller collectively, ("Parties"), with respect to the purchase and sale of the real estate and improvements located at 3 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ ("Property") which consists of _______ units.                                                                               4 
 

The Property P.I.N. # is ________________________________________________.  Lot Size:______________________________.  5 

Additional P.I.N. #(s) (if applicable) _____________________________________________________________________________. 6 
 

2. Fixtures and Personal Property.  At Closing (as defined in Paragraph 8 of this Contract), in addition to the Property, Seller shall transfer to Buyer by a Bill of Sale 7 

all heating, cooling, electrical and plumbing systems, and the following checked and enumerated items (collectively, “Fixtures and Personal Property”), which Fixtures and 8 

Personal Property are owned by Seller, and to Seller’s knowledge, are currently present on the Property and in operating condition as of the Acceptance Date:  9 

o Refrigerator___     o Sump Pump___   o Central air conditioner__ o Fireplace screen      o Built-in or attached  10 

o Oven/Range___     o Smoke and carbon monoxide o Window air conditioner___       and equipment___           shelves or cabinets__ 11 

o Microwave___           detectors__   o Electronic air filter___  o Fireplace gas log__      o Ceiling fan(s)___ 12 

o Dishwasher___     o Intercom system___   o Central humidifier___  o Firewood___      o Radiator covers___ 13 

o Garbage disposal__    o Security system___ (�rented or �owned) (check one)   o Attached gas grill__    o All planted vegetation 14 

o Trash compactor___  o Satellite Dish__    o Lighting fixtures___ o Existing storms       o Outdoor play set/swings 15 

o Washer__      o Attached TV(s)___   o Electronic garage door(s)      and screens___      o Outdoor shed 16 

o Dryer___     o TV Antenna___         with ___ remote unit(s)  o Window treatments___ 17 

o Water Softener___     o Multimedia equipment___   o Tacked down carpeting  o Other Equipment ______________________________________ 18 
 

Seller shall also transfer the following:____________________________________________________________________________________________________________. 19 

The following items are excluded from transfer: ____________________________________________________________________________________________________. 20 
 

3. Purchase Price.  The purchase price for the Property (including the Fixtures and Personal Property) is $__________________________ ("Purchase Price"). 21 
 

4. Closing Cost Credit (Optional).  Check if applicable o Seller agrees to credit to Buyer at Closing (check one) o $____________ OR  o _____% of Purchase Price 22 

(“Closing Cost Credit”), to be applied to prepaid expenses, closing costs or both as lender permits, and that such credit appears on the Master Statement or Closing 23 

Disclosure. 24 
 

5. Home Warranty (Optional).  Check if applicable o Seller agrees to provide Buyer with a Home Warranty at Closing, at a cost of no less than: $____________. 25 
 

6. Earnest Money.  Upon the Parties execution and delivery of this Contract, Buyer shall deposit with _______________________________________ ("Escrowee"), 26 

earnest money in the amount of $__________________, in the form of _____________________________ within _____ Business Days after the Acceptance Date.  The 27 

earnest money shall be increased to (check one) o ______% [percent] of the Purchase Price, OR o a total of $_______________________________ ("Earnest Money") 28 

within _____ Business Days after the conclusion of the Attorney Approval Period (as established in Paragraph 17 of this Contract). The Parties acknowledge and agree that 29 

(i) the Parties shall execute all necessary documents with respect to the handling of the Earnest Money in form and content mutually agreed upon between the Parties and 30 

(ii) unless otherwise agreed, Buyer shall pay all expenses incurred in opening an escrow account for the Earnest Money. 31 
 

7. Mortgage Contingency.  Parties agree that this Contract (check one) o [is]  o [is not] subject to Paragraph 7, Mortgage Contingency. If [is not] is checked, 32 

then this Paragraph 7 does not apply. This Contract is contingent upon Buyer securing by ________________________ ("First Commitment Date") a written mortgage 33 

commitment for a fixed rate or an adjustable rate mortgage permitted to be made by a U.S. or Illinois savings and loan association, bank, or other authorized financial 34 

institution, in the amount of (check one) o $________________ OR o ____% [percent] of the Purchase Price, the interest rate (or initial interest rate if an adjustable rate 35 

mortgage) not to exceed _______% per year, amortized over ______ years, payable monthly, loan fee not to exceed _______%, plus appraisal and credit report fee, if any 36 

("Required Commitment"). Buyer shall pay for private mortgage insurance as required by the lending institution. If a FHA or VA mortgage is to be obtained, Rider 8 or Rider 37 

9 shall be attached to this Contract.  (1) If Buyer is unable to obtain the Required Commitment by the First Commitment Date, Buyer shall so notify Seller in writing on or 38 

before that Date.  Thereafter, Seller may, within 30 Business Days after the First Commitment Date ("Second Commitment Date"), secure the Required Commitment for 39 

Buyer upon the same terms, and may extend the Closing Date by 30 Business Days. The Required Commitment may be given by Seller or a third party. Buyer shall furnish 40 

all requested credit information, sign customary documents relating to the application and securing of the Required Commitment, and pay one application fee as directed 41 

by Seller. Should Seller choose not to secure the Required Commitment for Buyer, this Contract shall be null and void as of the First Commitment Date, and the Earnest 42 

Money shall be returned to Buyer.  (2) If Buyer notifies Seller on or before the First Commitment Date that Buyer has been unable to obtain the Required Commitment, and 43 

neither Buyer nor Seller secures the Required Commitment on or before the Second Commitment Date, this Contract shall be null and void and the Earnest Money shall be 44 

returned to Buyer.  (3) If Buyer does not provide any notice to Seller by the First Commitment Date, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived this contingency and this Contract 45 

shall remain in full force and effect. 46 
 

8. Closing.  Buyer shall deliver the balance of the Purchase Price (less the amount of the Earnest Money, Closing Cost Credit, plus or minus prorations and escrow 47 

fees, if any) to Seller and Seller shall execute and deliver the Deed (as defined below) to Buyer ("Closing").  Closing shall occur on or prior to ________________________ 48 

at a time and location mutually agreed upon by the Parties ("Closing Date").  49 
 

9. Possession.  Unless otherwise agreed to in Rider 22 Post-Closing Possession Rider, Seller agrees to deliver possession of the property, subject to existing leases, 50 

at Closing. If Seller does not surrender possession at Closing, Seller shall be considered in default of this Contract. 51 



Page 2 of 4 
Buyer Initials: _________          Buyer Initials: _________                                        Revised 02/2020                                        Seller Initials: _________          Seller Initials: _________ 

© 2020 – Chicago Association of REALTORS® - All Rights Reserved 

 
10. Deed.  At Closing, Seller shall execute and deliver to Buyer, or cause to be executed and delivered to Buyer, a recordable warranty deed ("Deed") with release of 52 

homestead rights (or other appropriate deed if title is in trust or in an estate), or Articles of Agreement, if applicable, subject only to the following, if any: covenants, 53 

conditions, and restrictions of record; public and utility easements; acts done by or suffered through Buyer; all special governmental taxes or assessments confirmed and 54 

unconfirmed; homeowners or condominium association declaration and bylaws, if any; general real estate taxes not yet due and payable at the time of Closing; and the 55 

rights of tenants under existing leases affecting the Property, if any. 56 
 

11. Real Estate Taxes.  Seller represents that the total 20____ general real estate taxes for the Property and all P.I.N.s referenced paragraph 1 of this Contract were 57 

$__________________.   General real estate taxes for the Property are subject to the following exemptions (check box if applicable): o Homeowner's. o Senior Citizen's.  58 

o Senior Freeze.  o Historical Tax Freeze.  General real estate taxes shall be prorated based on _________% of the most recent ascertainable full year tax bill, unless 59 

mutually agreed to otherwise by the Parties in writing prior to the expiration of the Attorney Approval Period. 60 
 

12.  Leases.  Seller shall deliver to Buyer a complete copy of all existing leases affecting the Property and a rent roll within 5 Business Days of the Acceptance Date. 61 

Seller represents and warrants that the present monthly gross rental income is $__________________. Seller shall notify Buyer, prior to Closing, of any (i) new leases; (ii) 62 

modifications or amendments to the existing leases, and (iii) changes in the monthly gross rental income. All existing leases, if any, will be assigned by Seller and assumed 63 

by Buyer at Closing through an assignment and assumption agreement mutually agreeable to the Parties. 64 

 65 

13. Zoning Certification; Full Payment Certificate.       If Property is subject to the current City of Chicago Zoning Ordinance, then Seller shall: (i) provide zoning 66 

certification to Buyer at least 5 Business Days prior to Closing; and (ii) provide a full payment certificate to Buyer on or before the Closing Date. 67 

 
14. Code Violations. Seller warrants that Seller (choose one)  o [has]  OR   o [has not]   received notice from any city, village, or other governmental authority 68 
of an issued dwelling code violation that currently exists on the Property ("Code Violation Notice"). Buyer (choose one)  o [agrees]  OR  o [does not agree]  to purchase 69 
Property subject to such Code Violation Notice. If a Code Violation Notice is received after the Acceptance Date and before Closing, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer of the 70 
Code Violation Notice. If the matters specified in such Code Violation Notice are not resolved prior to Closing, Buyer may terminate this Contract by Notice to Seller and this 71 
Contract shall be null and void. 72 
 
15. Disclosures.  Buyer has received the following (check Yes or No): (a) Illinois Residential Real Property Disclosure Report: o Yes/o No; (b) Heat Disclosure 73 

(gas/electric): o Yes/o No; (c) Lead Paint Disclosure and Pamphlet: o Yes/o No; and (d) Radon Disclosure and Pamphlet: o Yes/o No. 74 
 

16. Confirmation of Dual Agency. If initialed below, Licensee is acting as a “Designated Agent” for both Buyer and Seller, (“Dual Agency”). The Parties confirm that 75 

they have previously consented and agreed to have ____________________________________________________ ("Licensee") act as Dual Agent in providing brokerage 76 

services on behalf of the Parties and specifically consent to Licensee acting as Dual Agent on the transaction covered by this Contract. Initial below if Buyer and Seller 77 

consented to Dual Agency on the transaction covered by this Contract. 78 
 

This Paragraph 16 is a part of this Contract only if initialed by the Parties.        Buyer Initials: _______       _______        Seller Initials: _______      _______ 79 
 

17. Attorney Modification. Within ____ Business Days after the Acceptance Date ("Attorney Approval Period"), the attorneys for the respective Parties, by notice, 80 

may: (a) approve this Contract in its entirety; or (b) propose modifications to this Contract ("Proposed Modifications"), which Proposed Modifications shall not include 81 

modifications to the Purchase Price or broker's compensation. If written agreement is not reached by the Parties with respect to resolution of the Proposed Modifications, 82 

then either Party may terminate this Contract by serving notice, whereupon this Contract shall be null and void and the Earnest Money returned to Buyer. Unless otherwise 83 

specified, all notices shall be provided in accordance with Paragraph D of the General Provisions. In the absence of delivery of Proposed Modifications prior to the 84 

expiration of the Attorney Approval Period, the provisions of this Paragraph shall be deemed waived by the Parties and this Contract shall remain in full force and effect. 85 
 

18. Inspection.  Within ____ Business Days after the Acceptance Date ("Inspection Period"), Buyer may conduct, at Buyer's sole cost and expense (unless otherwise 86 

provided by law) home, radon, environmental, lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards (unless separately waived), wood infestation, and/or mold inspections of 87 

the Property ("Inspections") by one or more properly licensed or certified inspection personnel (each, an "Inspector").  The Inspections shall include only major components 88 

of the Property, including, without limitation, central heating, central cooling, plumbing, well, and electric systems, roofs, walls, windows, ceilings, floors, appliances, and 89 

foundations.  A major component shall be deemed to be in operating condition if it performs the function for which it is intended, regardless of age, and does not constitute 90 

a health or safety threat.  Buyer shall indemnify Seller from and against any loss or damage to the Property or personal injury caused by the Inspections, Buyer, or Buyer's 91 

Inspector.  Prior to expiration of the Inspection Period, Buyer shall notify Seller or Seller's attorney in writing ("Buyer's Inspection Notice") of any defects disclosed by the 92 

Inspections that are unacceptable to Buyer, together with a copy of the pertinent pages of the relevant Inspection report(s). Buyer agrees that minor repairs and 93 

maintenance collectively costing less than $250 shall not constitute defects covered by this Paragraph. If the Parties have not reached written agreement resolving the 94 

inspection issues within the Inspection Period, then either Party may terminate this Contract by written notice to the other Party.  In the event of such notice, this Contract 95 

shall be null and void and the Earnest Money shall be returned to Buyer. In the absence of written notice prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period, this provision 96 

shall be deemed waived by all Parties, and this Contract shall be in full force and effect. 97 

 
19. General Provisions, Riders and Addendums.  THIS CONTRACT WILL BECOME A LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT WHEN SIGNED BY BUYER AND SELLER AND 98 

DELIVERED TO BUYER OR BUYER'S DESIGNATED AGENT.  THIS CONTRACT INCLUDES THE GENERAL PROVISIONS ON THE LAST PAGE OF THIS CONTRACT AND THE 99 

FOLLOWING RIDERS AND ADDENDUMS, IF ANY,  _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 100 

___________________________________________________________________________________, WHICH ARE ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THIS CONTRACT. 101 

 
 
This Contract shall be of no force or effect if not accepted by Seller on or before ______________________________. 102 

 
 
 



Page 3 of 4 
Buyer Initials: _________          Buyer Initials: _________                                        Revised 02/2020                                        Seller Initials: _________          Seller Initials: _________ 

© 2020 – Chicago Association of REALTORS® - All Rights Reserved 

 
OFFER DATE: ____________________________. 103 

 
BUYER’S INFORMATION: 104 

 
Buyer’s Signature: _________________________________________________ 105 

Buyer’s Name (print): ______________________________________________ 106 

 
Buyer’s Signature: _________________________________________________ 107 

Buyer’s Name (print): ______________________________________________ 108 

 
Address: _________________________________________________________ 109 

 
Phone 1: ________________________ Phone 2:  ________________________ 110 

Email 1: __________________________________________________________ 111 

Email 2: __________________________________________________________  112 

ACCEPTANCE DATE: ____________________________ (“Acceptance Date”). 
 
SELLER’S INFORMATION: 
 
Seller’s Signature: _________________________________________________ 

Seller’s Name (print): ______________________________________________ 

 
Seller’s Signature: _________________________________________________ 

Seller’s Name (print): ______________________________________________ 

 
Address: _________________________________________________________ 
 
Phone 1: ________________________ Phone 2:  ________________________ 

Email 1: __________________________________________________________ 

Email 2: __________________________________________________________

 
The names and addresses set forth below are for informational purposes only and subject to change 113 

 
Buyer’s Broker’s Information: 114 

Designated Agent: _________________________________________________ 115 

Agent MLS #: ________________  Agent License #: _______________________ 116 

Brokerage: _______________________________________________________ 117 

Brokerage MLS #: ______________ Brokerage License #: __________________ 118 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 119 

Agent Phone: ______________________ Agent Fax: ______________________ 120 

Email: ___________________________________________________________ 121 

 

Buyer’s Attorney’s Information: 122 

Attorney Name: ___________________________________________________ 123 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 124 

Phone: __________________________ Fax: ____________________________ 125 

Email: ___________________________________________________________ 126 

 

Buyer’s Lender’s Information: 127 

Lender’s Name: ___________________________________________________ 128 

Company Name: __________________________________________________ 129 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 130 

Phone: __________________________ Fax: ____________________________ 131 

Email: ___________________________________________________________ 132 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Seller’s Broker’s Information: 

Designated Agent: _________________________________________________ 

Agent MLS #: ________________  Agent License #: _______________________ 

Brokerage: _______________________________________________________ 

Brokerage MLS #: ______________ Brokerage License #: __________________ 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 

Agent Phone: ______________________ Agent Fax: ______________________ 

Email: ___________________________________________________________ 

 

Seller’s Attorney’s Information: 

Attorney Name: ___________________________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 

Phone: __________________________ Fax: ____________________________ 

Email: ___________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 133 
A. Prorations.  Rents actually received by Seller pursuant to existing leases affecting the Property, interest on existing mortgage being assumed by Buyer, if any, water 134 
and sewer charges, real estate taxes and other items shall be prorated as of the Closing Date.  Security deposits, if any, shall be paid to Buyer at Closing.  Notwithstanding 135 
anything to the contrary contained in Paragraph 11 of this Contract, if the Property is improved as of the Closing Date, but the last available tax bill is on vacant land, Seller shall 136 
place in escrow an amount equal to 2% of the Purchase Price and the Parties shall reprorate taxes within 30 days after the bill on the improved property becomes available.  137 
B. Uniform Vendor and Purchaser Risk Act. The provisions of the Uniform Vendor and Purchaser Risk Act of the State of Illinois shall be applicable to this Contract. 138 
C. Title.  At least 5 Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer or his agent evidence of merchantable title in the grantor by delivering a 139 
Commitment for Title Insurance of a title insurance company bearing a date on or subsequent to the Acceptance Date, in the amount of the Purchase Price, subject to no other 140 
exceptions than those previously listed within this Contract and to general exceptions contained in the commitment.  Delay in delivery by Seller of a Commitment for Title 141 
Insurance due to delay by Buyer's mortgagee in recording mortgage and bringing down title shall not be a default of this Contract.  Every Commitment for Title Insurance 142 
furnished by Seller shall be conclusive evidence of title as shown.  If evidence of title discloses other exceptions, Seller shall have 30 days after Seller's receipt of evidence of title 143 
to cure the exceptions and notify Buyer accordingly.  As to those exceptions that may be removed at Closing by payment of money, Seller may have those exceptions removed 144 
at Closing by using the proceeds of the sale. Seller shall be responsible for the cost of the title insurance policy issued to Buyer by the title insurance company at Closing. 145 
D. Notice.  All notices required by this Contract shall be in writing and shall be served upon the Parties or their attorneys at the addresses or contact information 146 
provided.  The mailing of notice by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, shall be sufficient service. Notices may also be served by personal delivery, commercial 147 
delivery service, by the use of a facsimile machine, or e-mail transmission. E-mail and facsimile notice shall be deemed valid when transmitted. In addition, facsimile signatures 148 
or digital signatures shall be sufficient for purposes of executing this Contract and shall be deemed originals.  Each Party shall retain a copy of proof of facsimile transmission 149 
and e-mail notice and provide such proof, if requested. 150 
E. Disposition of Earnest Money. In the event of any default by either Party, Escrowee may not distribute the Earnest Money without the joint written direction of 151 
Seller and Buyer or their authorized agents.  However, if Escrowee has not received the joint written direction of both Seller and Buyer or their authorized agents, then Escrowee 152 
may give written notice to Seller and Buyer of the intended disbursement of Earnest Money, indicating the manner in which Escrowee intends to disburse in the absence of any 153 
written objection. If neither Party objects, in writing, to the proposed disposition of the Earnest Money within 30 days after the date of the notice, then Escrowee shall proceed 154 
to dispense the Earnest Money as previously noticed by Escrowee.  If either Seller or Buyer objects in writing to the intended disposition within the 30 day period, then the 155 
Escrowee may deposit the Earnest Money with the Clerk of the Circuit Court by the filing of an action in the nature of an Interpleader.  Escrowee may withdraw from the Earnest 156 
Money all costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, related to the filing of the Interpleader, and the Parties shall indemnify and hold Escrowee harmless from any and all 157 
claims and demands, including the payment of reasonable attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses arising out of those claims and demands. In the event of default by Buyer, the 158 
Earnest Money, less expenses and commission of the listing broker, shall be paid to Seller.  If Seller defaults, the Earnest Money, at the option of Buyer, shall be refunded to 159 
Buyer, but such refunding shall not release Seller from the obligations of this Contract.   160 
F. Operational Systems.  Seller represents that the heating, plumbing, electrical, central cooling, ventilating systems, appliances, and fixtures on the Property are in 161 
working order and will be so at the time of Closing.  Buyer shall have the right to enter the Property during the 48-hour period immediately prior to Closing solely for the purpose 162 
of verifying that the operational systems and appliances serving the Property are in working order and that the Property is in substantially the same condition, normal wear and 163 
tear excepted, as of the Acceptance Date. 164 
G. Insulation and Heat Disclosure Requirements.  If the Property is new construction, Buyer and Seller shall comply with all insulation disclosure requirements as 165 
provided by the Federal Trade Commission, and Rider 13 is attached.  If the Property is located in the City of Chicago, Seller and Buyer shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 166 
5-16-050 of the Municipal Code of Chicago concerning heating cost disclosure for the Property. 167 
H. Escrow Closing.  At the written request of Seller or Buyer received prior to the delivery of the Deed, this sale shall be closed through an escrow with a title insurance 168 
company, in accordance with the general provisions of the usual form of deed and money escrow agreement then furnished and in use by the title insurance company, with 169 
such special provisions inserted in the escrow agreement as may be required to conform with this Contract.  Upon the creation of an escrow, payment of Purchase Price and 170 
delivery of deed shall be made through the escrow, this Contract and the Earnest Money shall be deposited in the escrow, and the Broker shall be made a party to the escrow 171 
with regard to commission due.  The cost of the escrow shall be divided equally between Buyer and Seller except that any money lender escrow fee shall be paid for by the Buyer. 172 
 I. Legal Description and Survey.  At least 5 Business Days prior to Closing, Seller shall provide, at Seller’s cost and expense, Buyer with a survey by a licensed land 173 
surveyor dated not more than six months prior to the date of Closing, showing the present location of all improvements. If Buyer or Buyer’s mortgagee desires a more recent 174 
or extensive survey, the survey shall be obtained at Buyer’s expense. The Parties may amend this Contract to attach a complete and correct legal description of the Property.  175 
J. Affidavit of Title; ALTA.  Seller agrees to furnish to Buyer an affidavit of title subject only to those items set forth in this Contract, and an ALTA form if required by 176 
Buyer's mortgagee, or the title insurance company, for extended coverage. 177 
K. RESPA and FIRPTA.  Buyer and Seller shall make all disclosures and do all things necessary to comply with the applicable provisions of the Real Estate Settlement 178 
Procedures Act of 1974 (RESPA), as amended. Buyer and Seller shall comply with the reporting requirements of the applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code and the 179 
Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act (FIRPTA). Unless otherwise disclosed in writing, Seller represents that Seller is a United States Taxpayer and will deliver a FIRPTA 180 
Affidavit evidencing same to Closing. 181 
L. Transfer Taxes.  Seller shall pay the amount of any stamp tax imposed by the state and county on the transfer of title, and shall furnish a completed declaration 182 
signed by Seller or Seller's agent in the form required by the state and county, and shall furnish any declaration signed by Seller or Seller's agent or meet other requirements as 183 
established by any local ordinance with regard to a transfer or transaction tax.  Any real estate transfer tax required by local ordinance shall be paid by the person designated 184 
in that ordinance. 185 
M. Removal of Personal Property. Seller shall remove from the Property by the Closing Date all debris and Seller's personal property not conveyed by Bill of Sale to 186 
Buyer. 187 
N. Surrender.  Seller agrees to surrender possession of the Property in broom-clean condition and in the same condition as it was on the Acceptance Date, ordinary 188 
wear and tear excepted, subject to Paragraph B of the General Provisions of this Contract.  To the extent that Seller fails to comply with this Paragraph, Seller shall not be 189 
responsible for that portion of the total cost related to this violation that is below $250.00.  190 
O. Time.  Time is of the essence for purposes of this Contract. 191 
P. Number.  Wherever appropriate within this Contract, the singular includes the plural. 192 
Q. Flood Plain Insurance.  In the event the Property is in a flood plain and flood insurance is required by Buyer's lender, Buyer shall pay for that insurance. 193 
R. Business Days and Time.  Business Days are defined as Monday through Friday, excluding Federal holidays. Business Hours are defined as 8:00 AM to 6:00 PM 194 
Chicago Time. 195 
S. Patriot Act.  Seller and Buyer represent and warrant that they are not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any person, group, entity, or nation named by 196 
Executive Order or the United States Treasury Department as a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person, or other banned or blocked person, entity, nation or 197 
transaction pursuant to any law, order, rule or regulation which is enforced or administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC"), and that they are not engaged in 198 
this transaction directly or indirectly on behalf of, or facilitating this transaction directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, group, entity, or nation.  Each Party shall 199 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the other Party from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees 200 
and costs) arising from or related to any breach of the foregoing representation and warranty. 201 
T. Brokers.  The real estate brokers named in this Contract shall be compensated in accordance with their agreements with their clients and/or any offer of 202 
compensation made by the listing broker in a multiple listing service in which the listing and cooperating broker both participate. 203 
U. Executed Contract.  The listing broker shall hold the fully executed copy of this Contract. 204 

Page 4 of 4 
Buyer Initials: _________          Buyer Initials: _________                                        Revised 02/2020                                        Seller Initials: _________          Seller Initials: _________ 

© 2020 – Chicago Association of REALTORS® - All Rights Reserved 

 



This "As Is" Addendum Rider ("Rider") is made a part of and incorporated into the certain real estate contract 1 

between ___________________________________________ ("Buyer") and _______________________________ ("Seller") 2 

on ____________________, 20____ ("Contract") for the purchase and sale of the real estate commonly known as: 3 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ ("Property"). 4 
  (address)          (unit #)  (city)       (state)  (zip) 5 

I. Except as modified by this Rider, all of the terms and conditions contained in the Contract remain in full6 

force and effect.  In the event of any conflict between the terms and conditions of this Rider and the terms and7 

conditions of the Contract, the terms and conditions of this Rider shall prevail.  Capitalized terms used but not8 

defined in this Rider shall have the meanings given to them in the Contract.9 

II. Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that the Property is being sold to Buyer in its existing, "as is"10 

condition ("As Is"), and Seller shall not be responsible for the repair, replacement or modification of any11 

deficiencies, malfunctions or mechanical defects on the Property or to any improvements thereon, including but12 

not limited to the material, workmanship or mechanical components of the structures, foundations, roof, heating,13 

plumbing, electrical or sewage system, drainage or moisture conditions, air conditioning, hot water heater,14 

appliances, or damage by the presence of pests, mold or other organisms.  Seller makes no representation or15 

warranty to Buyer, either express or implied, as to the (1) condition of the Property, (2) the zoning of the16 

Property, or (3) the suitability of the Property for Buyer's intended use or purpose or for any other use or17 

purpose.  However, Seller represents and warrants that Seller shall maintain and repair the Property so that the18 

Property, including all personal property located thereon that is included in the sale pursuant to the Contract,19 

will be in substantially the same condition on the Closing Date as on the Effective Date of the Contract.20 

Furthermore, Seller (strike one) does / does not agree to remove all debris and personal property not included in21 

the sale from the Property prior to the Closing Date.22 

III. Buyer is advised to conduct independent inspections and investigations of the Property within the23 

Inspection Period specified in the Contract.  If Buyer's inspections uncover any defects in the Property, (i) Buyer24 

shall be entitled to terminate the Contract prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period as provided in the25 

Contract, and (ii) Seller shall have no obligation whatsoever to correct such defects or repair the Property as a26 

result of such inspections.27 

IV. Seller acknowledges and agrees that selling the Property "As Is" does not relieve Seller from applicable28 

legal obligations to disclose any and all known material latent defects in the Property and the improvements29 

thereon, if any, to Buyer.30 

V. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that: (a) Buyer has been advised to seek appropriate counsel regarding31 

the risks of buying Property in its "As Is" condition; (b) neither Buyer's nor Seller's respective brokers are32 

qualified, or licensed, to conduct due diligence or inspections with respect to the Property or the surrounding33 

area; and (c) Buyer expressly releases and hold harmless brokers from and against any liability for any defects or34 

conditions in the Property and the improvements thereon, if any, that could have been discovered by an35 

investigation or inspection.36 

__________________________________________   ___________________________________________ 37 

Buyer's Signature                         Date  Seller's  Signature                            Date 38 

__________________________________________   ___________________________________________ 39 

Buyer's Signature                         Date  Seller's  Signature                            Date 40 

# 5205404_v2 

RIDER 19 

"AS IS" ADDENDUM 
This Contract is Intended to be a Binding Real Estate Contract



{00129524.1}  541125_1 

RIDER NO. 1: AMENDMENT TO CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CHICAGO ASSOCIATION 
OF REALTORS MULTI-FAMILY & INVESTMENT PURCHASE AND SALE CONTRACT FOR 

 7 MAIDEN LANE, EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS,  
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, AS BUYER,  

AND MAIDEN INDUSTRIAL LLC, AS SELLER 
 
To the extent that this Rider differs from or is inconsistent with the terms or provisions of the 

Chicago Association of Realtors Multi-Family & Investment Purchase and Sale Contract (the 
“Contract”), the terms of this Rider supersede the terms of the Contract and shall govern and control 
the agreement of the parties. 

 
The following modifications and additions are made to the Chicago Association of Realtors Multi-

Family & Investment Purchase and Sale Contract between Buyer the Village of East Dundee, an Illinois 
municipal corporation, and Seller Maiden Industrial LLC, hereinafter referred to as the “Contract,” relative 
to real property commonly known as 7 Maiden Lane, East Dundee, Illinois: 

 
1. Section 8 (Closing): Strike “December 15, 2022,” and replace with “December 22, 2022.”    
 
2. Section 11 (Real Estate Taxes):  Add “2021 taxes have been sold and shall be paid out of escrow as a 
debit to Buyer’s proceeds at closing.” 
 
3. Section 19 (General Provisions, Riders and Addendums): Strike the entire paragraph, and replace 
with the following: 
 

“19. General Provisions, Riders and Addendums. Seller acknowledges that because the Buyer 
is an Illinois municipal corporation, this Contract is subject to the approval of and is not enforceable 
until approved at an open meeting by the Board of Trustees of the Buyer. If approval of the Contract 
is not given by the Board of Trustees, this Contract shall be null and void and of no further force 
and effect. This Contract includes the General Provisions on the last page of this Contract and the 
following Riders and Addendums: “Rider No. 1” (Amendment to Certain Provisions of the Chicago 
Association of Realtors Multi-Family & Investment Purchase and Sale Contract for 7 Maiden Lane, 
East Dundee, Illinois) & “Rider 19” (As-Is Addendum), which are attached to and made a part of 
this Contract. 
 
This Contract shall be of no force or effect if not accepted by Seller on or before December 
7, 2022.” 
 

 
4.   New Sections 20 (Resolution of Memorandum of Judgment), 21 (Litigation) and 22 (Easements) 
are added, to read in their entirety as follows:   
 

“20. Resolution of Memorandum of Judgment. At closing, Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) 
shall be paid out of escrow as a debit to Buyer’s proceeds to fully resolve the “Memorandum of 
Judgment” in 2017 OV 1901 entered on July 27, 2022 between the Seller and the East Dundee Fire 
Protection District, and an appropriate release reflecting such payment in full shall be recorded by 
the Title Company.  

 
21. Litigation. Other than case number 2017 OV 1901 in the Circuit Court for the Sixteenth Judicial 
Circuit in Kane County, Illinois, Seller is not a party to any, and there is presently no pending or, to 
Seller’s knowledge, threatened, litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding: (i) with any present 
or former tenant of the Property; (ii) with any person or entity concerning any aspect of the Property or 



 

{00129524.1}  541125_1 2 

having or claiming any interest in the Property; (iii) which affects or questions Seller’s title to the 
Property or Seller’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement; or (iv) which otherwise 
affects or relates to the Property. 
 
22. Easements.  Seller represents that the Property has full and free access on all perimeter areas 
to and from public streets, such that no private easements or agreements are necessary to afford 
access to or from the Property. 

 
5. Section L of the GENERAL PROVISIONS. Strike the entire paragraph and replace with the following:   

 
“L. Transfer Taxes. The parties acknowledge that as Buyer is a governmental entity, this 
transaction is exempt from any State, County or local real estate transfer tax pursuant to 35 ILCS 
200/31-45(b). Seller is obligated to furnish completed Real Estate Transfer Declarations signed by 
Seller or Seller’s agent in the form required pursuant to the Real Estate Transfer Tax Act of the 
State of Illinois. Any real estate transfer tax required by local ordinance shall be paid by the person 
designated in that ordinance.” 

 
6. A new Section W (Keys; Access) is added to the GENERAL PROVISIONS, to read in its 
entirety as follows:  
 

W. Keys; Access. On or prior to the Closing Date (or by such earlier date as agreed to by the 
Parties), Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer all keys and electronic pass cards or 
devices to all entrance doors to, and equipment and utility rooms and vault boxes located in or on, 
the Property. 

 
 
 
SELLER:      BUYER: 
 
BY:         BY:        
 
Title:         Title:        
 
Date:         Date:        
 
 
 



Memorandum 

  
To:   Village President and Board of Trustees  
 
From:  Erika Storlie, Village Administrator 
  Brandiss Martin, Administrative Services Director 
   
Subject: Police Pension Funding Presentation   
 
Date:   December 5, 2022 

______________________________________________ 
 
Action Requested:   
Staff recommends Village Board discussion of current and future police pension funding 
strategies. 
 
Summary: 
Lauterbach & Amen, the Police Pension Actuary, will be present this evening to give a 
presentation on the funding status of the Village’s Police Pension.  Staff will also provide 
snapshots of previous funding and recommendations for next year’s funding. 
 
Attachments: 
• East Dundee Police Pension Fund Actuarial Funding Report for the Contribution Year May 1, 

2022 to April 30, 2023 
• Contribution History 
• Presentation 

 



  

 
 
  
 
 
 

Actuarial Funding Report 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EAST DUNDEE POLICE 
PENSION FUND 

 
 

 
Actuarial Valuation 
as of May 1, 2022 

 
For the Contribution Year May 1, 2022 to April 30, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 
 
 



  

Actuarial Valuation – Funding Recommendation 
 

 
 

 
 
 

EAST DUNDEE POLICE PENSION FUND 
 

Contribution Year Ending: April 30, 2023 
Actuarial Valuation Date: May 1, 2022 

Utilizing Data as of April 30, 2022 
 

 

 
Submitted by: 
 
Lauterbach & Amen, LLP 
668 N. River Road 
Naperville, IL 60563 
Phone: 630.393.1483 
www.lauterbachamen.com 
 
Contact: 
 
Todd A. Schroeder 
Director 
October 12, 2022 
 

LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 



                         TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 

ACTUARIAL CERTIFICATION .............................................................................................................. 5 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY .................................................................................................................. 7 
Recommended Contribution ................................................................................................................................................ 8 
Funded Status ...................................................................................................................................................................... 8 
Management Summary – Comments and Analysis ............................................................................................................. 9 
Actuarial Recommended Contribution – Reconciliation ................................................................................................... 15 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS.......................................................................................................... 16 
Fair Value of Assets ........................................................................................................................................................... 17 
Fair Value of Assets (Gain)/Loss ....................................................................................................................................... 18 
Development of the Actuarial Value of Assets .................................................................................................................. 19 
Actuarial Value of Assets (Gain)/Loss .............................................................................................................................. 19 
Historical Asset Performance ............................................................................................................................................ 20 

RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION DETAIL ..................................................................................... 22 
Actuarial Accrued Liability ............................................................................................................................................... 23 
Funded Status .................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
Development of the Employer Normal Cost ...................................................................................................................... 24 
Normal Cost as a Percentage of Expected Payroll ............................................................................................................. 24 
Recommended Contribution Breakdown ........................................................................................................................... 24 
Schedule of Amortization – Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability ................................................................................. 25 
Actuarial Methods – Recommended Contribution ............................................................................................................ 26 

ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION ........................................................................................................ 27 
Alternative Contribution .................................................................................................................................................... 28 
Funded Status – Alternative Contribution ......................................................................................................................... 28 
Actuarial Methods – Alternative Contribution .................................................................................................................. 30 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION DATA ....................................................................................................... 31 
Active Members ................................................................................................................................................................. 32 
Inactive Members .............................................................................................................................................................. 32 
Summary Of Monthly Benefit Payments ........................................................................................................................... 32 
Age and Service Distribution ............................................................................................................................................. 33 

ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICIES ...................................................................................................... 34 
Actuarial Cost Method ....................................................................................................................................................... 35 
Financing Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability.............................................................................................................. 35 
Actuarial Value of Assets .................................................................................................................................................. 37 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS ............................................................................................................... 38 
Nature of Actuarial Calculations ....................................................................................................................................... 39 
Actuarial Assumptions in the Valuation Process ............................................................................................................... 39 
Assessment of Risk Exposures .......................................................................................................................................... 40 
Limitations of Risk Analysis ............................................................................................................................................. 40 
Assessment and Use of Actuarial Models.......................................................................................................................... 41 
Actuarial Assumptions Utilized ......................................................................................................................................... 42 



                         TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS .............................................................................. 45 
Establishment of the Fund ................................................................................................................................................. 46 
Administration ................................................................................................................................................................... 46 
Member Contributions ....................................................................................................................................................... 46 
Regular Retirement Pension Benefit .................................................................................................................................. 46 
Regular Retirement Pension Benefit - Continued .............................................................................................................. 47 
Early Retirement Pension Benefit ...................................................................................................................................... 47 
Surviving Spouse Benefit .................................................................................................................................................. 48 
Termination Benefit – Vested ............................................................................................................................................ 49 
Disability Benefit ............................................................................................................................................................... 50 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS ......................................................................................................................... 51 
Glossary of Terms .............................................................................................................................................................. 52 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



 
 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 5 

 
 

ACTUARIAL CERTIFICATION 
 
This report documents the results of the Actuarial Valuation for the East Dundee Police Pension Fund.  
The information was prepared for use by the East Dundee Police Pension Fund and the Village of East 
Dundee, Illinois for determining the Recommended Contribution, under the selected Funding Policy, and 
the Alternative Contribution for the Contribution Year May 1, 2022 to April 30, 2023.  It is not intended 
or suitable for other purposes.  Determinations for purposes other than the Employer’s Actuarial 
Recommended Contribution may be significantly different from the results herein. 
 
The results in this report are based on the census data and financial information submitted by the East 
Dundee Police Pension Fund, and may include results from the prior Actuary.  We did not prepare the 
Actuarial Valuations for the years prior to May 1, 2016.  Those valuations were prepared by the prior 
Actuary whose reports have been furnished to us, and our disclosures are based on those reports.  An audit 
of the prior Actuary’s results was not performed, but high-level reviews were completed for general 
reasonableness, as appropriate, based on the purpose of this valuation.  The accuracy of the results is 
dependent on the precision and completeness of the underlying information. 
 
In addition, the results of the Actuarial Valuation involve certain risks and uncertainty as they are based 
on future assumptions, market conditions, and events that may never materialize as assumed.  For this 
reason, certain assumptions and future results may be materially different than those presented in this 
report.  See the Management Summary section of this report for a more detailed discussion of the Defined 
Benefit Plan Risks, as well as the limitations of this Actuarial Valuation on assessing those risks.  We are 
not aware of any known events subsequent to the Actuarial Valuation Date, which are not reflected in this 
report but should be valued, that may materially impact the results. 
 
The valuation results summarized in this report involve actuarial calculations that require assumptions 
about future events.  The East Dundee Police Pension Fund selected certain assumptions, while others 
were the result of guidance and/or judgment from the Plan’s Actuary or Advisors.  We believe that the 
assumptions used in this valuation are reasonable and appropriate for the purposes for which they have 
been used.  The selected assumptions represent our best estimate of the anticipated long-term experience 
of the Plan, and meet the guidelines set forth in the Actuarial Standards of Practice. 
 
In preparing the results, our Actuaries used commercially available software (ProVal) developed by 
Winklevoss Technologies, LLC.  This software is widely used for the purpose of performing Actuarial 
Valuations.  Our Actuaries coded the plan provisions, assumptions, methods, and participant data 
summarized in this report, and reviewed the liability and cost outputs for reasonableness.  We are not 
aware of any material weaknesses or limitations in the software, and have determined it is appropriate for 
performing this valuation. 
 



 
 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 6 

 
 

To the best of our knowledge, all calculations are in accordance with the applicable funding requirements, 
and the procedures followed and presentation of results conform to generally accepted actuarial principles 
and practices as prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board.  The undersigned consultants of Lauterbach 
& Amen, LLP, with actuarial credentials, meet the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of 
Actuaries to render this Actuarial Certification.  There is no relationship between the East Dundee Police 
Pension Fund and Lauterbach & Amen, LLP that impairs our objectivity. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 

  LAUTERBACH & AMEN, LLP 
 

                                              
 

Todd A. Schroeder, ASA, FCA, EA, MAAA Robert L. Rietz, Jr., FCA, EA, MAAA 



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 
 
 

Recommended Contribution 
Funded Status 

Management Summary – Comments and Analysis 
Actuarial Recommended Contribution – Reconciliation 

 
 

 
 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 8 

 
 

RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION 
 

 
 

 
FUNDED STATUS 
 

 
 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 9 

 
 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY – COMMENTS AND ANALYSIS 
 
Contribution Results 
The Recommended Contribution is based on the selected Funding Policy and methods that are outlined in 
the Actuarial Funding Policies section of this report. 
 
“Contribution Risk” is defined by the Actuarial Standards of Practice as the potential for actual future 
contributions to deviate from expected future contributions.  For example, when actual contributions are 
not made in accordance to the Plan’s Funding Policy, or when future experience deviates materially from 
assumed.  While it is essential for the Actuary and Plan Sponsor to collaborate on implementing a sound 
and financially feasible Funding Policy, it is important to note that the Actuary is not required, and is not 
in the position to, evaluate the ability or willingness of the Plan Sponsor to make the Recommended 
Contribution under the selected Funding Policy. 
 
As a result, while Contribution Risk may be a significant source of risk for the Plan, this Actuarial 
Valuation makes no attempt to assess the impact of future contributions falling short of those 
recommended under the selected Funding Policy.  Notwithstanding the above, see the Actuarial 
Recommended Contribution – Reconciliation section of this report for the impact on the current 
Recommended Contribution of any contribution shortfalls or excesses from the prior year. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan Risks 
Asset Growth: 
Pension funding involves preparing Fund assets to pay for benefits when Members retire.  During their 
working careers, assets grow with contributions and investment earnings; and then, the Pension Fund 
distributes assets in retirement.  Based on the Plan’s current mix of Members and Funded Status, the Plan 
should experience positive asset growth, on average, if the Recommended Contributions are made and 
expected investment earnings come in.  In the current year, the Fund asset growth was negative by 
approximately $1,057,000. 
 
Asset growth is important in the long-term.  Long-term cash flow out of the Pension Fund is primarily 
benefit payments, and expenses are a smaller portion.  The Plan should monitor the impact of expected 
benefit payments on future asset growth.  We assess and project all future benefit payments as part of the 
determination of liability.  The assessment is made on all current Members of the Fund, both active and 
inactive.  For active Members, the assessment includes the probability that Members terminate or retire 
and begin receiving benefits.  In the next 5 years, benefit payments are anticipated to increase 25-30%, or 
approximately $254,000.  In the next 10 years, the expected increase in benefit payments is 50-55%, or 
approximately $532,000.  The estimated increase in benefit payments is being compared against the 
benefits paid to inactive Members during the fiscal year, excluding any refunds of Member Contributions. 
 
Furthermore, plans with a large number of inactive Members have an increased “Longevity Risk”.  
Longevity Risk is the possibility that inactive Members may live longer than projected by the Plan’s 
mortality assumption.  As shown in the previous paragraph, benefit payments are expected to increase 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 10 

 
 

over the next 5-year and 10-year horizons.  The projected increases assume that current inactive Members 
pass away according to the Plan’s mortality assumption.  To the extent that current inactive Members live 
longer than expected, the future 5-year and 10-year benefit projections may be larger than the amounts 
disclosed in the previous paragraph.  Higher levels of benefit payments, payable for a longer period of 
time, may cause a significant strain to the Plan’s cash flow, future Recommended Contributions, and may 
lead to Plan insolvency. 
 
Unfunded Liability: 
Unfunded Liability represents the financial shortfall of the Actuarial Value of Assets compared to the 
Actuarial Accrued Liability.  To the extent that Unfunded Liability exists, the Plan is losing potential 
investment earnings due to the financial shortfall.  Contributions towards Unfunded Liability pay for the 
lost investment earnings, as well as the outstanding unfunded amount.  If payments towards Unfunded 
Liability are not made, the Unfunded Liability will grow. 
 
In the early 1990s, many Pension Funds in Illinois adopted an increasing payment towards Unfunded 
Liability due to a change in legislation.  The initial payment decreased, and future payments are anticipated 
to increase annually after that.  In many situations, payments early on were less than the interest on 
Unfunded Liability, which means that Unfunded Liability increased even though contributions were made 
at the recommended level. 
 
The current Recommended Contribution includes a payment towards Unfunded Liability that is 
approximately $266,000 greater than the interest on Unfunded Liability.  All else being equal, and 
contributions being made, Unfunded Liability is expected to decrease.  The Employer and Fund should 
anticipate that improvement in the current Percent Funded will be mitigated in the short-term.  The 
Employer and Fund should understand this impact as we progress forward to manage expectations. 
 
Actuarial Value of Assets: 
The Pension Fund smooths asset returns that vary from expectations over a 5-year period.  The intention 
over time is that asset returns for purposes of funding recommendations are a combination of several years.  
The impact is intended to smooth out the volatility of Recommended Contributions over time, but not 
necessarily increase or decrease the level of contributions over the long-term. 
 
When asset returns are smoothed, there are always gains or losses on the Fair Value of Assets that are 
going to be deferred for current funding purposes, and recognized in future years.  Currently, the Pension 
Fund is deferring approximately $521,000 in losses on the Fair Value of Assets.  These are asset losses 
that will be recognized in upcoming periods, independent of the future performance of the Fair Value of 
Assets. 
 
Cash Flow Risk: 
Assets, liabilities, and Funded Status are good metrics to monitor over time to assess the progress of the 
Funding Policy.  However, these metrics may provide limited forward-looking insights.  Specifically, the 
maturity of a Pension Fund can pose certain risks that often cannot be assessed with a point-in-time metric 
such as Percent Funded. 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 11 

 
 

For example, two different Pension Funds could have the same Percent Funded, but have completely 
different risk profiles.  One Fund might mostly cover active Members with little to no Members in pay 
status, whereas a second Fund might mostly cover inactive Members with a significant level of annual 
benefit payments.  The latter Fund has a greater “Cash Flow Risk”, i.e. a more significant chance that 
negative cash flows could lead to a deteriorating, rather than improving, Percent Funded over time. 
 
It is important to note that, in general, positive net cash flows are good, but also need to be sufficient to 
cover the growth in the liabilities (i.e. the Normal Cost as well as interest on the Actuarial Accrued 
Liability).  Typically, when cash flows are assumed to be insufficient to cover the growth in liabilities, the 
Percent Funded will decline, while future Recommended Contributions will increase. 
 
For this Plan, the Fair Value of Assets is less than the Actuarial Accrued Liability for inactive Members.  
The Fund assets and anticipated investment earnings are not sufficient to cover the benefits payable to the 
current inactive Members.  In addition, there is currently no money set aside for active Member liability.  
There are two consequences.  First, we are limiting the impact of investment earnings on accruing money 
for the active Members due to utilizing those dollars to pay for the current inactive Members.  Second, 
there is Cash Flow Risk that exists in that a higher portion of the assets is needed to keep up with cash 
flow out for benefit payments, and a higher relative investment return is required to keep cash flow positive 
in any given year. 
 
Benefit Payment Risk: 
Ideally, plans in a sound financial position will have the ratio of annual benefits payments to the Fair 
Value of Assets to be less than the Expected Rate of Return on Investments assumption (i.e. 6.50%).  
Theoretically, in this case it can be considered that investment returns will fully cover the annual benefit 
payments, and therefore, all Employer and Member Contributions made to the Fund will be used to pay 
for future benefit accruals and pay down the existing Unfunded Liability.  To the extent that the ratio of 
the annual benefit payments to the Fair Value of Assets increases to above the Expected Rate of Return 
on Investments assumption, the Plan may experience some additional risks, such as the need to keep assets 
in more liquid investments, inability to pay down Unfunded Liability, and may lead to Plan insolvency. 
 
As of the Valuation Date, the East Dundee Police Pension Fund has a ratio of benefit payments to the Fair 
Value of Assets of 9.57%.  In this case, a portion of the Employer Contributions are being used to pay the 
annual benefit payments creating Benefit Payment Risk and Cash Flow Risk.  The Percent Funded of the 
Plan may not grow as quickly as expected under the current Funding Policy, since the amortization 
payment towards the Unfunded Liability is not being fully realized.  As shown in the Asset Growth section 
of this report, the 5-year and 10-year horizons of future benefit payments are expected to increase.  The 
Plan Sponsor should monitor the percentage of annual benefit payments to the Fair Value of Assets and 
consider changing the Funding Policy if this ratio continues to increase. 
 
 
 
 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 12 

 
 

Fund Assets 
The results in this report are based on the assets held in the Pension Fund.  Assets consist of funds held 
for investment and for benefit payments as of the Actuarial Valuation Date.  In addition, assets may be 
adjusted for other events representing dollars that are reasonably expected to be paid out from the Pension 
Fund or deposited into the Pension Fund after the Actuarial Valuation Date as well. 
 
The current Fund assets are audited.   
 
The Actuarial Value of Assets under the Funding Policy is equal to the Fair Value 
of Assets, with unexpected gains and losses smoothed over 5 years.  More detail 
on the Actuarial Value of Assets can be found in the Actuarial Funding Policies 
section of this report. 

The Fund 
Assets Used in 

this Report 
are Audited. 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 13 

 
 

Demographic Data 
Demographic factors can change from year to year within the Pension Fund.  Changes in this category 
include hiring new Members, Members retiring or becoming disabled, inactive Members passing away, 
and other changes.  Demographic changes can cause an actuarial gain (contribution that is less than 
expected compared to the prior year) or an actuarial loss (contribution that is greater than expected 
compared to the prior year). 
 
Demographic gains and losses occur when the assumptions over the one-year period for Member changes 
do not meet our long-term expectation.  For example, if no Members become disabled during the year, we 
would expect a liability gain.  If more Members become disabled than anticipated during the year, we 
would expect a liability loss.  Generally, we expect short-term fluctuations in demographic experience to 
create gains or losses of 1%-3% of the Actuarial Accrued Liability in any given year, but to balance out 
in the long-term. 
 
“Demographic Risk” occurs when Plan demographic experience differs significantly from expected.  
Similar to Longevity Risk discussed previously, additional risk is created when demographic experience 
differs from the assumed rates of disability, retirement, or termination.  Under the chosen assumptions, 
actuarial gains and/or losses will always occur, as the assumptions will never be exactly realized.  
However, the magnitude of the gain and/or loss and its influence on the Recommended Contribution 
largely depends on the size of the Plan. 
 
Based on the number of active Members in the Plan, the Recommended Contribution has a moderate risk 
of having a significant increase due to demographic experience.  For example, 1 new disabled Member 
would typically generate a substantial increase to the Actuarial Accrued Liability, which in turn, may 
increase the Recommended Contribution. 
 
In the current report, the key demographic changes were as follows: 
 
Mortality:  As inactive Members age and continue to collect benefits, the Fund liability will increase.  In 
the current year, there were 14 inactive Members who maintained their benefit collection status throughout 
the year.  The increase in the Recommended Contribution in the current year due to the mortality 
experience is approximately $7,900. 
 
Salary Increases: Salary increases were greater than anticipated in the current year.  This caused an 
increase in the Recommended Contribution in the current year of approximately $11,800. 
 
Assumption Changes 
In the current valuation, we have reviewed the individual pay increases assumption to reflect the 
Negotiated Agreement between the Metropolitan Alliance of Police East Dundee Police Chapter #453 and 
the Village of East Dundee for the period May 1, 2021 through April 30, 2025.  The year over year step 
increases dictated by the salary schedule did not change from the prior salary schedule; therefore, we have 
not updated the individual pay increases assumption. 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 14 

 
 

Funding Policy Changes 
The Funding Policy was not changed from the prior valuation. 
 
Other Considerations 
The best due diligence continues to be the process of annually reviewing assumptions, provisions, and 
methodologies.  Our commitment to reviewing new information regularly continues to be at the forefront 
of our reporting.  In the current valuation, we have updated the underlying valuation software to value the 
most accurate estimate of Surviving Spouse benefits, including the expected Cost-of-Living Adjustments, 
described under the Illinois State Statutes.  As a result, this caused a decrease in the Actuarial Accrued 
Liability of approximately $1,070,000, with a corresponding decrease in the Recommended Contribution 
of approximately $104,000. 
 



 

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 15 

 
 

ACTUARIAL RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION – RECONCILIATION 
 
Actuarial Accrued Liability is expected to increase each year for both interest for the year and as active 
Members earn additional service years towards retirement.  Similarly, Actuarial Accrued Liability is 
expected to decrease when the Fund pays benefits to inactive Members. 
 
Contributions are expected to increase as expected pay increases under the Funding Policy for the Fund. 
 

 
 
Other increases or decreases in Actuarial Accrued Liability (key changes noted below) will increase or 
decrease the amount of Unfunded Liability in the Plan.  To the extent that Unfunded Liability increases 
or decreases unexpectedly, the contribution towards Unfunded Liability will also change unexpectedly. 
 

 
 
*Impact on the Recommended Contribution due to asset return is on an Actuarial Value of Assets basis. 
 
The Actuarial Experience can be attributable to several factors including Actuarial Valuation software 
changes, demographic changes, and benefit payment experience compared to expectation.  Key 
demographic changes were discussed in the Demographic Data section of this report. 
 

Actuarial 
Liability

Recommended 
Contribution

Prior Valuation 20,850,533$    1,119,740$      

Expected Changes 647,242           36,391             

Initial Expected Current Valuation 21,497,775$    1,156,131$      

Actuarial 
Liability

Recommended 
Contribution

Salary Increases Greater than Expected 14,524$           11,821$           

Actuarial Experience (998,862)          (98,399)            

Assumption Changes -                       -                       

Asset Return Less than Expected* -                       3,309               

Contributions Less than Expected -                       33,817             

Total Increase/(Decrease) (984,338)$        (49,452)$          

Current Valuation 20,513,437$    1,106,679$      



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS 
 
 

Fair Value of Assets 
Fair Value of Assets (Gain)/Loss 

Development of the Actuarial Value of Assets 
Actuarial Value of Assets (Gain)/Loss 

Historical Asset Performance 
 

 

 
 



 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 17 

 
 

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS 
 
Statement of Assets 
 

 
 

 
Statement of Changes in Assets 
 

 
 
The Rate of Return on Investments shown above has been determined as a percent of the average of the 
prior and current Fair Value of Assets on the Statement of Changes in Assets.  The Return on Investments 
is net of Other Expenses, and has been excluded from the Total Fair Value of Assets at the end of the 
Fiscal Year for this calculation. 



 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 18 

 
 

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS (GAIN)/LOSS 
 
Current Year (Gain)/Loss on Fair Value of Assets 
 

 
 
The (Gain)/Loss on the current Fair Value of Assets has been determined based on the Expected Rate of 
Return on Investments as shown in the Actuarial Assumptions section of this report. 
 



 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 19 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT OF THE ACTUARIAL VALUE OF ASSETS 
 

 
 

 
ACTUARIAL VALUE OF ASSETS (GAIN)/LOSS 
 

 
 
The Actuarial Value of Assets incorporates portions of gains and losses over multiple years. 



 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 20 

 
 

HISTORICAL ASSET PERFORMANCE 
 
The chart below shows the historical Rates of Return on Investments for both Fair Value of Assets and 
Actuarial Value of Assets. 
 

 
 
The historical Rates of Return on Investments shown above were calculated based on the annual Return 
on Investments, as a percentage of the average value of the assets for the year. 
 
For purposes of determining the average value of assets for the year, the ending Fair Value of Assets has 
been adjusted to net out to the portion related to the Return on Investments themselves.  All other cash 
flows are included. 
 
For purposes of determining the annual Return on Investments we have adjusted the figures shown on the 
preceding pages.  The figures shown on the preceding pages are net of Investment Expenses.  We have 
made an additional adjustment to net out Administrative Expenses.  Netting out Administrative Expenses 
allows us to capture returns for the year that can be used to make benefit payments as part of the ongoing 
actuarial process. 
 
The adjustments we made are for actuarial reporting purposes only.  By netting out Administrative 
Expenses and capturing Return on Investments that are available to pay benefits, it provides us a 
comparison to the Expected Rate of Return on Investments, but does not provide a figure that would be 
consistent with the rates of return that are determined by other parties.  Therefore, this calculated Return 
on Investments should not be used to analyze investment performance of the Fund or the performance of 
the investment professionals. 
  

Fair Value
of Assets

Actuarial Value 
of Assets

FYE 2022  (7.95%) 5.94%

FYE 2021 22.34% 8.52%

FYE 2020 3.95% 4.48%

FYE 2019 5.84% 4.88%

FYE 2018 4.39% 4.96%

FYE 2017 7.08% 5.47%

FYE 2016 0.80% 5.30%



 

VALUATION OF FUND ASSETS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 21 

 
 

Expected Rate of Return on Investments Assumption  
The Expected Rate of Return on Investments for this valuation is 6.50%.  Lauterbach & Amen, LLP does 
not provide investment advice.  We look at a variety of factors when reviewing the Expected Rate of 
Return on Investments assumption selected by the Board.  These factors include: historical Rates of Return 
on Investments, capital market projections performed by the Fund’s investment advisors, the Fund’s 
investment policy, capital market forward-looking benchmark expected returns by independent 
investment companies, rates used by comparable pension systems, and other factors identified in the 
Actuarial Standards of Practice. 
 
Generally speaking, the ideal assumption for Expected Rate of Return on Investments is one that has a 
50% chance of being met over the long-term.  If actual returns going forward come in less than expected, 
the pension system risks deferring contributions to the future that should be made today and creating 
additional contribution volatility.  Reducing the Expected Rate of Return on Investments by 25 basis points 
produces a Recommended Contribution that is 5.61% higher than currently shown. 
 
“Investment Risk” is the potential that actual Return on Investments will be different from what is 
expected.  The selected Expected Rate of Return on Investments assumption is chosen to be a long-term 
assumption, producing a return that, on average, would produce a stable rate of return over a long-term 
horizon.  Actual asset returns in the short-term may deviate from this long-term assumption due to current 
market conditions.  Furthermore, establishing the Expected Rate of Return on Investments assumption 
may be dependent on the Illinois State Statutes pertaining to the limitations on types of investments Plan 
Sponsors may use.  If the actual annual rates of return are less than the Expected Rate of Return on 
Investments, actuarial losses will be produced, thus increasing the Plan’s Unfunded Liability and, 
subsequently, future Recommended Contributions. 
 
“Asset/Liability Mismatch” risk is a similar concept as Investment Risk, as it relates to setting the 
Expected Rate of Return on Investments assumption compared to the actual Return on Investments 
achieved.  The Interest Rate used to discount future Plan liabilities is set equal to the Expected Rate of 
Return on Investments.  It is expected that the selected Interest Rate be a rate that is reasonably expected 
to be achieved over the long-term.  To the extent that the selected Interest Rate to value Plan liabilities is 
unreasonable, or significantly different than the actual Return on Investments earned over an extended 
period of time, additional Interest Rate risk is created.  For example, determining Plan liabilities at an 
Interest Rate higher than what is expected to be achieved through investment returns results in Unfunded 
Liability that is not a true representation of the Plan’s condition and Percent Funded.  As a result, the 
Actuarial Accrued Liability determined is an amount smaller than the liability that would be produced 
with an Interest Rate more indicative of future Expected Rate of Return on Investments.  Therefore, the 
Recommended Contributions under the established Funding Policy may not be sufficient to appropriately 
meet the true pension obligations. 
 
 
 



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION DETAIL 
 
 

Actuarial Accrued Liability 
Funded Status 

Development of the Employer Normal Cost 
Normal Cost as a Percentage of Expected Payroll 

Recommended Contribution Breakdown 
Schedule of Amortization – Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 

Actuarial Methods – Recommended Contribution 
 

 

 
 



 

  RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION DETAIL 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 23 

 
 

ACTUARIAL ACCRUED LIABILITY 
 

 
 

 
FUNDED STATUS 
 

 
 
 



 

  RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION DETAIL 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 24 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT OF THE EMPLOYER NORMAL COST 
 

 
 

 
NORMAL COST AS A PERCENTAGE OF EXPECTED PAYROLL 
 

 
 

 
RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION BREAKDOWN 
 

 
 
*Employer Normal Cost Contribution includes interest through the end of the Fiscal Year. 



 

  RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION DETAIL 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 25 

 
 

SCHEDULE OF AMORTIZATION – UNFUNDED ACTUARIAL ACCRUED LIABILITY 
 
Below is the schedule of remaining amortization balances for the Unfunded Liability. 
 

 
 
The Actuarial (Gain)/Loss can be attributable to several factors including Actuarial Valuation software 
changes, demographic changes, Employer Contribution timing, Member Contribution experience, benefit 
payment experience, and salary increase experience compared to expectation. 
 
The equivalent single amortization period based on the layered amortization of Unfunded Liability is 
13.95 years for the current valuation. 
 
 
 

 
  

Unfunded Liability Base
Initial 

Balance
Date 

Established
Current 
Balance

Years 
Remaining Payment

Investment (Gain)/Loss 37,848$           4/30/2022 37,848$           15 3,309$             
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss (867,743)          4/30/2022 (867,743)          15 (75,854)            
Contribution Experience 266,592           4/30/2022 266,592           15 23,304             
Investment (Gain)/Loss (210,882)          4/30/2021 (206,155)          14 (19,033)            
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 1,170,728        4/30/2021 1,144,484        14 105,666           
Contribution Experience 175,865           4/30/2021 171,923           14 15,873             
Investment (Gain)/Loss 166,220           4/30/2020 159,547           14 14,730             
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 195,932           4/30/2020 188,068           14 17,364             
Assumption Changes 450,172           4/30/2020 432,103           14 39,894             
Plan Changes 123,552           4/30/2020 118,592           14 10,949             
Investment (Gain)/Loss 127,169           4/30/2019 120,312           14 11,108             
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 148,023           4/30/2019 140,044           14 12,930             
Contribution Experience 96,953             4/30/2019 91,726             14 8,469               
Investment (Gain)/Loss 111,884           4/30/2018 104,685           14 9,665               
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 212,814           4/30/2018 199,123           14 18,385             
Contribution Experience 149,003           4/30/2018 139,416           14 12,872             
Initial Unfunded Liability 7,888,398$      4/30/2018 7,380,880$      14 681,448$         

Total 10,242,528$    9,621,445$      891,079$         



 

  RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION DETAIL 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 26 

 
 

ACTUARIAL METHODS – RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION 
 

 
 
The contributions and benefit values of the Pension Fund are calculated by applying actuarial assumptions 
to the benefit provisions and census data furnished, using the Actuarial Cost Method described.  The 
Actuarial Cost and Amortization Methods allocate the projected obligations of the Plan over the working 
lifetimes of the Plan Members. 
 
The Recommended Contribution amount shown in this report is based on the methods summarized above.  
The Actuarial Funding Policies section of this report includes a more detailed description of the Actuarial 
Funding Methods being used. 
 
The Actuarial Funding Methods are meant to provide a systematic process for determining contributions 
on an annual basis.  The methods do not impact the expectation of future benefit payments.  The methods 
only impact the way contributions are made towards future benefit payments. 
 
Different Actuarial Funding Methods may achieve funding goals with differing levels of success.  Certain 
methods are more efficient and more stable on an annual basis. 
 

Actuarial Valuation Date May 1, 2022

Data Collection Date April 30, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal (Level % Pay)

Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)

Amortization Target Layered - See Previous Page

Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Fair Value



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 
 
 

Alternative Contribution 
Funded Status – Alternative Contribution 

Actuarial Methods – Alternative Contribution 
 

 



 

ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 
 
 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 28 

 
  

ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 
 

 
 

 
FUNDED STATUS – ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 

 

 
 
 

 

Current 
Valuation

Alternative Contribution $756,825

Expected Payroll $1,163,996

Alternative Contribution as a 
     Percent of Expected Payroll

65.02%

Current 
Valuation

Normal Cost $263,567

Fair Value of Assets $10,370,827

Actuarial Value of Assets $10,891,992

Actuarial Accrued Liability $20,829,059

Unfunded Actuarial
     Accrued Liability/(Surplus) $9,937,067

Percent Funded

     Actuarial Value of Assets 52.29%

     Fair Value of Assets 49.79%



 

ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 29 

 
 

The Alternative Contribution is based on Actuarial Funding Methods and funding parameters outlined in 
the Illinois State Statutes for pension funding.  The resulting contribution is lower than the Recommended 
Contribution for the current year.  The Alternative Contribution amount is not recommended because it 
represents only a deferral of contributions when compared to the Recommended Contribution method. 
 
Actuarial Funding Methods for pensions are best applied to provide a balance between the long-term goals 
of a variety of stakeholders: 
 

1. Members – the Members are interested in benefit security and having the funds available to pay 
benefits when retired 
 

2. Employers – cost control and cost stability over the long-term 
 

3. Taxpayers – paying for the services they are receiving from active Members 
 
The Alternative Contribution methods are not intended to provide a better system in any of the above 
categories long-term.  The parameters are not recommended for a long-term funding strategy. 
 
The funding methods and parameters put into place in the Illinois State Statutes in 2011 were intended to 
provide short-term budget relief for Employer Contributions.  An Employer using the parameters outlined 
in the Illinois State Statutes for current funding should view the contributions as short-term relief.  Our 
recommendation in this situation is for a Pension Fund and an Employer to work towards a long-term 
funding strategy that better achieves the long-term funding goals, over a period that does not exceed 3-5 
years. 
 
The Securities and Exchange Commission in 2013 used the phrase “Statutory Underfunding” to describe 
situations where contributions appear to be more manageable in the short-term, but set up future 
Recommended Contributions that are less likely to be manageable. 
 
 



 

ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 30 

 
 

ACTUARIAL METHODS – ALTERNATIVE CONTRIBUTION 
 

 
 
The contribution and benefit values of the Pension Fund are calculated by applying actuarial assumptions 
to the benefit provisions and census data furnished, using the Actuarial Cost Method described.  The 
Actuarial Cost and Amortization methods allocate the projected obligations of the Plan over the working 
lifetimes of the Plan Members. 
 
The Actuarial Funding Methods are meant to provide a systematic process for determining contributions 
on an annual basis.  The methods do not impact the expectation of future benefit payments.  The methods 
only impact the way contributions are made towards future benefit payments. 
 
Different Actuarial Funding Methods may achieve funding goals with differing levels of success.  Certain 
methods are more efficient and more stable on an annual basis. 
 
The guidelines in the Illinois State Statutes for pension funding are silent on the use of a corridor on the 
Fair Value of Assets in determination of the Actuarial Value of Assets.  In the current valuation, the Plan 
Sponsor has elected to use a 10% corridor in the determination of the Actuarial Value of Assets for both 
the Alternative Contribution and the Recommended Contribution.  In the event that the Actuarial Value 
of Assets exceeds 110% of the Fair Value of Assets or falls below 90% of the Fair Value of Assets, the 
excess gains or losses will be recognized immediately. 
 

Actuarial Valuation Date May 1, 2022

Data Collection Date April 30, 2022

Actuarial Cost Method Projected Unit Credit

Amortization Method Level % Pay (Closed)

Amortization Target 90% Funded Over 18 Years

Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Fair Value



 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION DATA 
 
 

Active Members 
Inactive Members 

Summary of Monthly Benefit Payments 
Age and Service Distribution 

 
 

 
 



 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION DATA 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 32 

 
 

ACTIVE MEMBERS 
 

 
 

 
INACTIVE MEMBERS 

 

 
 

 
SUMMARY OF MONTHLY BENEFIT PAYMENTS 
 

 

Prior 
Valuation

Current 
Valuation

Tier I 6 6

Tier II 5 5

Total Active Members 11 11

Total Payroll $ 1,057,469 $ 1,145,384

Prior 
Valuation

Current 
Valuation

Terminated Members 1 1
Retired Members 11 11
Disabled Members 1 1
Other Beneficiaries 2 2

Total Inactive Members 15 15

Prior 
Valuation

Current 
Valuation

Retired Members $ 69,889      $ 71,754      
Disabled Members 3,555        3,555        
Other Beneficiaries 8,653        8,653        

Total Inactive Members $ 82,097 $ 83,962



 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION DATA 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 33 

 
 

AGE AND SERVICE DISTRIBUTION 
 

 
 
 
 

Service Under 1 1 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 24 25 to 29 30 to 34 35 to 39 40 & up Total

Age

Under 25

25 to 29 1 1

30 to 34 3 3

35 to 39 1 1

40 to 44 1 1 2

45 to 49

50 to 54 1 2 3

55 to 59 1 1

60 to 64

65 to 69

70 & up

Total 1 6 1 1 2 11

5/1/2022 Age and Service Distribution ‐ All Active Members



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICIES 
 

Actuarial Cost Method 
Financing Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 

Actuarial Value of Assets 
 

 

 
 



 

ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICIES 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 35 

 
 

ACTUARIAL COST METHOD 
 
The Actuarial Cost Method allocates the projected obligations of the Plan over the working lifetimes of 
the Plan Members. 
 
In accordance with the Pension Fund’s Funding Policy the Actuarial Cost Method for the Recommended 
Contribution basis is Entry Age Normal (Level Percent of Pay).  The Entry Age Normal Cost Method is 
a method under which the Actuarial Present Value of the projected benefits of each individual included in 
an Actuarial Valuation is allocated on a level basis over the earnings or service of the individual between 
entry age and assumed exit age.  The portion of this Actuarial Present Value allocated to a valuation year 
is called Normal Cost.  The portion of the Actuarial Present Value not provided at an Actuarial Valuation 
Date by the Actuarial Present Value of future Normal Costs is called the Actuarial Accrued Liability. 
 
The Entry Age Normal method attempts to create a level cost pattern.  In contrast to other Actuarial Cost 
Methods which inherently lead to uneven or less predictable cost patterns, the Entry Age Normal method 
is generally understood to be less risky in terms of contribution stability from year to year. 
 
The Conference of Consulting Actuaries Public Plans Community produced a “white paper” detailing 
Funding Policy model practices for public sector pension plans.  Under the Level Cost Actuarial 
Methodology (“LCAM”), one of the principal elements to a Funding Policy is the Actuarial Cost Method.  
When deciding which Actuarial Cost Method to use, several objectives may be considered, such as the 
following: 
   

 Each Member’s benefit should be funded under a reasonable allocation method by the expected 
retirement date 

 Pay-related benefit costs should reflect anticipated pay at retirement 
 The expected cost of each year of service (i.e. Normal Cost) for each active Member should be 

reasonably related to the expected cost of that Member’s benefit 
 The Member’s Normal Cost should emerge as a level percent of Member compensation 
 No gains or losses should occur if all assumptions are met. 

 
Following these criteria, the use of the Entry Age Normal Cost Method (Level Percent of Pay) is a model 
practice. 
 
FINANCING UNFUNDED ACTUARIAL ACCRUED LIABILITY 
 
The Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability may be amortized over a period either in level dollar amounts 
or as a level percentage of payroll. 
 
When amortizing the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability as a level percentage of payroll, additional 
risk is incurred since the amortization payments in the early years of the payment period may not be large 
enough to cover the interest accrued on the existing Unfunded Liability.  As a result, the Unfunded 



 

ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICIES 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 36 

 
 

Liability may increase initially, before the amortization payments grow large enough to cover all interest 
accruals.  Generally speaking, the Plan Sponsor will be required to contribute a larger total contribution 
amount over the course of the funding period under a level percentage of payroll basis as compared to a 
level dollar payroll schedule. 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association notes that best practices in public pension finance include 
utilizing amortization periods that do not exceed 20 years.  Longer amortization periods elevate the risk 
of failing to reduce any Unfunded Liability.  For example, when the amortization payment in full only 
covers interest on the Unfunded Liability, but does not reduce the existing Unfunded Liability, the required 
contribution will increase in future years. 
 
A second principal element under the Level Cost Actuarial Methodology described above is to establish 
an Amortization Policy that determines the length of time and the structure of the increase or decrease in 
contributions required to systematically fund the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability.  When deciding 
on the Amortization Policy, several objectives may be considered, such as the following: 
   

 Variations in the source of liability changes (i.e. gains or losses, Plan changes, assumption 
changes) should be funded over periods consistent with an appropriate balance between the policy 
objectives of demographic matching and volatility management 

 The cost changes in Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability should emerge as a level percentage of 
Member compensation 

 
The LCAM model practices for the Amortization Policy include the following: 
 

 Layered fixed period amortization by source 
 Level percent of pay amortization 
 An amortization period ranging from 15-20 years for experience gains or losses 
 An amortization period of 15-25 years for assumption changes 

 
In accordance with the Pension Fund’s Funding Policy for the Recommended Contribution, the Unfunded 
Actuarial Accrued Liability is amortized by level percent of payroll contributions to a 100% funding target 
over a layered amortization period of 15 years.  See the Actuarial Methods – Recommended Contribution 
section of this report for more detail. 
 
The equivalent single amortization period based on the layered amortization of Unfunded Liability is 
13.95 years for the current valuation. 
 
We believe that the amortization period is appropriate for the purposes of this valuation. 
 
 
  



 

ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICIES 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 37 

 
 

ACTUARIAL VALUE OF ASSETS 
 
The Pension Fund is an ongoing plan.  The Employer wishes to smooth the effect of volatility in the Fair 
Value of Assets on the annual contribution.  Therefore, the Actuarial Value of Assets is equal to the Fair 
Value of Assets with unanticipated gains/losses recognized over a five-year period. 
 
The Asset Valuation Method is intended to create an Actuarial Value of Assets that remains reasonable in 
relation to the Fair Value of Assets over time.  The method produces results that can fall either above or 
below the Fair Value of Assets.  The period of recognition is short. 
 
It is intended that the period of recognition is short enough to keep the Actuarial Value of Assets within a 
decent range of the Fair Value of Assets.  In the event that the Actuarial Value of Assets exceeds or falls 
below a 10% corridor of the Fair Value of Assets, the additional gain or loss will be recognized 
immediately. 



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
 

Nature of Actuarial Calculations 
Actuarial Assumptions in the Valuation Process 

Assessment of Risk Exposures 
Limitations of Risk Analysis 

Assessment and Use of Actuarial Models 
Actuarial Assumptions Utilized 

 
 

 
 



 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 39 

 
 

NATURE OF ACTUARIAL CALCULATIONS 
 
The results documented in this report are estimates based on data that may be imperfect and on 
assumptions about future events.  Certain Plan Provisions may be approximated or deemed immaterial, 
and, therefore, are not valued.  Assumptions may be made about census data or other factors.  Reasonable 
efforts were made in this valuation to ensure that significant items in the context of the Actuarial Accrued 
Liability or costs are treated appropriately, and not excluded or included inappropriately. 
 
Actual future experience will differ from the assumptions used in the calculations.  As these differences 
arise, the expense for accounting purposes will be adjusted in future valuations to reflect such actual 
experience. 
 
A range of results different from those presented in this report could be considered reasonable.  The 
numbers are not rounded, but this is for convenience only and should not imply precision which is not 
inherent in actuarial calculations. 
 
ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS IN THE VALUATION PROCESS 
 
The contributions and benefit values of the Pension Fund are calculated by applying actuarial assumptions 
to the benefit provisions and census data furnished, using the Actuarial Cost Method described in the 
Actuarial Funding Policies section of this report. 
 
The principal areas of financial risk which require assumptions about future experience are: 
 
 Expected Rate of Return on Investments 
 Patterns of Pay Increases for Members 
 Rates of Mortality Among Active and Inactive Members 
 Rates of Termination Among Active Members 
 Rates of Disability Among Active Members 
 Age Patterns of Actual Retirements 

 
Actual experience of the Pension Fund will not coincide exactly with assumed experience.  Each valuation 
provides a complete recalculation of assumed future experience and takes into account all past differences 
between assumed and actual experience.  The result is a continual series of adjustments to the computed 
Recommended Contribution. 
 
Details behind the selection of the actuarial assumptions can be found in the Actuarial Assumption 
Summary document provided to the client upon request.  The client has reviewed and approved the 
assumptions as a reasonable expectation of the future anticipated experience under the Plan. 
  



 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 40 

 
 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK EXPOSURES 
 
From time to time it becomes appropriate to modify one or more of the assumptions, to reflect experience 
trends (but not random year-to-year fluctuations).  In addition, Actuarial Standards of Practice require that 
the Actuary minimally perform a qualitative assessment of key financial and demographic risks as part of 
the risk assessment process with each annual Actuarial Valuation.  The risk assessments we perform 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

 Periodic demographic experience studies every 3 to 5 years to confirm the ongoing appropriateness 
of actuarial assumptions 

 Highlight the impact of demographic experience over the past year, as well as other sources of 
change and volatility in the Actuarial Recommended Contribution – Reconciliation section of this 
report 

 Detail year-over-year changes in contribution levels, assets, liabilities, and Funded Status in the 
Recommended Contribution and Funded Status sections in the Management Summary section of 
this report 

 Review any material changes in the census as summarized in the Actuarial Valuation Data section 
of this report 

 Provide and discuss the Actuarial Assumption Summary document highlighting the rationale for 
each key assumption chosen by the Board 

 Identify potential Cash Flow Risk by highlighting expected benefit payments over the next 5-year 
and 10-year periods in the Asset Growth section in the Management Summary section of this report 

 Describe the impact of any assumption, method, or policy change in the Management Summary 
section of this report 

 Utilize supplemental information, such as the GASB Discount Rate sensitivity disclosures to 
understand, for example, what impact an alternative Expected Rate of Return on Investments 
assumption might have on the estimation of Actuarial Accrued Liability and Funded Status 

 Utilize supplemental information, such as the GASB solvency test, to better understand the Cash 
Flow Risk and long-term sustainability of the Plan. 

 
LIMITATIONS OF RISK ANALYSIS 
 
Since future experience may never be precisely as assumed, the process of selecting funding methods and 
actuarial assumptions may inherently create risk and volatility of results.  A more detailed evaluation of 
the above risk exposures is beyond the scope and nature of the annual Actuarial Valuation process.  For 
example, scenario tests, sensitivity tests, stress tests, and/or stochastic modeling for multi-year projections 
to assess the impact of alternative assumptions and methods, or modeling future experience different from 
the assumptions in these results, are not included in this Actuarial Valuation. 
 
The East Dundee Police Pension Fund and/or the Village of East Dundee, Illinois should contact the 
Actuary if they desire a more detailed assessment of any of these forward-looking risk exposures. 



 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 41 

 
 

ASSESSMENT AND USE OF ACTUARIAL MODELS 
 
Actuarial Valuations rely upon the use of actuarial modeling software to predict the occurrence of future 
events, which include specific demographic and financial potential outcomes.  Actuarial assumptions are 
established to provide a guideline to use for such modeling. 
  

 The model used in this Actuarial Valuation is intended to determine the Recommended 
Contribution, under the selected Funding Policy.  The actuarial assumptions used were developed 
with this goal in mind. 

 There are no known material limitations or inconsistencies among the actuarial assumptions or 
methods. 

 The output from the model is reasonable based on the individual actuarial assumptions and based 
on the actuarial assumptions in the aggregate. 

 The actuarial software used to calculate plan liabilities has been purchased from an outside vendor.  
We have performed thorough testing of the software, including review of sample participants, to 
ensure the intended purpose of the model, the operation of the model, sensitivities and 
dependencies, and strengths and limitations of the model are sufficient for this purpose. 

 Census data and financial information have been provided by client professionals, financial 
advisors, and/or auditors, who are known to be experts in their respective fields.  We rely on the 
fact that the information provided by these experts has been given for the intended purpose of this 
Actuarial Valuation. 

 Where applicable, certain actuarial assumptions and Funding Policy may be required as prescribed 
by law.  In such instances, we have followed legal guidance to ensure conformity. 

 The Expected Rate of Return on Investments assumption has been chosen using input from several 
sources; including, but not limited to:  client professionals, financial advisors, auditors, and other 
capital market outlooks.  We have relied on the information provided, in the aggregate, to settle 
on the selected Expected Rate of Return on Investments assumption. 

 
As stated in the Limitations of Risk Analysis section, future experience may never be precisely as assumed.  
As a result, the funding methods and actuarial assumptions used in the model may create volatility in the 
results when compared year after year.  A more detailed evaluation of this volatility is beyond the scope 
and nature of the annual Actuarial Valuation process.  In such cases, additional scenario tests, sensitivity 
tests, stress tests, and/or stochastic modeling for multi-year projections to assess the impact of alternative 
assumptions and methods, or modeling future experience different from the assumptions in these results, 
may be performed to determine a range of reasonable results. 
 
  



 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 42 

 
 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS UTILIZED 
 

 
 
 Individual pay increases include a long-term average increase for 

inflation, average annual increases for promotions, and any 
additional increases for a step program.  Sample rates are as follows: 

 

 
 
*Individual pay increases for active Members hired at age 40 or 
older are assumed annual increases at the ultimate rate reduced by 
50 basis points, without adjustments in early service years. 
  

Expected Rate of Return on Investments 6.50% Net of Administrative Expense

CPI-U 2.25%

Total Payroll Increases 3.25%

Individual Pay Increases* 3.75% - 8.05%

Service Rate Service Rate

0 8.05% 8 3.75%
1 8.05% 9 3.75%
2 8.05% 10 3.75%
3 8.05% 15 3.75%
4 8.05% 20 3.75%
5 8.05% 25 3.75%
6 8.05% 30 3.75%
7 3.75% 35 3.75%



 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 43 

 
 

Retirement Rates 100% of the L&A Assumption Study for Police 2020 Cap Age 65.  
Sample rates are as follows: 

 

   
 
Termination Rates 100% of the L&A Assumption Study for Police 2020.  Sample rates 

are as follows: 
 

  
 
Disability Rates 100% of the L&A Assumption Study for Police 2020.  Sample rates 

are as follows: 
 

  
 
 65% of active Members who become disabled are assumed to be in 

the Line of Duty. 
  

Age Rate Age Rate

50 11.00% 58 16.25%
51 11.55% 59 16.25%
52 12.13% 60 16.25%
53 12.73% 61 16.25%
54 13.37% 62 18.00%
55 14.04% 63 20.00%
56 14.74% 64 20.00%
57 15.48% 65 100.00%

Age Rate Age Rate

25 8.00% 40 2.17%
30 3.40% 45 1.56%
35 2.79% 50 0.46%

Age Rate Age Rate

25 0.00% 40 0.38%
30 0.06% 45 0.53%
35 0.18% 50 0.48%



 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 44 

 
 

Mortality Rates Active Mortality follows the Sex Distinct Raw Rates as developed 
in the PubS-2010(A) Study.  Mortality improvement uses MP-2019 
Improvement Rates applied on a fully generational basis. 

 
 50% of active Member deaths are assumed to be in the Line of Duty. 
 
 Retiree Mortality follows the L&A Assumption Study for Police 

2020.  These rates are experience weighted with the Sex Distinct 
Raw Rates as developed in the PubS-2010(A) Study improved to 
2017 using MP-2019 Improvement Rates.  These rates are then 
improved fully generationally using MP-2019 Improvement Rates. 

  
 Disabled Mortality follows the Sex Distinct Raw Rates as developed 

in the PubS-2010 Study for disabled participants.  Mortality 
improvement uses MP-2019 Improvement Rates applied on a fully 
generational basis. 

  
Spouse Mortality follows the Sex Distinct Raw Rates as developed 
in the PubS-2010(A) Study for contingent survivors.  For all rates 
not provided there (ages 45 and younger) the PubG-2010 Study for 
general employees was used.  Mortality improvement uses MP-2019 
Improvement Rates applied on a fully generational basis. 

 
Marital Assumptions Active Members: 80% of active Members are assumed to be 

married.  Female spouses are assumed to be 3 years younger than 
male spouses. 

 
 Retiree and Disabled Members: Actual spousal data was utilized for 

retiree and disabled Members. 
  



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS 
 
 

Establishment of the Fund 
Administration 

Member Contributions 
Regular Retirement Pension Benefit 

Early Retirement Pension Benefit 
Surviving Spouse Benefit 

Termination Benefit – Vested 
Disability Benefit 

 
 

 



 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 46 

 
 

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE FUND 
 
The Police Pension Fund is established and administered as prescribed by “Article 3 – Police Pension 
Fund – Municipalities 500,000 and Under” of the Illinois Pension Code. 
 
ADMINISTRATION 
 
The Police Pension Fund is administered by a Board of Trustees whose duties are to manage the Pension 
Fund, determine applications for pensions, authorize payment of pensions, establish rules, pay expenses, 
invest assets, and keep records. 
 
MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Members contribute 9.910% of pensionable salary. 
 
REGULAR RETIREMENT PENSION BENEFIT 
 
Tier I 
 

Eligibility: Age 50 with at least 20 years of creditable service. 
 

Benefit: 50% of final salary for the first 20 years of service, plus an additional 2.5% of final salary for 
each year of service beyond 20 years of service, and not to exceed 75% of final salary.  “Final salary” 
is based on the police officer’s pensionable salary attached to rank held on the last day of service, 
unless the pensionable salary was greater at some point within the year prior to the last day of service.  
If so, the pensionable salary is averaged over the last 12 months. 
 
Annual Increase in Benefit: A police officer is entitled to receive an initial increase equal to 1/12 of 
3% of the original monthly benefit for each full month that has passed since the pension began.  The 
initial increase date will be the latter of the first day of the month after the pensioner turns age 55 or 
the first day of the month after the benefit date anniversary.  Subsequent increases of 3% of the current 
monthly benefit will be granted every January 1st thereafter. 



 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 47 

 
 

REGULAR RETIREMENT PENSION BENEFIT - CONTINUED 
 
Tier II 

 
Eligibility: Age 55 with at least 10 years of creditable service. 
 
Benefit: 2.5% of final average salary for each year of service, and not to exceed 75% of final average 
salary.  “Final average salary” is determined by dividing the total pensionable salary during 48 
consecutive months of service within the last 60 months of service in which total pensionable salary 
was the highest, by the number of months of service in that period (or by dividing the total pensionable 
salary during 96 consecutive months of service within the last 120 months of service in which total 
pensionable salary was the highest, by the number of months of service in that period, if greater).  
Annual salary for this purpose will not exceed the salary cap, indexed by the lesser of 3% or the CPI-
U for the 12 months ending with the September preceding each November 1st.  The salary cap will not 
decrease. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: The initial increase date will be the latter of the January 1st after the 
pensioner turns age 60 or the January 1st after the benefit date anniversary.  Subsequent increases will 
be granted every January 1st thereafter.  The initial increase and subsequent increases will be the lesser 
of 3% of the original benefit or ½ of the CPI-U for the 12 months ending with the September preceding 
each November 1st. 

 
EARLY RETIREMENT PENSION BENEFIT 
 
Tier I 
 

None. 
 
Tier II 
 

Eligibility: Age 50 with at least 10 years of creditable service. 
 

Benefit: The regular retirement pension benefit reduced by ½ of 1% for each month that the police 
officer’s age is between 50 and 55. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: The initial increase date will be the latter of the January 1st after the 
pensioner turns age 60 or the January 1st after the benefit date anniversary.  Subsequent increases will 
be granted every January 1st thereafter.  The initial increase and subsequent increases will be the lesser 
of 3% of the original benefit or ½ of the CPI-U for the 12 months ending with the September preceding 
each November 1st. 



 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 48 

 
 

SURVIVING SPOUSE BENEFIT 
 
Tier I 
 

Eligibility: Married to an active police officer with at least 8 years of creditable service, a disabled 
pensioner at the time of death, or a retired pensioner on the last day of service. 
 
Active Line of Duty Death Benefit: An eligible surviving spouse is entitled to receive 100% of the 
police officer’s final pensionable salary attached to rank held on the last day of service. 

 
Non-Duty Death Benefit: 

 
Disabled or Retired Pensioner: An eligible surviving spouse is entitled to receive the pensioner’s 
benefit at the time of death. 

 
Active Member with 20+ Years of Service: An eligible surviving spouse is entitled to the police 
officer’s eligible benefit at the time of death. 

 
Active Member with 10-20 Years of Service: An eligible surviving spouse is entitled to receive 
50% of the police officer’s pensionable salary attached to rank held on the last day of service, 
unless the pensionable salary was greater at some point within the year prior to the last day of 
service.  If so, the pensionable salary is averaged over the last 12 months. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: None. 

 
Tier II 
 

Eligibility: Married to an active police officer with at least 8 years of creditable service, a disabled 
pensioner at the time of death, or a retired pensioner on the last day of service. 
 
Active Line of Duty Death Benefit: An eligible surviving spouse is entitled to receive 100% of the 
police officer’s final pensionable salary attached to rank held on the last day of service. 

 
Non-Duty Death Benefit: 

 
Disabled or Retired Pensioner, Active Member with 20+ Years of Service, and Active Member 
with 10-20 Years of service: An eligible surviving spouse is entitled to receive the greater of 66⅔% 
of the police officer’s earned pension benefit at the time of death or 54% of the police officer’s 
monthly salary at the time of death. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: The initial increase date will be the January 1st after the surviving spouse 
turns age 60.  Subsequent increases will be granted every January 1st thereafter.  The initial increase 
and subsequent increases will be the lesser of 3% of the original benefit or ½ of the CPI-U for the 12 
months ending with the September preceding each November 1st. 

 



 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 49 

 
 

TERMINATION BENEFIT – VESTED 
 
Tier I 
 

Eligibility: Age 60 with at least 8 but less than 20 years of creditable service. 
 

Benefit: 2.5% of final salary for each year of service.  “Final salary” is based on the police officer’s 
pensionable salary attached to rank held on the last day of service, unless the pensionable salary was 
greater at some point within the year prior to the last day of service.  If so, the pensionable salary is 
averaged over the last 12 months. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: A police officer is entitled to receive an initial increase equal to 1/12 of 
3% of the original monthly benefit for each full month that has passed since the pension began.  The 
initial increase date will be the first day of the month after the benefit date anniversary.  Subsequent 
increases of 3% of the current monthly benefit will be granted every January 1st thereafter. 

 
Tier II 
 

None. 



 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL PLAN PROVISIONS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 50 

 
 

DISABILITY BENEFIT 
 
Tier I 
 

Eligibility: Duty or Non-Duty Disability or Occupational Disease Disability with at least 5 years of 
creditable service. 

 
Benefit: For a duty disability or an occupational disease disability with at least 5 years of creditable 
service, a police officer is entitled to receive the greater of 65% of final salary or the regular retirement 
pension benefit at the time of disability.  For a non-duty disability, a police officer is entitled to receive 
50% of final salary.  “Final salary” is based on the police officer’s pensionable salary attached to rank 
held on the last day of service. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: A police officer is entitled to receive an initial increase equal to 3% of the 
original monthly benefit for each full year that has passed since the pension began.  The initial increase 
date will be the latter of the January 1st after following pensioner turns age 60 or the January 1st after 
the benefit date anniversary.  Subsequent increases of 3% of the original monthly benefit will be 
granted every January 1st thereafter. 

 
Tier II 
 

Eligibility: Duty or Non-Duty Disability or Occupational Disease Disability with at least 5 years of 
creditable service. 

 
Benefit: For a duty disability or an occupational disease disability with at least 5 years of creditable 
service, a police officer is entitled to receive the greater of 65% of final salary or the regular retirement 
pension benefit at the time of disability.  For a non-duty disability, a police officer is entitled to receive 
50% of final salary.  “Final salary” is based on the police officer’s pensionable salary attached to rank 
held on the last day of service. 

 
Annual Increase in Benefit: A police officer is entitled to receive an initial increase equal to 3% of the 
original monthly benefit for each full year that has passed since the pension began.  The initial increase 
date will be the latter of the January 1st after following pensioner turns age 60 or the January 1st after 
the benefit date anniversary.  Subsequent increases of 3% of the original monthly benefit will be 
granted every January 1st thereafter. 

 



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Glossary of Terms 
 
 

 



 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 

 

 

East Dundee Police Pension Fund 
Page 52 

 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
Actuarial Accrued Liability – The Actuarial Present Value of future benefits based on Members’ service 
rendered to the Measurement Date using the selected Actuarial Cost Method.  It is that portion of the 
Actuarial Present Value of Plan benefits and expenses allocated to prior years of employment.  It is not 
provided for by future Normal Costs. 
 
Actuarial Cost Method – The method used to allocate the projected obligations of the Plan over the 
working lifetimes of the Plan Members. 
 
Actuarial Value of Assets – The value of the assets used in the determination of the Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability.  The Actuarial Value of Assets is related to Fair Value of Assets, with adjustments 
made to spread unanticipated gains and losses for a given year over a period of several years.  Actuarial 
Value of Assets is generally equally likely to fall above or below the Fair Value of Assets, and generally 
does not experience as much volatility over time as the Fair Value of Assets. 
 
Asset Valuation Method – A valuation method designed to smooth random fluctuations in asset values.  
The objective underlying the use of an Asset Valuation Method is to provide for the long-term stability of 
Employer Contributions. 
 
Funding Policy – A set of procedures for a Pension Fund that outlines the “best practices” for funding the 
pension benefits based on the goals of the Plan Sponsor.  A Funding Policy discusses items such as 
assumptions, Actuarial Cost Method, assets, and other parameters that will best help the Plan Sponsor 
meet their goal of working in the best interest of the Plan Members. 
 
Fair Value of Assets – The value of the cash, bonds, securities, and other assets held in the pension trust 
as of the Measurement Date. 
 
Normal Cost – The present value of future benefits earned by Members during the current Fiscal Year.  It 
is that portion of the Actuarial Present Value of benefits and expenses which is allocated to a valuation 
year by the Actuarial Cost Method. 
 
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability – The excess of the Actuarial Accrued Liability over the Actuarial 
Value of Assets.  The Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability is amortized over a period either in level 
dollar amounts or as a level percentage of projected payroll. 



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



East Dundee Police Pension Fund
Contribution History

Actuarial 
Valuation Date

Funded 
Percentage 

(Fair Value of 
Assets)

Unfunded 
Liability (Fair 

Value of Assets)

Lauterbach & Amen, LLP 
Recommended 

Contribution1

Lauterbach & Amen, 
LLP Statutory Minimum 

Contribution2

Tepfer Consulting 
Group Ltd. 

Recommended 

Contribution3

Tepfer Consulting 
Group Ltd. Statutory 

Minimum 

Contribution4

IL Dept. of Insurance 
Statutory Minimum 

Contribution5

Absolute Minimum 
Contribution from All 

Sources

Absolute Maximum 
Contribution from All 

Sources

5/1/2022 50.56% $10,142,610 $1,106,679 $756,825 N/A N/A N/A $756,825 $1,106,679
5/1/2021 54.81% 9,422,535 1,119,740 790,478 N/A N/A $740,650 740,650 1,119,740
5/1/2020 49.44% 9,736,707 992,699 726,107 N/A N/A 777,281 726,107 992,699
5/1/2019 50.70% 8,866,365 841,720 618,660 N/A N/A 628,760 618,660 841,720
5/1/2018 50.12% 8,654,898 789,177 581,129 N/A N/A 585,426 581,129 789,177
5/1/2017 50.92% 8,171,197 749,982 561,154 N/A N/A 574,058 561,154 749,982
5/1/2016 51.44% 7,533,889 692,028 477,972 N/A N/A 445,225 445,225 692,028
5/1/2015 59.60% 5,429,053 N/A N/A $625,773 $413,011 424,453 413,011 625,773
5/1/2014 63.13% 4,435,996 N/A N/A $449,969 $360,955 467,769 360,955 467,769
5/1/2013 65.04% 3,854,992 N/A N/A 394,402 294,974 425,311 294,974 425,311
5/1/2012 63.11% 3,859,773 N/A N/A 369,035 306,606 389,095 306,606 389,095
5/1/2011 63.10% 3,668,290 N/A N/A 379,277 303,061 N/A 303,061 379,277

Total $6,292,025 $4,512,325 $2,218,456 $1,678,607 $5,458,028 $6,108,357 $8,579,250

Fiscal Year End
Actual Employer 

Contribution6

Absolute Minimum 
Contribution from All 

Sources

Employer Contribution 
Shortfall/(Excess)

Employer Contribution 
Shortfall Excluding 

Excess
4/30/2022 $726,107 $726,107 $0 $0
4/30/2021 665,855 618,660 (47,195) 0
4/30/2020 789,177 581,129 (208,048) 0
4/30/2019 653,029 561,154 (91,875) 0
4/30/2018 543,025 445,225 (97,800) 0
4/30/2017 570,288 413,011 (157,277) 0
4/30/2016 448,635 360,955 (87,680) 0
4/30/2015 387,389 294,974 (92,415) 0
4/30/2014 390,488 306,606 (83,882) 0
4/30/2013 385,647 303,061 (82,586) 0

Total $5,559,640 $4,610,882 ($948,758) $0

History of Employer Contributions to Pension Fund

Employer Contribution Shortfall/(Excess) - Absolute Minimum Contribution Basis

1



East Dundee Police Pension Fund
Contribution History

Fiscal Year End
Actual Employer 

Contribution6

Absolute Maximum 
Contribution from All 

Sources

Employer Contribution 
Shortfall/(Excess)

Employer Contribution 
Shortfall Excluding 

Excess
4/30/2022 $726,107 $992,699 $266,592 $266,592
4/30/2021 665,855 841,720 175,865 175,865
4/30/2020 789,177 789,177 0 0
4/30/2019 653,029 749,982 96,953 96,953
4/30/2018 543,025 692,028 149,003 149,003
4/30/2017 570,288 625,773 55,485 55,485
4/30/2016 448,635 467,769 19,134 19,134
4/30/2015 387,389 425,311 37,922 37,922
4/30/2014 390,488 389,095 (1,393) 0
4/30/2013 385,647 379,277 (6,370) 0

Total $5,559,640 $6,352,831 $793,191 $800,954

Disclosures

1) The Actuarially Determined Contributions shown are based on the Recommended Contribution in the Actuarial Funding Reports completed by Lauterbach & Amen, LLP. 

2) The Actuarially Determined Contributions shown are based on the funding methods and parameters in the Illinois statutes for pension funding as estimated in the Actuarial Funding Report completed by Lauterbach & Amen, LLP. These 
contribution amounts are not the Recommended Contributions in these reports. 

3) The Actuarially Determined Contributions shown are based on the recommended amounts in the Actuarial Funding Reports completed by Tepfer Consulting Group Ltd.

4) The Actuarially Determined Contributions shown are based on the funding methods and parameters in the Illinois statutes for pension funding as estimated in the Actuarial Funding Report completed by Tepfer Consulting Group Ltd. These 
contribution amounts are not the Recommended Contributions in these reports.

6) For comparison purposes, the display assumes there is an inherent two-year time lag between the Fiscal Year End for the determination of the contribution and when the Fund receives the Employer Contribution. 

5) The Actuarially Determined Contributions shown are based on the results in the Actuarial Valuation Report completed by the Illinois Department of Insurance. 

Employer Contribution Shortfall/(Excess) - Maximum Recommended Contribution Basis

2



East Dundee Police Pension Fund Reporting
For the Contribution Year Ending April 30, 2023 for Funding Purposes
For the Fiscal Year Ending April 30, 2022 for Financial Statement Reporting

Presented by:
Kevin Cavanaugh, Actuarial Consultant



Recommended Contribution & Funded Status
Page 8 in Report

2

Prior Valuation Current Valuation Difference
-$13,061

(1.17% Decrease)

EAN Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability/(Surplus) $10,420,000 $9,621,000 ($799,000)

($1,060,000)

$460,000 

($340,000)

3.07%

 (4.25%)Percent Funded (FVA) 54.81% 50.56%

Recommended Contribution $1,119,740 $1,106,679 

Actuarial Accrued Liability $20,850,000 $20,510,000 

Percent Funded (AVA) 50.03% 53.10%

Fair Value of Assets (FVA) $11,430,000 $10,370,000 

Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) $10,430,000 $10,890,000 

Current Funding 
Policy is Level % 
Pay Contributions 
to a 100% Funding 

Target Over a 
Layered 

Amortization 
Period of 15 Years.



Recommended Contribution Breakdown
Page 24 in Report

3

Prior Valuation Current Valuation Difference
Employer Normal Cost 
(with interest) $209,018 $215,600 

Amortization of Unfunded 
Accrued Liability/(Surplus)

$6,582 

($19,643)

($13,061)Recommended Contribution $1,119,740 $1,106,679 

$910,722 $891,079 

The Recommended 
Contribution has 

Decreased by 
1.17% from the 
Prior Valuation.



Recommended Contribution Reconciliation
Page 15 in Report

4

Actuarial 
Liability

Recommended 
Contribution

$3,300 

Assumption Changes $0 $0 

Contributions Less than 
Expected $0 $33,800 

Net Increase/(Decrease) ($337,000) ($13,100)

Asset Return Less than Expected

Expected Changes $647,000 $36,400 

Salary Increases Greater than 
Expected $14,500 $11,800 

Actuarial Experience ($999,000) ($98,400)

$0 



Assumption Changes
Page 13 in Report

• The year over year step increases dictated by the salary schedule did
not change from the prior salary schedule; therefore, we have not
updated the individual pay increases assumption.

5



Demographic Changes
Page 13 in Report

• There were 14 inactive Members who continued to collect benefits. This
increased the Recommended Contribution by approximately $7,900.

• Other demographic changes experienced during the year were minimal.

6



Age and Service Distribution
Page 33 in Report

7



Expected Benefit Payments
Pages 9 & 32 in Report

8

Current Valuation

Current Benefit Payments $993,000 

Total Inactive Members 15 

Expected Benefit Payments 
in 10 Years $1,524,000 

Expected Benefit Payments 
in 5 Years $1,247,000 

Total Active Members 11 Benefit Payments are 
Anticipated to 

Increase 26% in the 
Next 5 Years and 

54% in the Next 10 
Years.



Change in Fair Value of Assets
Page 17 in Report

9

Change in Fair Value ($1,057,000)

Employer Contributions $726,000 

Beginning Fair Value of Assets $11,430,000 

Return on Investments ($869,000)

Benefits and Refunds ($993,000)

Current Valuation

Member Contributions $112,000 

Other Expenses ($33,100)

Ending Fair Value of Assets $10,370,000 

The Rate of Return 
on Investments on a 
Fair Value of Assets 
Basis for the Fund 
was Approximately 

(7.95%) Net of 
Administrative 
Expense.  The 

Expected Rate of 
Return on 

Investments is 
6.50%.



Risk Management
Pages 11, 13 & 21 in Report

• The Fair Value of Assets ($10.4M) is less than the Actuarial Accrued
Liability for inactive Members ($16.5M).

• The ratio of benefit payments to the Fair Value of Assets is 9.57%,
compared to an Expected Rate of Return on Investments of 6.50%.

• Based on the number of active Members in the Plan, there is a
moderate demographic risk.

• Reducing the Expected Rate of Return on Investments by 25 basis
points produces a Recommended Contribution that is 5.61% higher
than currently shown.

10



Alternative Contribution
Page 28 in Report

11

Current Valuation

Alternative Contribution $756,825 

Alternative Contribution Funded 
Percentage (AVA) 52.29%

PUC Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability/(Surplus) $9,937,000 

Alternative 
Contribution Funding 
Policy is Level % Pay 

Contributions to a 
90% Funding Target 
Over the Remaining 

18 Years.



Five-Year Employer Contribution History
Page 32 in GASB 67/68 Report

12

Fiscal Year End Employer Contribution Actuarially Determined 
Contribution (ADC) % of ADC

4/30/2022 $726,107 $992,699 73.14%

4/30/2021 $665,855 $841,720 79.11%

4/30/2020 $789,177 $789,177 100.00%

4/30/2019 $653,029 $749,982 87.07%

4/30/2018 $543,025 $692,028 78.47%

5 - Year Average 83.56%

The Actuarially 
Determined 

Contribution for the 
Current Year is the 

Recommended 
Contribution from the 

May 1, 2020 
Actuarial Valuation 

Completed by 
Lauterbach & Amen, 

LLP.



GASB Solvency Test
Page 41 in GASB 67/68 Report

13

The Plan’s Projected 
Fiduciary Net 

Position is 
Anticipated to Cover 

Projected Benefit 
Payments in Full for 

the Current 
Employees Through 

the Year 2057.



Actuarial Certification

• The valuation results summarized in this presentation are from the
May 1, 2022 Actuarial Funding Report & May 1, 2021 GASB 67/68
Report, which have been reviewed by Actuarial Consultants that meet
the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries.

• This report is not intended for purposes other than determining the
Recommended Contribution, under the selected Funding Policy, and the
Alternative Contribution.

• This report contains the full description of the data, assumptions, methods, and
provisions used to produce these actuarial results.

• For any rounded figures shown in this presentation, please refer to the
Actuarial Funding Report for more exact figures.

14



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     1

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

ACE HARDWARE

103122 PD GARAGE 10/31/2022 95.96 01-21-5121

103122 PD GARAGE 10/31/2022 29.98 01-21-5121

103122 PD GARAGE 10/31/2022 21.90 01-21-5121

103122 CHAIN OIL 10/31/2022 27.57 01-31-5130

103122 WTP PUMP 10/31/2022 67.09 60-33-5130

103122 CEMENT 10/31/2022 12.99 60-33-5630

          Total ACE HARDWARE: 255.49

ALARM DETECTION SYSTEMS

577195 WWTP ALARM SERV 08/08/2022 375.75 60-33-5111

          Total ALARM DETECTION SYSTEMS: 375.75

ALLEGRA PRINT & IMAGING

66142 WINDOW ENVELOPES                                   06/15/2022 64.33 01-12-5610

66959 WINDOW ENVELOPES                                   11/07/2022 64.34 01-12-5610

66142 WINDOW ENVELOPES                                   06/15/2022 64.33 01-14-5610

66959 WINDOW ENVELOPES                                   11/07/2022 64.33 01-14-5610

66142 WINDOW ENVELOPES                                   06/15/2022 64.34 01-25-5610

66959 WINDOW ENVELOPES                                   11/07/2022 64.33 01-25-5610

          Total ALLEGRA PRINT & IMAGING: 386.00

AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION

841660-23 MEMBERSHIP - PW 11/02/2022 191.00 01-31-5410

841660-23 MEMBERSHIP W/S 11/02/2022 191.00 60-33-5410

          Total AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION: 382.00

ANA LOPEZ -  C/O PETTY CASH - VH

112122 CALENDAR REFILL - BJM 11/21/2022 40.93 01-14-5610

112122 COOKIES FOR DICKENS IN DU 11/21/2022 103.01 01-37-5631

          Total ANA LOPEZ -  C/O PETTY CASH - VH: 143.94

AT&T

110422 ATT W/S 11/04/2022 224.09 60-33-5320

          Total AT&T: 224.09

B&F CONSTRUCTION CODE SERVICES INC

16412 INSPECTIONS                                        04/05/2000 45.00 01-25-5290

60449 PLUMBING PLAN REVIEW 11/11/2022 150.00 01-25-5290

          Total B&F CONSTRUCTION CODE SERVICES INC: 195.00

BATEMAN LAW OFFICES, LTD

110722 EDPD AA HEARING                                 11/07/2022 142.50 01-21-5230

110722 AA BUILDING 11/07/2022 251.75 01-25-5230

          Total BATEMAN LAW OFFICES, LTD: 394.25

BEVERLY MATERIALS INC.

285719 STONE 10/31/2022 87.29 01-31-5140



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     2

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total BEVERLY MATERIALS INC.: 87.29

BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD

120122 BCBS ADMIN 12/01/2022 3,841.62 01-12-5060

54600.80 BCBS ADMIN 11/01/2022 4,842.44 01-12-5060

120122 BCBS FIN 12/01/2022 297.05 01-14-5060

54600.80 BCBS FIN 11/01/2022 1,297.85 01-14-5060

120122 BCBS PD 12/01/2022 21,748.44 01-21-5060

54600.80 BCBS PD 11/01/2022 21,588.02 01-21-5060

120122 BCBS BLDG 12/01/2022 759.39 01-25-5060

54600.80 BCBS BLDG 11/01/2022 1,760.22 01-25-5060

120122 BCBS PW 12/01/2022 4,734.55 01-31-5060

54600.80 BCBS PW 11/01/2022 5,735.38 01-31-5060

120122 BCBS EMP CONTRIB 12/01/2022 4,241.33 27-01-2207

54600.80 BCBS EMP CONTRIB 11/01/2022 4,241.33 27-01-2207

120122 BCBS RETIREES 12/01/2022 6,533.10 27-01-2210

54600.80 BCBS COBRA 11/01/2022 683.08 27-01-2210

54600.80 BCBS RETIREES 11/01/2022 6,533.10 27-01-2210

120122 BCBS WTR/SWR 12/01/2022 6,918.54 60-33-5060

54600.80 BCBS WTR/SWR 11/01/2022 7,919.38 60-33-5060

          Total BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD: 103,674.82

BONKOSKI LAWN CARE, INC.

102822 MOWING 10/28/2022 3,785.00 01-31-5110

102822 MOWING 10/28/2022 480.00 60-33-5110

102822 MOWING 10/28/2022 480.00 60-33-5111

          Total BONKOSKI LAWN CARE, INC.: 4,745.00

CENTURION PLUMBING COMPANY

2113 4TH ST PROJECT 11/08/2022 4,700.00 32-31-6090

2112 LEAD LINE REPLACEMENT  11/08/2022 9,300.00 60-33-5140

2117 WATER MAIN BREAK 11/14/2022 3,108.69 60-33-5140

          Total CENTURION PLUMBING COMPANY: 17,108.69

CHICAGO IMPROV ASSOCIATES

080322 1 DICKENS IN DUNDEE                                  08/03/2022 525.00 01-37-5290

          Total CHICAGO IMPROV ASSOCIATES: 525.00

CINTAS FIRST AID & SAFETY

4136922233 FLOOR MATS - VH                                    11/09/2022 28.02 01-12-5110

          Total CINTAS FIRST AID & SAFETY: 28.02

COM ED

110922 COM ED VH 11/09/2022 58.41 01-31-5510

110922 COM ED 11/09/2022 72.29 28-01-5510

          Total COM ED: 130.70

COMED

110422 COM ED VILLAGE 11/04/2022 1,582.35 28-01-5510



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     3

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total COMED: 1,582.35

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY

63691541601 CONSTELLATION W/S                                     10/30/2022 291.86 01-31-5510

63691541601 CONSTELLATION PW                                   10/30/2022 8,390.99 60-33-5510

          Total CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY: 8,682.85

COVERALL NORTH AMERICA DBA

1010704172 CLEANING VH 11/01/2022 329.00 01-12-5110

1010704172 CLEANING POLICE 11/01/2022 595.00 01-21-5121

1010704172 CLEANING DEPOT 11/01/2022 95.00 01-31-5110

1010704172 CLEANING PW PRAIRIIE LAKE 11/01/2022 236.00 01-31-5110

1010704172 CLEANING PW 401 ELGIN AVE 11/01/2022 236.00 60-33-5111

1010704172 CLEANING PW 446 ELGIN AVE 11/01/2022 95.00 60-33-5111

          Total COVERALL NORTH AMERICA DBA: 1,586.00

DUNDEE NAPA  AUTO PARTS

430137 TRUCK PARTS 11/14/2022 6.92 01-31-5120

430143 FUSE 11/14/2022 2.09 01-31-5120

429808 TIES FOR HOLIDAY DECORATI 11/10/2022 5.22 01-31-5630

430137 TOOL 11/14/2022 19.03 01-31-5640

          Total DUNDEE NAPA  AUTO PARTS: 33.26

EAST DUNDEE FIRE

1586 SOLAR PANEL REVIEW 07/21/2022 200.00 01-25-5290

1598 425 E MAIN ST 09/08/2022 415.00 01-25-5290

1627 BOND ABATEMENT 11/15/2022 100,000.00 39-01-5876

          Total EAST DUNDEE FIRE: 100,615.00

EAST DUNDEE POLICE PENSION FUND

11182022 FINAL  POLICE PENSION PAYM 11/18/2022 423,859.69 01-21-5055

          Total EAST DUNDEE POLICE PENSION FUND: 423,859.69

ELGIN KEY & LOCK CO. INC.

221839 POLICE KEYS 11/04/2022 437.73 01-21-5121

          Total ELGIN KEY & LOCK CO. INC.: 437.73

ENTERPRISE FM TRUST

210 PD LEASE 11/03/2022 5,873.20 32-21-5942

          Total ENTERPRISE FM TRUST: 5,873.20

EVERYTHING FLORAL

5634 FLOWERS 11/04/2022 84.95 01-21-5630

          Total EVERYTHING FLORAL: 84.95

FEHR GRAHAM

111480 SPEEDWAY 10/31/2022 2,665.25 85-01-2381



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     4

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total FEHR GRAHAM: 2,665.25

FIRST COMMUNICATIONS

124581453 PHONE DEPOT 11/06/2022 39.07 01-12-5320

124581453 FAX PD 11/06/2022 9.74 01-21-5320

124581453 VH PHONES 11/06/2022 586.92 01-21-5320

124581453 PHONES PD 11/06/2022 1,393.74 01-21-5320

124581453 PHONES P/W 11/06/2022 556.99 01-31-5320

124581453 PHONES W/S - PRAIRIE LAKE 11/06/2022 1,080.99 60-33-5320

124581453 PHONES W/S - 401 ELGIN 11/06/2022 1,110.35 60-33-5320

          Total FIRST COMMUNICATIONS: 4,777.80

FLOOD BROTHERS

11102022 REFUSE COLLECTION                                  11/10/2022 21,925.73 01-33-5180

          Total FLOOD BROTHERS: 21,925.73

FULLIFE SAFETY CENTER

67060 GLOVES & SAFETY GLASSES  10/14/2022 123.60 01-31-5630

67060 CALIBRATE AIR GAS MONITOR 10/14/2022 77.50 60-33-5291

67060 GLOVES & SAFETY GLASSES  10/14/2022 123.60 60-33-5630

          Total FULLIFE SAFETY CENTER: 324.70

FUN FUNKY FAB

080522 1 DICKEN MAKEUP                                      08/05/2022 280.00 01-37-5290

120222 1 DICKENS CHARACTERS 12/02/2022 500.00 01-37-5290

          Total FUN FUNKY FAB: 780.00

GALLS PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC

22636253 UNIFORM ALLOW. - KM 11/09/2022 144.87 01-21-5080

          Total GALLS PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC: 144.87

GARDINER KOCH WEISBERG & WRONA

11494 LEGAL SERVICES                                     11/11/2022 1,936.00 01-12-5230

          Total GARDINER KOCH WEISBERG & WRONA: 1,936.00

GOEBBERTS, INC.

101022 - R HAY 11/10/2022 1,190.00 01-37-5631

          Total GOEBBERTS, INC.: 1,190.00

GRAINGER, INC.

9508370302 FOR HOLIDAY SNOWFLAKES 11/09/2022 478.26 01-31-5110

          Total GRAINGER, INC.: 478.26

HAASE, JOHN

102622 MILAGE FOR TRAINI                                  10/28/2022 88.75 01-21-5420

          Total HAASE, JOHN: 88.75



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     5

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

HAWKINS, INC.

6328314 W CHEMICALS 11/02/2022 2,660.00 60-33-5650

6331915 W CHEMICALS 11/03/2022 2,449.28 60-33-5650

          Total HAWKINS, INC.: 5,109.28

HEINZ, GERALD & ASSOC.

20465 MISC ENGINEERING 11/14/2022 1,472.50 01-12-5220

20470 2022 STREET PROGRAM 11/14/2022 5,555.00 28-01-5950

20468 4TH ST IMPROVEMENT - ENGIN 11/14/2022 5,063.75 32-31-6090

20469 PENNY RD/RT 68 11/14/2022 3,255.00 85-01-2378

20474 PENNY RD/RT 68 11/14/2022 155.00 85-01-2378

20467 855 E MAIN STREEET 11/14/2022 232.50 85-01-2380

20475 CHRISTINA DRIVE - TERRA LOT  11/14/2022 155.00 85-01-2382

20473 TERRA LOT 2 11/14/2022 542.50 85-01-2386

20472 SANTA'S VILLAGE 11/14/2022 620.00 85-01-2389

20471 590 HEALY 11/14/2022 155.00 85-01-2395

20466 HIGH STREET 11/14/2022 6,458.75 85-01-2401

          Total HEINZ, GERALD & ASSOC.: 23,665.00

HELPING HAND IT

22-41525 IT SERVICES 10/31/2022 280.00 01-12-5286

22-41544 IT SERVICES 11/04/2022 140.00 01-12-5286

22-41565 IT SERVICES 11/10/2022 1,195.50 01-12-5286

          Total HELPING HAND IT: 1,615.50

HUGHES ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING

1048 HUGHES ENVIR 11/01/2022 9,597.49 60-33-5291

          Total HUGHES ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING: 9,597.49

ILLINOIS COUNTIES RISK MANAGEMENT TRUST

r2-1000551-22 ICRMT ADMIN 11/15/2022 10,679.27 01-12-5520

r2-1000551-22 ICRMT FIN 11/15/2022 8,007.36 01-14-5520

r2-1000551-22 ICRMT PD 11/15/2022 43,628.76 01-21-5520

r2-1000551-22 ICRMT BLDG 11/15/2022 5,339.22 01-25-5520

r2-1000551-22 ICRMT PW 11/15/2022 8,114.40 01-31-5520

r2-1000551-22 ICRMT W/S 11/15/2022 7,727.99 60-33-5520

          Total ILLINOIS COUNTIES RISK MANAGEMENT TRUST: 83,497.00

ILLINOIS FIRE&POLICE COMMISSION ASSOC

2679 MEMBERSHIP DUES                                    11/12/2022 375.00 01-12-5410

          Total ILLINOIS FIRE&POLICE COMMISSION ASSOC: 375.00

ILLINOIS STATE POLICE BUREAU OF ID

100122 LIQ LIC BG CHECK 10/01/2022 28.25 01-12-5290

          Total ILLINOIS STATE POLICE BUREAU OF ID: 28.25

J.G. UNIFORMS, INC

106350 UNIFORM RS 11/10/2022 247.49 01-21-5080



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     6

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total J.G. UNIFORMS, INC: 247.49

JOHNSON RESEARCH GROUP

1913 TIF ANALYSIS 11/08/2022 6,250.00 39-01-5290

          Total JOHNSON RESEARCH GROUP: 6,250.00

LAKE JULIAN CONTRACTING INC

1150 RAVINE ROAD 11/04/2022 2,275.00 01-31-5140

          Total LAKE JULIAN CONTRACTING INC: 2,275.00

LAUDERDALE ELECTRIC, INC.

8709 EMERGENCY LIGHTING - WTP 11/02/2022 927.47 60-33-5110

          Total LAUDERDALE ELECTRIC, INC.: 927.47

LIFT WORKS INC.

21891-1 1 AERIAL LIFT REPAIR 10/13/2022 612.00 01-31-5120

21900-1 AERIAL LIFT REPAIR 11/01/2022 595.75 01-31-5120

          Total LIFT WORKS INC.: 1,207.75

LITGEN CONCRETE CUTTING & CORING CO

206373 SAWCUT ISLAND CURB 10/25/2022 2,875.00 01-31-5150

          Total LITGEN CONCRETE CUTTING & CORING CO: 2,875.00

MIDWEST DECORATING, INC

4728 PAINT POLICE GARAGE EXT 11/04/2022 8,100.00 01-21-5121

4728 PAINT POLICE GARAGE EXT 11/04/2022 650.00 01-21-5121

          Total MIDWEST DECORATING, INC: 8,750.00

NORTHEAST MULTI-REGIONAL TRAINING

31419 TRAINING AR                                     11/09/2022 325.00 01-21-5430

          Total NORTHEAST MULTI-REGIONAL TRAINING: 325.00

ORANGE CRUSH

100118 ASPHALT                                           10/31/2022 419.42 01-31-5150

100193 ASPHALT                                           11/02/2022 1,277.56 01-31-5150

98993 ASPHALT                                           09/29/2022 1,814.18 01-31-5150

          Total ORANGE CRUSH: 3,511.16

OTTO ENGINEERING

1131137 UNIFORM  EAR  PIECE                                  11/10/2022 150.31 01-21-5080

          Total OTTO ENGINEERING: 150.31

P.F.  PETTIBONE

182916 UNIFORM 10/26/2022 187.50 01-21-5080

          Total P.F.  PETTIBONE: 187.50



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     7

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, LLC

19534089 WATER TESTING 10/31/2022 500.65 60-33-5290

9534090 WW LAB TESTING 10/31/2022 2,585.77 60-33-5291

          Total PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, LLC: 3,086.42

PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC

233719 250 PATRICIA  11/07/2022 87.40 85-01-2393

          Total PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC: 87.40

PRINCIPAL LIFE INSURANCE CO

101722 ADMIN VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 302.53 01-12-5060

111622 ADMIN VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 251.89 01-12-5060

101722 FIN VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 118.67 01-14-5060

111622 FIN VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 68.02 01-14-5060

101722 PD VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 1,628.81 01-21-5060

111622 PD VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 1,636.94 01-21-5060

101722 BLDG VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 129.83 01-25-5060

111622 BLDG VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 79.19 01-25-5060

101722 PW VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 449.99 01-31-5060

111622 PW VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 399.35 01-31-5060

101722 EMP CONT VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 660.41 27-01-2208

111622 EMP CONT VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 679.17 27-01-2208

101722 COBRA CONT VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 196.94- 27-01-2210

101722 W/S VIS DENT LIFE 10/17/2022 609.99 60-33-5060

111622 W/S VIS DENT LIFE 11/16/2022 559.34 60-33-5060

          Total PRINCIPAL LIFE INSURANCE CO: 7,377.19

QUAD COM 9-1-1

22-edpd-11 RADIO DISPATCH                                     11/01/2022 14,656.63 01-21-5360

          Total QUAD COM 9-1-1: 14,656.63

RED WING SHOE STORE

77048 BOOTS  - BRYAN WARD                                      10/31/2022 203.99 60-33-5080

          Total RED WING SHOE STORE: 203.99

RIEKE OFFICE INTERIORS

51449 OFFICE FURNITURE                                   11/11/2022 3,398.50 01-21-5940

          Total RIEKE OFFICE INTERIORS: 3,398.50

SECRETARY OF STATE INDEX DEPARTMENT

111522 NOTARY FEE- JM 11/15/2022 15.00 01-21-5630

          Total SECRETARY OF STATE INDEX DEPARTMENT: 15.00

SEVEN BROTHERS PAINTING, INC

060822 2 ROUTE 25 TOWER PAINT 06/08/2022 31,160.75 60-33-5965

060822 2 ROUTE 25 TOWER PAINT 06/08/2022 2,300.00 60-33-5965

          Total SEVEN BROTHERS PAINTING, INC: 33,460.75



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     8

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

SHERWIN  WILLIAMS

2939-7 TOOL FOR HANG LIGHTS 11/10/2022 51.92 01-31-5640

          Total SHERWIN  WILLIAMS: 51.92

SOIL AND MATERIAL MANAGEMENT, INC

48273 LAND ACQ - PAL 3.5 ACRES 10/31/2022 3,792.00 35-01-5220

          Total SOIL AND MATERIAL MANAGEMENT, INC: 3,792.00

SPRING HILL AUTO BODY

48394 SQUAD 36 PAINT 11/04/2022 1,050.00 01-21-5120

          Total SPRING HILL AUTO BODY: 1,050.00

STAPLES ADVANTAGE

8068188723 OFFICE SUPP,LIES 11/05/2022 112.35 01-21-5610

          Total STAPLES ADVANTAGE: 112.35

SUMMIT SQUARE ASSOCIATION

11-2022-VED ASSOCIATION DUES 11/01/2022 1,910.27 01-12-5410

          Total SUMMIT SQUARE ASSOCIATION: 1,910.27

SYNAGRO TECHNOLOGIES

33661 CAKE LAND APP                                      11/01/2022 5,650.31 60-33-5287

          Total SYNAGRO TECHNOLOGIES: 5,650.31

TESTING SERVICE CORP.

125029 LAND ACQ - PAL 3.5 ACRES 10/31/2022 3,000.00 35-01-5220

          Total TESTING SERVICE CORP.: 3,000.00

TLO LLC

259283-20221 MEMBERSHIP                                         11/01/2022 75.00 01-21-5410

          Total TLO LLC: 75.00

TRUE BLUE CAR WASH LLC

4461 PD CAR WASH 10/31/2022 42.00 01-21-5120

          Total TRUE BLUE CAR WASH LLC: 42.00

US BANK

3812 102522 B COMCAST 10/25/2022 394.85 01-12-5320

3812 102522 B COMCAST 10/25/2022 534.50 01-12-5320

1680 102522 K NEWSLETTER 10/25/2022 39.99 01-12-5410

1680 102522 K ICMA FB 10/25/2022 200.00 01-12-5410

3812 102522 B TRIBUNE 10/25/2022 27.72 01-12-5410

3812 102522 B ADOBE 10/25/2022 254.85 01-12-5410

1680 102522 K BACKBACK STAFF HOLIDAY 10/25/2022 633.71 01-12-5645

3812 102522 B PIZZA - EMPLOYEE OUTING 10/25/2022 342.42 01-12-5645

3812 102522 B BEVERAGES - EMPLOYEE OUTI 10/25/2022 98.00 01-12-5645

3812 102522 B SPARTAN AXE EMPLOYEE OUTI 10/25/2022 375.00 01-12-5645

1706 102522 J JOB POSTING 10/25/2022 100.00 01-14-5330



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     9

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

3812 102522 B A LOPEZ MEMBERSHIP 10/25/2022 20.00 01-14-5410

2107 102522 J SCALE 10/25/2022 13.00 01-21-5130

3812 102522 B COMCAST 10/25/2022 31.56 01-21-5320

1680 102522 K TEMPLE PUB 10/25/2022 195.00 01-21-5340

1680 102522 K XM RADIO 10/25/2022 16.56 01-21-5410

1706 102522 J UBER 10/25/2022 48.47 01-21-5420

1706 102522 J DEPARTURE FEE 10/25/2022 18.00 01-21-5420

1706 102522 J UBER 10/25/2022 35.88 01-21-5420

1706 102522 J HOTEL 10/25/2022 1,250.08 01-21-5420

1706 102522 J HOTEL CREDIT 10/25/2022 81.20- 01-21-5420

2107 102522 J SAFETY TRAINING 10/25/2022 55.00 01-21-5430

1500 102522 A TRUCK OR TREAT CANDY 10/25/2022 31.92 01-21-5580

1706 102522 J DC FAREWELL 10/25/2022 75.24 01-21-5580

1706 102522 J DC FAREWELL 10/25/2022 117.90 01-21-5580

9029 102522 S CERTIFICATE HOLDERS 10/25/2022 13.35 01-21-5610

9029 102522 S POWER STRIP 10/25/2022 12.71 01-21-5610

9029 102522 S USB DRIVERS 10/25/2022 55.56 01-21-5610

1500 102522 A SPEAKER MIC 10/25/2022 93.18 01-21-5630

1500 102522 A SCALE USE 10/25/2022 13.00 01-21-5630

1500 102522 A SCALE USE 10/25/2022 13.00 01-21-5630

1706 102522 J COSTCO CREDIT 10/25/2022 33.75- 01-21-5630

2107 102522 J MICROPHONE KL 10/25/2022 187.47 01-21-5630

5824 102522 g SOIL FOR PLANTERS 10/25/2022 296.46 01-31-5110

5824 102522 g CHAIN SAW SHARPENERS 10/25/2022 85.95 01-31-5130

3999 102522 P IPHONE STORAGE 10/25/2022 .99 01-31-5320

5824 102522 g TRAYS FOR AERIAL LIFT 10/25/2022 39.98 01-31-5630

3812 102522 B COMCAST 10/25/2022 407.95 60-33-5320

5824 102522 g IPHONE 10/25/2022 .99 60-33-5320

3999 102522 P LEAD SERVICE TRAINING 10/25/2022 60.00 60-33-5430

          Total US BANK: 6,075.29

US BANK/VOYAGER FLEET SYSTEMS, INC.

110822 GAS BZ 11/08/2022 65.28 01-25-5620

110822 GAS PW 11/08/2022 508.89 01-31-5620

110822 GAS WTR/SWR 11/08/2022 1,759.58 60-33-5620

          Total US BANK/VOYAGER FLEET SYSTEMS, INC.: 2,333.75

USA BLUEBOOK

170125 W LAB SUPPLIES 11/08/2022 546.50 60-33-5630

          Total USA BLUEBOOK: 546.50

VERIZON WIRELESS

9920176495 VERIZON ADMIN 11/10/2022 56.75 01-12-5320

9920176495 VERIZON FIN 11/10/2022 92.46 01-14-5320

9920176495 VERIZON PD 11/10/2022 289.15 01-21-5320

9920176495 VERIZON B&Z 11/10/2022 56.45 01-25-5320

9920176495 VERIZON PW 11/10/2022 262.24 01-31-5320

9920176495 VERIZON SWR/WTR 11/10/2022 267.06 60-33-5320

          Total VERIZON WIRELESS: 1,024.11

WELCH BROTHERS, INC.

3205060 FLARED END SECTION - RAVIN 11/03/2022 725.45 01-31-5140

3205061 RAVINE RD STORM SYSTEM 11/03/2022 140.00 01-31-5140



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report November 21, 2022 Page:     10

Report dates: 11/21/2022-11/21/2022 Nov 21, 2022  08:16AM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total WELCH BROTHERS, INC.: 865.45

          Grand Totals:  945,131.46

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0.00 included.

Paid and unpaid invoices included.



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report December 5, 2022 Page:     1

Report dates: 12/5/2022-12/5/2022 Dec 01, 2022  03:58PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

ACTIVE EXCAVATING AND WRECKING, INC.

11785 WATER MAIN BREAK  11/25/2022 3,071.05 60-33-5140

11812 WATER MAIN BREAK 11/25/2022 3,925.00 60-33-5140

          Total ACTIVE EXCAVATING AND WRECKING, INC.: 6,996.05

AFLAC

920833 AFLAC 11/28/2022 677.18 27-01-2215

          Total AFLAC: 677.18

ALTORFER INDUSTRIES

tm560004572 REPAIR BACKHOE                                     11/15/2022 2,036.08 01-31-5120

tm560004572 REPAIR BACKHOE                                     11/15/2022 2,036.07 60-33-5120

          Total ALTORFER INDUSTRIES: 4,072.15

ARROW ROAD CONSTRUCTION CO.

66222 * 1 STREET PROJECT 11/01/2022 161,650.58 28-01-5950

          Total ARROW ROAD CONSTRUCTION CO.: 161,650.58

AT&T

111322 ATT W/S 11/13/2022 242.01 60-33-5320

          Total AT&T: 242.01

BAXTER AND WOODMAN CONSULTING ENGINEERS

240839 MS4 TRAINING                                  11/21/2022 1,300.00 01-31-5430

240840 DESIGN ENG FOR WATER ST W 11/21/2022 4,811.25 34-01-5950

          Total BAXTER AND WOODMAN CONSULTING ENGINEERS:

6,111.25

CINTAS FIRST AID & SAFETY

4132955300 FLOOR MATS - VH                                    09/28/2022 28.02 01-12-5110

4138132996 MATS - VH                                          11/21/2022 28.02 01-12-5110

          Total CINTAS FIRST AID & SAFETY: 56.04

COM ED

110922 1 TRAFFIC LIGHTS 11/09/2022 24.11 28-01-5510

          Total COM ED: 24.11

COMED

112222 SIGNALS & STREET LIGHTS 11/22/2022 223.30 28-01-5510

          Total COMED: 223.30

DUNDEE NAPA  AUTO PARTS

430354 GREASE 11/16/2022 10.84 01-31-5120

          Total DUNDEE NAPA  AUTO PARTS: 10.84

DUNDEE TOWNSHIP

120122 CEMETARY FENCE PER IGA 12/01/2022 300,000.00 38-01-5969



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report December 5, 2022 Page:     2

Report dates: 12/5/2022-12/5/2022 Dec 01, 2022  03:58PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total DUNDEE TOWNSHIP: 300,000.00

DW-SERVANT FUND (EAST DUNDEE) LLC

112822 1 BDD DUNDEE GATEWA                                  11/28/2022 4,166.67 33-01-5876

          Total DW-SERVANT FUND (EAST DUNDEE) LLC: 4,166.67

ELGIN KEY & LOCK CO. INC.

221934 REPAIR LOCK IN PD                                  11/17/2022 204.10 01-21-5121

          Total ELGIN KEY & LOCK CO. INC.: 204.10

FEHR GRAHAM

109964 SPEEDWAY 08/31/2022 3,565.50 85-01-2381

          Total FEHR GRAHAM: 3,565.50

FLOOD BROTHERS

6472274 DISPOSAL OF MATERIALS 11/08/2022 606.40 01-31-5570

          Total FLOOD BROTHERS: 606.40

GALLS PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC

22753867 UNIFORM ALLOW. - KM 11/21/2022 103.50 01-21-5080

          Total GALLS PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC: 103.50

GRAINGER, INC.

9511412711 ARTS COUNCIL PAINT 11/11/2022 98.88 34-01-5940

          Total GRAINGER, INC.: 98.88

HAWKINS, INC.

6337304 WATER CHEMICALS                                    11/15/2022 100.00 60-33-5650

6338991 WW CHEMICALS                                       11/09/2022 943.45 60-33-5651

          Total HAWKINS, INC.: 1,043.45

HELPING HAND IT

22-41593 IT SERVICES 11/16/2022 4,429.40 01-12-5286

22-41609 IT SERVICES 11/21/2022 140.00 01-12-5286

22-41624 IT SERVICES 11/23/2022 87.50 01-12-5286

          Total HELPING HAND IT: 4,656.90

HOME DEPOT

111322 PD GARAGE 11/13/2022 117.81 01-21-5121

111322 PD GARAGE 11/13/2022 86.93 01-21-5121

111322 PD GARAGE 11/13/2022 55.21 01-21-5121

111322 HUSKY TOOL - WAS RETURNE 11/13/2022 215.82 01-21-5121

111322 RETURND PD GAR SUPPLIES 11/13/2022 65.19- 01-21-5121

111322 CONCRETE 11/13/2022 39.04 01-31-5630

111322 MISC SUPPLIES 11/13/2022 145.45 01-31-5630

          Total HOME DEPOT: 595.07



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report December 5, 2022 Page:     3

Report dates: 12/5/2022-12/5/2022 Dec 01, 2022  03:58PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

ILLINOIS PUBLIC RISK FUND

79368 W/C ADMIN 11/17/2022 778.21 01-12-5520

79368 W/C FIN 11/17/2022 584.41 01-14-5520

79368 W/C PD 11/17/2022 3,183.71 01-21-5520

79368 W/C BLDG 11/17/2022 389.61 01-25-5520

79368 W/C W/S 11/17/2022 563.93 01-31-5520

79368 W/C PW 11/17/2022 592.13 60-33-5520

          Total ILLINOIS PUBLIC RISK FUND: 6,092.00

J.G. UNIFORMS, INC

106495 UNIFORM JF 11/14/2022 880.00 01-21-5080

106727 UNIFORM JF 11/17/2022 443.00 01-21-5080

          Total J.G. UNIFORMS, INC: 1,323.00

JOSEPH D. FOREMAN & CO.

331958 B-BOX 316 N RIVER 11/21/2022 40.00 60-33-5140

          Total JOSEPH D. FOREMAN & CO.: 40.00

KATHLEEN W BONO

9026 COURT REPORTER FOR RIVER  11/18/2022 2,249.60 01-21-5290

          Total KATHLEEN W BONO: 2,249.60

KEITH & LUANN HANICH

1169000 FINAL BILL OVERPAYMENT 11/21/2022 85.72 99-00-1005

          Total KEITH & LUANN HANICH: 85.72

MEYER SIGNS

9860 WTP LOGO 11/16/2022 216.00 60-33-5110

          Total MEYER SIGNS: 216.00

MIDWEST SALT

464959 COARSE SALT                                        11/18/2022 3,142.93 60-33-5650

          Total MIDWEST SALT: 3,142.93

NICOR GAS

112322 NICOR S/W 11/23/2022 158.86 60-33-5510

          Total NICOR GAS: 158.86

NORTHERN KANE COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

4240-9220 202 MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL 11/22/2022 250.00 01-12-5410

          Total NORTHERN KANE COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE:

250.00

PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC

235289 250 PATRICIA 11/21/2022 85.10 01-25-5331

          Total PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC: 85.10



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report December 5, 2022 Page:     4

Report dates: 12/5/2022-12/5/2022 Dec 01, 2022  03:58PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

POMP'S TIRE SERVICE INC

640103793 TIRE TRUCK #33 11/16/2022 764.21 01-31-5120

          Total POMP'S TIRE SERVICE INC: 764.21

PROLINE EMBROIDERY

111514 UNIFORM 11/07/2022 243.00 01-21-5080

          Total PROLINE EMBROIDERY: 243.00

SHERWIN  WILLIAMS

1425-0 PD GARAGE 11/21/2022 96.45 01-21-5121

          Total SHERWIN  WILLIAMS: 96.45

STAPLES ADVANTAGE

8068338737 OFFICE SUPPLIES PD 11/19/2022 262.32 01-21-5610

          Total STAPLES ADVANTAGE: 262.32

SUBURBAN ELEVATOR

7153596053 ELEVATOR SERV                                      11/02/2022 515.99 01-21-5121

          Total SUBURBAN ELEVATOR: 515.99

THOMPSON ELEVATOR SERVICE

22-2659 ELEVATOR INSP  11/08/2022 200.00 01-01-1112

          Total THOMPSON ELEVATOR SERVICE: 200.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECT

113276 STREET SIGNS 11/29/2022 111.10 01-31-5150

          Total TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECT: 111.10

ULINE

156531869 PW SUPPLIES 11/16/2022 428.50 01-31-5630

          Total ULINE: 428.50

UNIQUE PRODUCTS (ELGIN PAPER COMPANY)

439846 PAPER PRODUCTS                                   10/19/2022 351.96 01-12-5610

          Total UNIQUE PRODUCTS (ELGIN PAPER COMPANY): 351.96

USA BLUEBOOK

180810 W LAB SUPPLIES 11/17/2022 106.68 60-33-5630

          Total USA BLUEBOOK: 106.68

WATER PRODUCTS COMPANY-AURORA

0313369-11212 CORP CLAMP  11/21/2022 711.02 60-33-5140

          Total WATER PRODUCTS COMPANY-AURORA: 711.02

WEX INC

85166513 FUEL CHARGES 11/23/2022 3,557.23 01-21-5620



VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE Warrant Report December 5, 2022 Page:     5

Report dates: 12/5/2022-12/5/2022 Dec 01, 2022  03:58PM

Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Voided GL Account Number

Invoice Amount

          Total WEX INC: 3,557.23

          Grand Totals:  516,095.65

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0.00 included.

Paid and unpaid invoices included.


	12.05.2022 VB Agenda Packet
	1. VB Agenda 12.05
	2. AGENDA ITEM - VBM 10 17 22
	3. AGENDA ITEM - resolution meeting dates
	_Memo
	Resolution.MeetingDates2023

	4. AGENDA ITEM 250 Patricia Lane
	1. Memo 250 Patricia Lane
	2. Findings of Fact Variance 1
	3. Findings of Fact Variance 2
	4. Ordinance - KTJ Reviewed
	5. Public Notice Sign Variance 250 Patricia - updated
	Notice of Public Hearing

	6. Redacted Pal 250 Sign Variance Application

	5. AGENDA ITEM indoor mall
	6. AGENDA ITEM - Riverfront Master Plan
	proposal 20221019_Riverfont Master Plan
	scope_Riverfront Master Plan_20221019 rev
	ADDITIONAL SERVICES
	AUTHORIZATION

	HDG Standard 1-page Terms and Conditions

	7. AGENDA ITEM - 590 Healy
	1. Memo 590 Healy 12.05.2022
	2. Ordinance - Special Use 590 Healy Parking
	2. Ordinance attachment Exhibit A
	3. Ordinances Variances
	4. Future Concept Plan
	5. Notice of Public Hearing - 590 Healy East Dundee
	6. Redacted application and backup pages
	7. Findings of Fact - Special Use
	8. Findings of Fact - Variance 1
	9. Findings of Fact - Variance 2

	8. AGENDA ITEM - PAL TIF
	1 _Memo
	2 East Dundee - Route 25 TIF District - Ordinance re Issuance of TIF Note No
	3 Request for Note with Expenses - Route 25
	1 Letter Note 8, and 10
	2 Route 25 Note 10
	1 of 3 Route 25 Note 10
	2 of 3 Route 25 Note 10
	3 of 3 Route 25 Note 10


	4 East Dundee - Christina Drive TIF District - Ordinance re Issuance of TIF Note No
	5 Request for Note with Expenses - Christina Dr
	Letter Note 8, and 10
	Christina Note 8

	6 2012 - PAL RDA
	7 2022 Amended - RDA

	9. AGENDA ITEM - 7 Maiden Lane
	1 _Memo
	2 _Ordinance
	3 Haeger Aerial
	4 CAR Investment-Purchase-and-Sale-Contract-7 Maiden Lane East Dundee
	CAR Multi-Family Contract_Final_022020

	5 RIDER_19_AS_IS_ADDENDUM 7 Maiden Lane East Dundee
	6 East Dundee Rider & Proposed Contract Edits

	10. Warrants List

	warrants list 12.05.20222
	5. AGENDA ITEM indoor mall.pdf
	1 Memo Indoor Mall
	2 Presentation
	3 Marketing Brochure

	6. AGENDA ITEM - Riverfront Master Plan.pdf
	proposal 20221019_Riverfont Master Plan
	scope_Riverfront Master Plan_20221019 rev
	ADDITIONAL SERVICES
	AUTHORIZATION

	HDG Standard 1-page Terms and Conditions

	7. AGENDA ITEM - 590 Healy.pdf
	1. Memo 590 Healy 12.05.2022
	2. Ordinance - Special Use 590 Healy Parking
	2. Ordinance attachment Exhibit A
	3. Ordinances Variances
	4. Future Concept Plan
	5. Notice of Public Hearing - 590 Healy East Dundee
	6. Redacted application and backup pages
	7. Findings of Fact - Special Use
	8. Findings of Fact - Variance 1
	9. Findings of Fact - Variance 2

	8. AGENDA ITEM - PAL TIF.pdf
	1 _Memo
	2 East Dundee - Route 25 TIF District - Ordinance re Issuance of TIF Note No
	3 Request for Note with Expenses - Route 25
	1 Letter Note 8, and 10
	2 Route 25 Note 10
	1 of 3 Route 25 Note 10
	2 of 3 Route 25 Note 10
	3 of 3 Route 25 Note 10


	4 East Dundee - Christina Drive TIF District - Ordinance re Issuance of TIF Note No
	5 Request for Note with Expenses - Christina Dr
	Letter Note 8, and 10
	Christina Note 8

	6 2012 - PAL RDA
	7 2022 Amended - RDA

	9. AGENDA ITEM - 7 Maiden Lane.pdf
	1 _Memo
	2 _Ordinance
	3 Haeger Aerial
	4 CAR Investment-Purchase-and-Sale-Contract-7 Maiden Lane East Dundee
	CAR Multi-Family Contract_Final_022020

	5 RIDER_19_AS_IS_ADDENDUM 7 Maiden Lane East Dundee
	6 East Dundee Rider & Proposed Contract Edits
	Title:         Title:
	Date:         Date:


	9.5 AGENDA ITEM - Police Pension.pdf
	1 Memo
	2 East Dundee Police_Funding Actuarial Report April 2022
	3 Contribution History
	4 Presentation
	East Dundee Police Pension Fund Reporting�For the Contribution Year Ending April 30, 2023 for Funding Purposes�For the Fiscal Year Ending April 30, 2022 for Financial Statement Reporting
	Recommended Contribution & Funded Status�Page 8 in Report
	Recommended Contribution Breakdown�Page 24 in Report
	Recommended Contribution Reconciliation�Page 15 in Report
	Assumption Changes�Page 13 in Report
	Demographic Changes�Page 13 in Report
	Age and Service Distribution�Page 33 in Report
	Expected Benefit Payments�Pages 9 & 32 in Report
	Change in Fair Value of Assets�Page 17 in Report
	Risk Management�Pages 11, 13 & 21 in Report
	Alternative Contribution�Page 28 in Report
	Five-Year Employer Contribution History�Page 32 in GASB 67/68 Report
	GASB Solvency Test�Page 41 in GASB 67/68 Report
	Actuarial Certification�



	2: VILLAGE OF EAST DUNDEE, an Illinois home rule municipal corporation
	Buyer and: Maiden Industrial LLC, an Illinois limited liability company
	4: 7 Maiden Lane, East Dundee, Illinois 
	Property which consists of: Multiple
	The Property PIN  is: 03-23-360-008
	Lot Size: 298,162 S.F.
	Additional PIN s if applicable: 03-23-362-001, 03-26-106-001, 03-26-106-002, and 03-26-107-001
	Other Equipment: 
	Seller shall also transfer the following:  As-Is
	The following items are excluded from transfer: As-Is
	Purchase Price The purchase price for the Property including the Fixtures and Personal Property is: 600,000.00
	Closing Cost Credit Optional Check if applicable  Seller agrees to credit to Buyer at Closing check one: 0.00
	OR: 0.00
	Home Warranty Optional Check if applicable  Seller agrees to provide Buyer with a Home Warranty at Closing at a cost of no less than: 0,00
	Earnest Money Upon the Parties execution and delivery of this Contract Buyer shall deposit with: N.A
	earnest money in the amount of: N/A
	in the form of: N/A
	within: N/A
	earnest money shall be increased to check one: N/A
	percent of the Purchase Price OR  a total of: N/A
	within_2: N/A
	then this Paragraph 7 does not apply This Contract is contingent upon Buyer securing by: N/A
	institution in the amount of check one: N/A
	mortgage not to exceed: N/A
	per year amortized over: N/A
	years payable monthly loan fee not to exceed: N/A
	fees if any to Seller and Seller shall execute and deliver the Deed as defined below to Buyer Closing Closing shall occur on or prior to: December 15, 2022
	Check Box256: Off
	Check Box257: Off
	Check Box258: Off
	Check Box259: Off
	Check Box260: Off
	Check Box261: Off
	Check Box262: Off
	Check Box263: Off
	Check Box264: Off
	Check Box265: Off
	Check Box266: Off
	Check Box267: Off
	Check Box268: Off
	Check Box269: Off
	Check Box270: Off
	Check Box271: Off
	Check Box272: Off
	Check Box273: Off
	Check Box274: Off
	Check Box275: Off
	Check Box276: Off
	Check Box277: Off
	Check Box278: Off
	Check Box279: Off
	Check Box280: Off
	Check Box281: Off
	Text282: 
	Text283: 
	Text284: 
	Text285: 
	Text286: 
	Text287: 
	Text288: 
	Text289: 
	Text290: 
	Text291: 
	Text292: 
	Text293: 
	Text294: 
	Text295: 
	Text296: 
	Text297: 
	Text298: 
	Text299: 
	Text300: 
	Text301: 
	Text302: 
	Check Box303: Off
	Check Box304: Off
	Check Box305: Off
	Check Box306: Off
	Check Box307: Off
	Check Box308: Off
	Check Box309: Off
	Check Box310: Off
	Check Box311: Off
	Check Box312: Off
	Check Box313: Off
	Check Box314: Off
	Check Box315: Off
	Text316: 
	Text317: 
	Text318: 
	Text319: 
	Text320: 
	Text321: 
	Text322: 
	Text323: 
	Text324: 
	Text325: 
	Text326: 
	Check Box327: Off
	Check Box328: Off
	Check Box329: Off
	Check Box330: Off
	Check Box331: Off
	Check Box332: Off
	Check Box333: Off
	Check Box334: Yes
	Check Box335: Off
	Text336: N/A
	Check Box337: Off
	undefined: 30,623.72
	Senior Freeze  Historical Tax Freeze General real estate taxes shall be prorated based on: 100.00
	Seller represents and warrants that the present monthly gross rental income is: $750.00
	they have previously consented and agreed to have: N/A
	Buyer Initials_3: 
	undefined_2: 
	Seller Initials_3: 
	undefined_3: 
	FOLLOWING RIDERS AND ADDENDUMS IF ANY: See Rider No. 1 (Amendment to Certain Provisions of the Chicago Association of Realtors Multi-Family & Investment Purchase
	101:  and Sale Contract for 7 Maiden Lane, East Dundee, Illinois); See Rider 19 (As-Is Addendum)
	This Contract shall be of no force or effect if not accepted by Seller on or before: November 18th, 2022
	Text338: 20
	Check Box339: Off
	Check Box340: Off
	Check Box341: Yes
	Check Box342: Off
	Check Box343: Yes
	Check Box344: Off
	Check Box345: Off
	Check Box346: Yes
	Check Box347: Off
	Check Box348: Yes
	Check Box349: Off
	Check Box350: Yes
	Check Box351: Yes
	Check Box352: Off
	Text353: 5
	Text354: 5
	OFFER DATE: 
	Buyers Name print: 
	Buyers Name print_2: 
	Address: 
	Phone 1: 
	Phone 2: 
	Email 1: 
	Email 2: 
	ACCEPTANCE DATE: 
	Sellers Name print: Eugene Staples, Managing Member Maiden Industrial LLC
	Sellers Name print_2: 
	Address_2: 7222 Cermak Rd, Ste 403, North Riverside, IL 60546
	Phone 1_2: 312-285-8691
	Phone 2_2: 
	Email 1_2: Gene@austinaffiliates.com
	Email 2_2: 
	Designated Agent: 
	Agent MLS: 
	Agent License: 
	Brokerage: 
	Brokerage MLS: 
	Brokerage License: 
	Address_3: 
	Agent Phone: 
	Agent Fax: 
	Email: 
	Attorney Name: 
	Address_4: 
	Phone: 
	Fax: 
	Email_2: 
	Lenders Name: 
	Company Name: 
	Address_5: 
	Phone_2: 
	Fax_2: 
	Email_3: 
	Designated Agent_2: Eugene Staples
	Agent MLS_2: 167382
	Agent License_2: 
	Brokerage_2: E. A. Staples & Associates LLC
	Brokerage MLS_2: 
	Brokerage License_2: 
	Address_6: 7222 Cermak Rd, Ste 403, North Riverside, IL 60546
	Agent Phone_2: 312-285-8691
	Agent Fax_2: 
	Email_4: Gene@austinaffiliates.com
	Attorney Name_2: William Ryan
	Address_7: 7222 Cermak Rd, Ste 403, North Riverside, IL 60546
	Phone_3: 847-455-5575
	Fax_3: 
	Email_5: WR60131@AOL.COM
	BuyerName: Village of East Dundee
	SellerName: Maiden Industrial LLC
	Date: November 15th
	Year: 22
	AddressLong: 7 Maiden Lane, East Dundee, IL 
	CheckBox1: Yes
	CheckBox2: Off


